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REVENUE PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX
HK$'000 HK$'000
2019 2,716,265 2019 71,181
2020 1,774,549 2020 (158,829)
2021 1,931,099 2021 (105.376)
2022 1,607,388 2022 (119,437)
[ -
TOTAL ASSETS OWNERS’ EQUITY
HK$'000 HK$'000
2019 19,597,081 2019 4255072
2020 21,385,195 2020 4,418,679
2021 19,962,419 2021 4361,133
2022 16,157,243 2022 4012813




TR T TARMEW 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

REVENUE BY PROPRIETARY
AND NON-PROPRIETARY BRANDS

HK$'000
[ ]
256,644 o )
21620 231594
[} [ ]
156,769 142,890
19 20 21 22 23

® Non-proprietary Brands

H 129,059,

> — H B12819.0







TR T ZARAEE 2023 ANNUAL REPORT 6

@)

CHAIRMAN'S

STATEMENT

Despite initial signs of recovery in consumer sentiment earlier in the year of 2023, there were no significant

signs of V-shaped recovery and hence, Mainland China’s post-COVID-19 recovery in 2023 turned out to be

weaker than anticipated. The significant drop in residential property transactions — a past pillar of wealth

creation. Falling property prices are still having a sizeable negative impact on wealth, given that over 60% of

household wealth in Mainland China is invested in property. Other factors contributing are lower household

disposable income growth, less global demand for Mainland China’s export and concerns about the rising

geopolitical tensions.

Despite the above challenges, we have effectively managed headwinds from unexpected factors and achieved

solid and hard-earned results.

RESULTS OVERVIEW

The Group continued to face with a complex and ever-changing
operating environments in Mainland China in 2023. Even that,
we recorded net profit after tax of HK$63 million for FY2023,
compared with net loss after tax of HK$119 million for FY2022.

Revenue increased by 1.3% to HK$1.63 billion in 2023, versus
HKS$1.61 billion generated in 2022. Profit attributable to the
owners of the Company in 2023 was HK$45 million, compared
with a loss attributable to the owners of the Company of HK111
million in 2022.

The Board resolved not to declare a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023 in order to preserve sufficient funds to
meet the financial needs of the Group.

BUSINESS AND MARKET DEVELOPMENT
In 2023, owing to the challenging period, the local proprietary

watch brand business in Mainland China performed slightly
worse than last year for the following reasons: (a) production and
distribution were yet to be recovered; and (b) market sentiment
and consumer confidence were yet to be re-established to pre-
COVID-19 level. Apart from Rossini managed to maintain
profitability, losses of EBOHR Group has been narrowed in 2023.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

The foreign proprietary watch brand business, owing to economic
tremors from the continuous adverse impact of the COVID-19,
geopolitical instability and its effect on global supply chain and
the profound business disruption to the key international markets,
where the general demand was still weak, was yet to be recovered
in 2023. Accordingly, certain measures were successfully
implemented to increase the cashflow and reduce the extent of loss.

Bendura Bank’s operation and performance were slightly
affected by the COVID-19 due to lesser extent of communication
and interaction with clients. Bendura Bank has taken various
measures in the wake of COVID-19 to withstand significant
operational disruptions and would closely monitor further
development to ensure operational resilience through governance,
business continuity planning and management of information
and communication technology. While COVID-19 has brought
headwinds and challenges, it has also provided tailwinds of
digitalization for Bendura Bank that we intend to exploit to propel
us forward.

Details of the progress we made in 2023 for individual companies
and segments are set out in the Management Discussion & Analysis
of this Annual Report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board has eventually been able to meet in a few of key markets
in person in 2023. We continue to enhance our governance and
culture despite the difficult circumstances.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE (“ESG”) PERFORMANCE

The Board recognizes the growing importance of ESG and
overseas the ESG agenda. In accordance with the recently
published requirements of the Listing Rules, we have designated an
executive director to head the ESG and strengthened the relevant
activities and disclosures.

RISK MANAGEMENT

We monitor our risks and uncertainties facing the Group and
formulate and adopt appropriate risk management measures
against each principal risk and uncertainty. Our risk management
committee has reviewed the major risks and suggested the relevant
way to manage those risks. We ensure that emergency plans are
ready and in place to cope with all situations, to guarantee healthy
and smooth running of our business.

ek ok S R B AR P AT PR )

OUTLOOK

Global economies growth will continue to be slow in 2024 due
to high interest rates, armed conflict, climate disasters and a
slowdown in the world’s top economies. Higher interest rates are
grinding their way through the system, wars are wreaking havoc
around the world, climate disasters are becoming more and more
common. As such, the global macro-economic situation in 2024
will remain challenging. However, 2024 is an election year for a
number of key countries, such as US, UK and Australia, and hence
the growth will take center stage as politicians and Governments
are likely to enable the economies to continue growing at least in
the short term.

Despite the complex and severe internal and external issues facing
Mainland China, signs point towards showing long-term growth
in Mainland China. This is because the country’s growth model is
evolving: as its economy grows and becomes more sophisticated,
the returns from investments in land, capital and labour diminish.
Raising productivity and increasing innovation are more difficult
than building factories or bridges, while an ageing society points to
a shrinking workforce. Well aware of the challenges arising from
its demographic changes, the Chinese government have considered
it is necessary and urgent to foster the economical growth and
have been trying to cushion the economic and social impact.
The Chinese government is expected to execute comprehensive
macroeconomic policies, among others, such as those aimed at
boosting property demand and infrastructure growth, and structural
reforms to wrestle with the structural issues and achieve the target
growth. The measures also include aggressively investing in
advanced technology, artificial intelligence and automation. The
Chinese government aims to become a robotics global power by
2025 under the Robot Plus Application Action Plan that seeks to
increase the use of robots in manufacturing, agriculture, logistics,
energy, healthcare, education and elderly services. The fiscal and
monetary stimuli are expected to continue to play an important role
in supporting the economic growth in 2024.



To confront the current challenges in Mainland China, in the tone-
setting central economic work conference, President Xi advocates
building a nationwide unified market in December 2023. The
objectives are to have an unfettered access to market, a free flow
of production factors across the country, and a fair competition
without discrimination in Mainland China. It is particularly useful
in retaining the foreign investors to stay onshore. The goal is to let
the market play a decisive role and achieve business efficiency.
Such policy would grease the wheel of domestic demand in
general and hence the demand for our watches in the medium term.
With crisis comes opportunities. With foresight and adjustment,
economic and social engines can still drive positive and sustainable
development in the years to come.

In 2024, Bendura Bank will continue focusing on expanding
future markets in addition to strengthening existing core markets.
The Asian business will be of the focus. The Asia desk in the
Liechtenstein serves as a local contact point, in addition to the
Hong Kong Representative office, for potentially interested clients
and intermediaries. Bendura Bank has successfully expanded the
brand presence in Asia. Bank business momentum is still supported
by the strong tailwind of high interest rate. We are well positioned
to take advantage of growth opportunities as we navigate a
challenging external environment in 2024.

Our foundation of sound governance, risk management and taking
responsibility of our people and communities give our businesses
a strong platform for continued success. The Board will continue
to oversee the task of striking the right balance between the
opportunities and risks and keep optimizing allocation of resources,
we are confident that with the strategy and actions to continue
driving and indeed accelerating our goals, we will create long-term
and sustainable value for our stakeholders.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
We would like to highlight the deep sense of share purpose

among our colleagues and remarkable efforts of our colleagues
again this year. Their commitment and endurance in challenging
circumstances have contributed to the sustainability of the Group
and for this, we are very grateful. Finally, we would like to thank
our business partners, our customers and our shareholders for their
loyalty and support during these challenging times.

Hon Kwok Lung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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Year ended 31 December
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2023 2022 Variation
HK$’000 HKS$’000 %
Total revenue 1,629,059 1,607,388 1.3
Operating expenses 1,044,120 1,075,037 2.9
Gross-profit generated from non-
banking and financial businesses 623,219 664,019 -6.1
Gross profit generated from banking
and financial businesses 491,839 338,642 452
EBITDA 255,878 51,728 394.7
Profit/(loss) before tax 83,798 (110,280) N/A
Net profit/(loss) after tax 63,259 (119,437) N/A
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to
owners of the Company
— Basic HK1.04 cents HK(2.55) cents N/A
— Diluted HK1.04 cents HK(2.55) cents N/A
As at 31 December
2023 2022 Variation
HK$°000 HKS$’000 %
Total assets 16,531,006 16,157,243 23
Total liabilities 12,165,712 11,978,382 1.6
Total equity 4,365,294 4,178,861 4.5




OPERATING RESULT

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded total
revenue of approximately HK$1,629,059,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$1,607,388,000), an increase of HK$21,671,000 or 1.3% over
2022.

Operating expenses (including selling and distribution expenses
and administrative expenses) for the year ended 31 December
2023 was approximately HK$1,044,120,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$1,075,037,000), a decrease of HK$30,917,000 or 2.9% over
2022.

Gross profit generated from non-banking and financial businesses
for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$623,219,000 (31 December 2022: HK$664,019,000), a
decrease of HK$40,800,000 or 6.1% over 2022.
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Gross profit generated from banking and financial businesses
for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$491,839,000 (31 December 2022: HK$338,642,000), an
increase of HK$153,197,000 or 45.2% over 2022.

The EBITDA for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately HK$255,878,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$51,728,000), an increase of HK$204,150,000 or 394.7% over
2022.

Net profit after tax for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately HK$63,259,000 (31 December 2022: net loss after
tax of HK$119,437,000).

PERFORMANCE
Our Group comprises three key divisions — watches and timepieces
and watch accessories businesses, banking and financial

businesses, and various investment businesses.




11 CITYCHAMP WATCH & JEWELLERY GROUP LIMITED ek ik % Bk 25 4R [ A BR 2 )

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

WATCHES, TIMEPIECES AND
WATCH ACCESSORIES BUSINESSES

%;

'
“‘ Proportions to
. ; T Rossini’s total revenue by
: - different types of sales
e ‘ =) y 31 December 31 December 31 December
o = 2023 2022 2021
2. 4 < Physical stores 62.5% 52.7% 55.8%
E-commerce 34.1% 44.1% 41.4%
AN Other 3.4% 3.2% 2.8%
) 7
> 6o

WATCHES, TIMEPIECES AND WATCH
ACCESSORIES BUSINESSES

I.LA. Local Proprietary Brands

Zhuhai Rossini Watch Industry Limited
ROSSINI’S NUMBER OF DISTRIBUTION OUTLETS

Year 2021

3,095

Year 2022

2,556

XN




ROSSINI’S REVENUE EARNED FROM
E-COMMERCE SALES

Proportion to its total revenue 41.4% Year 2021
HK$247,381,000

Proportion to its total revenue 44.1% Year 2022

HK$180,963,000

Proportion to its total revenue 34.1% Year 2023

— HK$113,098,000

For the year ended 31 December 2023, Zhuhai Rossini
Watch Industry Limited (“Rossini”), a 91% subsidiary of the
Group, recorded revenue of HK$331,389,000, a decrease of
HK$78,764,000 or 19.2% from HK$410,153,000 in 2022.
Net profit after tax attributable to owners of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2023 was HK$34,974,000,
representing an increase of HK$7,395,000 or 26.8%, from
HK$27,579,000 in 2022.

In 2023, affected by macro factors such as the slowdown of
overall economic growth in China and the impact of Sino-
US trade friction, the recovery momentum of consumption
in the Chinese market was lower than expected. By
constantly adapting to market changes, the traditional
watch industry still has grabbed hold of the opportunity to
grow. Rossini seized the market opportunity using different
policies and models. Rossini improved market information
collection processes, kept abreast of market changes and
other competing product market policies. It flexibly adjusted
market strategies, including product positioning, marketing
strategies, etc., and took timely response measures. At
the same time, Rossini created differentiated products
to adapt to multi-level market changes and improved
competitiveness.

For physical stores, on one hand, Rossini opened shops in
new shopping malls to ensure the market share. It placed
more emphasis on counties and towns in third-tier and
fourth-tier cities and urban development and expansion in
fifth-tier and sixth-tier cities. On the other hand, Rossini
assessed the operating conditions and qualifications of
distribution customers in low-sales markets, and gradually
transformed into consignment cooperation to actively
promote the products’ circulation and sales activities. For
this reason, the number of distribution outlets has gradually
decreased since 2021.
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To reduce the losses, Rossini strengthened the division’s
legal and risk awareness, and controlled and improved
the division’s accountability system at the source. A
total of approximately HK$5.53 million receivables has
been recovered throughout the year, and the remaining
receivables from partners in arrears are also being gradually
paid off. In addition, for problem receivables that have not
been repaid for a long time, Rossini continues to act with the
assistance of the lawyers to collect them.

The inventory of Rossini dropped by 7.8% in 2023
compared to last year by placing accurate orders, upgrading
the dials of unsalable watches and speeding up the sales of
unsalable watch models.

Currently, there are thirteen e-commerce independently
operated stores, and Rossini has deployed a multi-channel
distribution system. Mainstream e-commerce platforms such
as Tmall, JD.com and Vipshop continued to maintain their
ranking in domestic watch industry. Rossini deeply explored
live streaming and distribution channels. Pinduoduo
operated meticulously, with year-on-year growth 54%,
with increased emphasis on live broadcast channels, and
sales increased by 27% year-on-year. Rossini established
a strict budget management system to control costs and
expenditures. The overall cost of e-commerce, as a result,
dropped by 25.7% compared with last year. By continuously
optimizing the promotion strategy and launching core
products in stores, the overall input-output ratio increased
by 18.5% year-on-year. For the year ended 31 December
2023, revenue earned from e-commerce sales decreased to
HK$113,098,000 from HK$180,963,000 comparing to last
year, representing a decrease of HK$67,865,000 or 37.5%.

The coming year 2024 is 40th anniversary of Rossini brand.
New products’ design in the second-half of 2023 was mainly
focus on this theme. Rossini will use a marketing matrix
composed of four powers, namely “brand power, channel
power, product power, and execution power”, to increase
sales volume. Rossini will stabilize the direct-operated
stores, focus on adding new consignment stores, select rental
stores, and expand customized group purchase orders. For
online market, Rossini will strengthen the layout of store
self-broadcasting and short videos, and make a good layout
of Pinduoduo products to further increase sales and assist
distribution in multi-channel distribution systems such as
Pinduoduo, Douyin, and Xiaohongshu in order to expand
market share.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EBOHR GROUP
EBOHR’S NUMBER OF DISTRIBUTION OUTLETS

Year 2021

2,585

Year 2022

2,319

Year 2023

2.161

EBOHR’S REVENUE EARNED FROM
E-COMMERCE SALES

Proportion to its total revenue 31.3% Year 2021

HK$110,772,000

Proportion to its total revenue 30.7% Year 2022
— HK$78,288,000
Proportion to its total revenue 29.5% Year 2023

HK$61,477,000

EBOHR Group is composed of EB Brand Limited, EBOHR
Luxuries International Limited (“EBOHR”), Shenzhen
EBOHR Luxuries Online E-commerce Co., Ltd., PAMA
Precision Manufacturing Limited and Shenzhen EBOHR
PAMA Sales Co., Ltd. Shenzhen EBOHR PAMA Sales Co.,
Ltd. has been disposed in September 2023.

Revenue from watches, timepieces and watch accessories
businesses of EBOHR Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 was HK$208,131,000, a decrease of
HK$47,267,000 or 18.5%, from HK$255,398,000 in 2022.
Net loss after tax from watches, timepieces and watch
accessories businesses for the year ended 31 December 2023
was HK$14,705,000, a decrease of HK$9,998,000 or 40.5%,
from HK$24,703,000 in 2022.

Apart from watches, timepieces and watch accessories
businesses, EBOHR Group’s investment properties also
contributed rental income and net profit of HK$14,558,000
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (31 December
2022: HK$12,061,000) which was recorded in property
investments segment result.

The drop in revenue was mainly attributable for two
reasons. Firstly, the adverse consequences arose from post-
COVID-19 period were more intensive than expected. The
economic growth was weak as a result of slow recovery.
Consumers were more conservative with spending on non-
necessities. Secondly, low unit price, low flow of customers
into the points of sale and low sales volume were common
problems in many regions, making it difficult to increase
revenue.

Regarding e-commerce, the retail sales in 2023 fell
compared to the previous year, leading to decrease in
overall sales. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
e-commerce sales decreased to HK$61,477,000 from
HKS$78,288,000 last year, representing a decrease of
HK$16,811,000 or 21.5%. The retail sales retail amount
of several major platforms showed that New Retail (live
broadcasting), Xinxuan and JD.com’s self-operated
platforms have suffered a serious decline, especially New
Retail (live broadcasting) and Xinxuan. Excluding New
Retail (live broadcasting) and Xinxuan, the cumulative sales
from January to December 2023 has increase slightly.

To closely monitor the inventory level of finished products,
the logistics team of the marketing department worked
together with the marketing planning department and
branches through precise calculations, scientific and
accurate forecasts of market demand, reasonable reordering,
assisted by horizontal transfers between branches, and
full consideration of new model substitutions and other
measures. These strategies also ensured the supply of
products on the market and there was no shortage of best-
selling products in 2023.

Moreover, the design department made much use of
inventory materials from design source and through the
inter-department inventory material disposal team, including
the design department, purchasing department, marketing
department, customer service, warehouse, etc., conducted
in-depth cleaning and active repairs, to minimize the level of
inventory effectively.



L.B.

EBOHR noted the importance of increasing brand
awareness. In 2023, on one hand, EBOHR actively
promoted brand building activities and did well in reception
work for the media, government, and associations. It has
received free publicity from the central media, radio,
television and other media. The overall e-commerce
advertising fee dropped 13% compared with last year.
On the other hand, the designers joined competitions to
increase the popularity of EBOHR’s creative design and the
reputation of EBOHR brand.

In the coming year, EBOHR will actively cooperate and
support the strategy of Citychamp Group’s developing sales
channels, try to rent stores, develop shopping malls, and
actively participate in the sales channels organized by the
Citychamp Group to seize the opportunity for offline retail
development. EBOHR will also enter markets in Hong Kong
and Macau, the duty-free market in Hainan, and e-commerce
platform such as Amazon.com to explore external markets.

Foreign Proprietary Brands

ERNEST BOREL HOLDINGS LIMITED
The Group held 57.14% equity interest in Ernest Borel
Holdings Limited (“Ernest Borel”, a company listed on main
board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1856)), as at 31
December 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, Ernest Borel
recorded revenue of approximately HK$164,833,000,
representing an increase of HK$34,794,000 or 26.8% over
HK$130,039,000 in 2022. Net profit after tax attributable to
the owners of the Company was HK$8,982,000, compared
with net loss after tax of HK$7,536,000 in 2022.

Ernest Borel turned a profit from loss in 2023 was mainly for
two reasons. Firstly, the profit compensation to be payable
by Fair Future Industrial Limited (“Fair Future”, an associate
of the Group) as there was a shortfall of the profit target
of Gold Vantage Industrial Limited (“Gold Vantage”) for
the year ended 31 December 2023. Secondly, Ernest Borel
actively reduced production cost, operating cost, travelling
expenses and unnecessary administrative costs in a large
extent.

In the global trend of digitalization, the demand for smart
watches is rising. In April 2023, Ernest Borel completed
the acquisition of Gold Vantage, a smart watch processing
factory. Gold Vantage is determined to change and
innovate, seeking to get a share of the smart watch sector
and blaze a new path. The factory is mainly engaged in
the business of designing, developing and manufacturing
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stainless steel alloy watch cases and smart watch cases
on ODM or OEM basis. The business prospects of Gold
Vantage, whose products are radically different from other
products of Ernest Borel, have synergistic effects with its
business. It can provide necessary watch cases and other
components for its watch manufacturing. Gold Vantage
has extensive experience in the manufacturing and sales of
smart watches, which will provide good opportunities for
the diversified development of the watch industry. Ernest
Borel expects that the smart watch processing business will
become an important source of income in the future, and the
profitability will continue to increase.

Mainland China remains as the core market of the Ernest
Borel. Revenue from Mainland China was approximately
HKS$132 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
accounting for approximately 80% of its total revenue.

The extensive distribution network of the Ernest Borel
covers retail markets in Mainland China, Hong Kong,
Macau and Southeast Asian countries. As at 31 December
2023, Ernest Borel had more than 786 POS (31 December
2022: 817 POS), comprising 633 POS in Mainland China,
37 POS in Hong Kong and Macau and 116 POS in other
countries mainly in Southeast Asia and Europe.

The inventory of Ernest Borel in 2023 when compared
with last year showed a clear downward trend, with
8.5% reduction. Procurement department and marketing
department worked closely to fully utilize supply and
demand of finished products to minimize inventory, and
gradually improve efficiency in the entire supply chain
operation. On one hand, the group focused on reducing
inventory of movements and spare parts while ensuring sales
supply. On the other hand, the departments analysed sales
and inventory in real-time, separate production in stages,
deliver products on demand and control cash outflow to
reduce the inventory of finished products.

The business direction for the coming year is to strive
to expand sales scale, seize market share, increase sales
profits, and increase cash flow. Ernest Borel will focus
on developing the Southeast Asian and North American
markets. For the Asian market, it will focus on strengthening
sales in duty-free stores in Singapore. Duty-free shops in
Thailand are planned to open in second week of second
quarter. Moreover, Ernest Borel will strengthen marketing
integration within the group of Citychamp, in particular, the
resource sharing and marketing interaction with the Corum
brand with the aim to enhance the influence of the Ernest
Borel brand in the global market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Foreign Proprietary Brands

Collectively, Corum, Eterna and The Dreyfuss Group
Limited (the “Dreyfuss Group”) contributed revenue and
net loss after tax for the year ended 31 December 2023 of
HK$218,379,000 (31 December 2022: HK$255,566,000)
and HK$19,315,000 (31 December 2022: HK$30,572,000),
respectively.

Generally, Swiss high-end watches markets continued to
grow in 2023 and recovered to pre-COVID-19 level. Watch
exports achieved record value, increased 7.6% as compared
to 2022, while the corresponding number of watches also
increased.

However, Swiss franc continued to appreciate against
major currencies, which directly results in Swiss watched
becoming more expensive for international buyers. The
geopolitical situation in Europe, with the war in Ukraine
is also a factor Swiss brands had to cope with shortage of
raw materials, prices increase, and as a consequence, the
lead time drastically increased, putting pressure on the final
delivery of our watches.

Corum took some strategical decisions to cope with this
environment. To overcome the increased lead time, Corum,
on one hand, raised its level of account receivables. On the
other hand, it monitored globally its inventory of watches
to increase the rotation of stocks as well as to generate cash.
The net inventory reduced by 8% as compared to 2022.

Corum focused its strengths in producing high-end pieces.
After a strategical discussion with the top management, a
SWOT analysis has led to focus on the development of high-
end collections above CHF150,000 retail value and above,
such as on the Golden Bridges and Heritage timepieces. By
adapting the marketing costs to the current business needs,
Corum reduced its consolidated operating expenses by
15.3% compared with previous year.

During the year 2023, Eterna opened the Indian market,
which became the most important market for Eterna. It
achieved a better margin there. Eterna also penetrated into
the African markets. These new partners drove the margin
up, with new distribution agreement. Switzerland remained
an important market, while there was a growing interest in
Asia, namely with the partner in Vietnam and with Eterna
(Asia) Limited (located in Hong Kong) for the Greater China
markets. Within the USA, the trend was going towards
online sales, with a number of potential online partners
expressing interest in collaborations.

The worldwide economic situation remained challenging for
the market of non-essential goods. The unresolved conflict
between Russia and Ukraine has kept energy prices elevated,
contributing to increased living and business costs. These
factors have inevitably impacted consumer confidence and
their ability to spend. The turnover of the Dreyfuss Group
as a result was lower than the previous year. Although the
gross profit experienced a reduction, the gross profit margin
increased 3% to 60.9% as compared to previous year.

The Dreyfuss Group streamlined operations and managed
costs effectively to reduce the operating overheads by
approximately 6.4% compared to 2022. The cost-reduction
strategy was crucial, especially given the end of the UK
government furlough scheme, which previously subsidized
wages. It also undertook a strategic re-evaluation of
advertising fee to ensure judicious use of resources amidst a
tough economic environment.

With the ongoing strategy of Just In Time (JIT) and Buy
to Order methods, the Dreyfuss Group could quickly fulfill
customer orders without the burden of excessive stock
levels. The inventory was closely aligned with the market
needs and consumer preferences, keeping stock turnover rate
at a healthy level. Both the number of finished products held
by the end of 2023 and the value of inventory dropped from
the previous year.



United Kingdom (“UK”) is the Dreyfuss Group’s largest
single market, representing 86% of its revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The economy went on recession
and along with increased costs of fuel and energy for the
families, the UK market situation was worse than previous
year, leading to the closure of UK stores. The Dreyfuss
Group moved to international markets accordingly. It has
approached new potential distributors in India and Taiwan
markets, Kuwait and Saudi Arabia markets. It was also
running a new test with a chain store in USA and Rotary
has the possibility to become a permanent listed brand in the
retail network. It is believed that new contracts in place for
permanent distributions partnership could bring additional
revenues from the area.

With the launch of a new Shopify website system, the
Dreyfuss Group expanded its markets beyond UK and
introduced more flexible buying options. Online sales
increased by 42% from 2022, with profit margins improving
to 73.3% in 2023 from 71.8% in 2022. These indicated the
online sales strategies through strategic collaborations and
expansion into new platforms and markets were successful.

Looking ahead in 2024, the Dreyfuss Group will focus its
resources on profitable sales growth opportunities in key
markets such as the USA, Canada and Germany. To enhance
online sales and global brand presence, the Dreyfuss Group
is exploring marketplace options in the USA and Germany
online platforms for sales in these regions. The aims of
online campaign are to expand Rotary’s market share
through strengthening brand awareness, share of search
and social platforms, and increase its social media presence
whilst improving engagement and building a community.

I.C.

L.D.
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Non-Proprietary Brands

Currently, the Group holds four distribution companies.
Collectively, distribution companies contributed revenue
and net loss after tax for the year ended 31 December 2023
of HK$142,890,000 (31 December 2022: HK$156,769,000)
and HK$2,736,000 (31 December 2022: HK$8,561,000),
respectively.

Watches and timepieces and watch accessories
businesses — Others

Other non-major subsidiaries of the Group are also engaged
in other non-major categories of watches and timepieces
and watch accessories businesses, which collectively
contributed revenue and net loss after tax for the year ended
31 December 2023 of HK$48,323,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$40,356,000) and HK$5,005,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$3,574,000), respectively.
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BANKING AND
FINANCIAL BUSINESS

BANKING AND FINANCIAL BUSINESS
I.LA. BENDURA BANK AG

ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT
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Revenue of Bendura Bank AG (“Bendura Bank™ or the
“Bank”) and its subsidiaries (the “Bendura Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2023 was HK$491,839,000,
an increase of HK$154,319,000 or 45.7% from
HK$337,520,000 over 2022. Net profit of the Bendura
Group after tax attributable to owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2023 was HK$104,425,000,
an increase of HK$76,535,000 or 274.4% from
HK$27,890,000 in 2022. With a sustainable and profitable
business mode, the Bank continued to have a sound financial
base and a healthy liquidity situation.

Net profit after tax in 2023 was well above the previous
year’s level mainly due to the increase in interest income
as a result of the significant rise in interest rates of major
currencies. Net interest income increased by a 114% from
HK$133,526,000 in 2022 to HK$286,001,000 in 2023.

Net income from commission and service fee activities
recorded HK$171,930,000, showing a slightly increase of
4% over the previous year. This was due to reduction in the
number of client transactions and lower volume of assets
under management.

Income from trading amounted to HK$33,907,000,
decreased by HK$4,724,000 compared to the previous year
while net ordinary income was increased by 36% over 2022
primarily due to the sale of a securities position.

Business expenses amounted to HK$319,929,000,
representing an increase of 16% compared to prior year,
primarily due to the higher operating expenses related to the
acquisition of Bendura Wealth Management (Hong Kong)
Limited (formerly known as Challenge Capital Management
Limited) (“Bendura Wealth”), a licensed corporation in
Hong Kong which offers investment services such as dealing
in securities, advice and asset management. Bendura Wealth
has licences under the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFO”) to engaging in the following regulated activities:
Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 2 (dealing in futures
contracts), Type 4 (advising on securities), Type 6 (advising
on corporate finance) and Type 9 (asset management) in
Hong Kong. Other reasons for the increase are project
costs related to the ongoing strategy project and costs
in connection with the establishment of the subsidiary
BENDURA Service GmbH in Vienna.

Assets under management dropped by CHF296.8 million
(equivalent to HK$2,754.0 million) compared to previous
year, ending at CHF3,317.6 million (equivalent to
HK$30,784.1 million) in 2023. The decrease was partly
performance-related and partly the result of a net money
outflow.



CITYCHAMP WATCH & JEWELLERY GROUP LIMITED

ek ok S R B AR P AT PR )

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2023 was marked by challenges such as aggressive rate
hikes by the Federal Reserve and European Central
Bank, banking crises that affected numerous institutions
and geopolitical tensions in the Middle East and Eastern
Europe. Coupled with continuous tightening of operating
requirements in particular compliance, the Bank took a
very prudent approach. Accordingly, the Bank massively
managed to reduce its exposure towards Credit Suisse
in the period well before it was integrated into another
bank. Active liquidity management ensured the Bank had
extremely high liquidity.

To reduce geopolitical risks, in November 2023, the Bank
further extended its business in Hong Kong and Asia
through acquisition of Bendura Wealth. The goal is to use
this platform to provide clients in Asia with a wider range
of products and services. The representative office in Hong
Kong continues to prove a great success and it will continue
to act together with Bendura Wealth as perfect platform for
the Bank’s future business in Asia.

The shortage of qualified staff in Liechtenstein was one of
the concerns to the Bank in 2023 and the Bank looked for
alternatives. In the second half of 2023, the Bank founded
BENDURA Service GmbH, a wholly-owned subsidiary in
Vienna with five highly qualified employees. The subsidiary
was primarily intended to provide services for compliance
and thus improve the continuity and quality.

At the beginning of 2023, two new young yet qualified
members of the Board of Management were recruited
internally from the Representative Office of the Bank in
Hong Kong and from the Trading & Treasury. This reflects
the continuity and sustainable personnel orientation of the
Bank. The Bank is equipped with a wide spectrum of skill
sets and experience particularly relevant to the sustainable
growth of the Bank.

Looking ahead, with newly acquired Bendura Wealth, it is
expected wealth management will be further expanded in
Hong Kong and Asia. The Bank will closely monitor the
development to enhance customer experience and boost
sales efforts and brand awareness through online marketing.

III.A Listed Equity Investment

(1) Citychamp Dartong Company Limited
As at 31 December 2023, financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income of the Group
was HK$285,627,000. HK$25,342,000 was related
to the listed equity investment in the equity share of
Citychamp Dartong Company Limited (“Citychamp

2

Dartong”). Citychamp Dartong is a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600067)
and mainly engaged in real estate, electromagnetic
wire, new energy and other businesses. As at 31
December 2023, the Group owned 9,154,370
shares of Citychamp Dartong at the market price
of RMB2.51 per share (equivalent to HK$2.77 per
share) with the fair value of HK$25,342,000. The
shares held by the Group accounted for 0.66% of the
total issued share capital of Citychamp Dartong as
at 31 December 2023. Such fair value accounted for
0.2% of the Group’s total assets.

The Group incurred a net loss on fair value change
through other comprehensive income in investment
in Citychamp Dartong of HK$6,781,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023, as a result of decrease
in the share price of Citychamp Dartong from
RMB3.10 (equivalent to HK$3.51) as at 1 January
2023 to RMB2.51 (equivalent to HK$2.77) as at
31 December 2023. No dividend income from
Citychamp Dartong was recognised by the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

Min Xin Holdings Limited

Investment in Min Xin Holdings Limited (“Min
Xin”, a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 222)) was measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income. The
Company intends to hold the investment on a long-
term basis.

Min Xin is a company engaged in financial services,
insurance, property investment and strategic
investment. As at 31 December 2023, the investment
in Min Xin was HK$254,754,000 (i.e. 88,150,000
shares at the market price of HK$2.89 per share as at
31 December 2023). Such fair value of the investment
accounted for 1.5% of the Group’s total assets. The
shares held by the Company accounted for 14.76%
of the total issued share capital of Min Xin as at 31
December 2023.

The Company incurred a net loss on fair value change
in Min Xin’s investment of HK$3,526,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022:
net loss of HK$92,557,000), as a result of decrease
in the share price of Min Xin from HK$2.93 as
at 1 January 2023 to HK$2.89 as at 31 December
2023. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Company’s dividend income from Min Xin was
HK$10,578,000 (2022: HK$10,578,000).
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III.B Property Investment

The properties in Mainland China and Hong Kong owned by the Group have been leased out, with stable stream of rental income
to the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 under review. During the year ended 31 December 2023, these investment
properties generated rental income of HK$23,275,000 (31 December 2022: HK$20,465,000). Net profit after tax from the property
investment business for the year ended 31 December 2023 was HK$17,671,000 (31 December 2022: HK$7,239,000).

HEADQUARTER AND OTHERS

Losses from administrative expenses, finance costs and income tax of the headquarter and other non-major subsidiaries and/or non-major
categories of businesses for the year ended 31 December 2023 was HK$79,191,000 (31 December 2022: HK$96,605,000).

FINANCIAL POSITION

¢

(¢))

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had non-pledged cash and bank balances of approximately HK$3,749,474,000 (31 December
2022: HK$4,314,638,000). Based on the borrowings of HK$681,254,000 (31 December 2022: HK$958,135,000), due to a
shareholder of HK$9,025,000 (31 December 2022: HK$12,000,000), due to directors of HK$66,772,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$81,515,000), due to a related company of HK$148,000,000 (31 December 2022: HK$148,000,000), due to an associate
of HK$50,000,000 (31 December 2022: HK$10,000,000) and shareholders’ equity of HK$4,166,700,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$4,012,813,000), the Group’s gearing ratio (being borrowings plus due to a shareholder, directors, a related company and an
associate divided by shareholders’ equity) was 22.9% (31 December 2022: 30%).

Charge on assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s borrowings were mainly secured by:
(a)  corporate guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries within the Group;
(b)  equity interest of certain subsidiaries within the Group; and

(c) alegal charge over the Group’s property, plant and equipment with the carrying amount of HK$252,528,000 (2022:
HK$259,439,000).

Capital commitment

Capital commitments as at 31 December 2023 were approximately HK$270,000,000 in total (31 December 2022:
HK$270,000,000), for investment in an associate — Citychamp Allied International Limited and purchase of property, plant and
equipment.

Except for the above, the Group had no other material capital commitments as at 31 December 2023.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
(1) Total assets
Total assets increased to HK$16,531,006,000 as at 31 December 2023 from HK$16,157,243,000 as at 31 December 2022.

Cash and deposits

31 December 31 December Increase/(decrease)
2023 2022 Amount
HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$’000 %
Cash and bank balances 66,625 75,452 (8,827) (11.7)
Cash held on behalf of clients 6,957 - 6,957 100
Sight deposits with central banks 3,687,849 4,239,186 (551,337) (13.0)
Due from banks
31 December 31 December Increase/(decrease)
2023 2022 Amount
HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$’000 %
Due from banks on a daily basis 1,908,088 1,594,134 313,954 19.7
Due from banks other claims 185,560 127,947 57,613 45.0
Due from banks — precious metal 130,989 208,223 (77,234) 37.1

Valuation adjustments (1,669) (664) (1,005) (151.4)
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(2) Investments
The investment as at 31 December 2023 included (a) trading portfolio investments of HK$27,558,000; (b) derivative financial assets
of HK$5,136,000; (c) financial assets at amortised cost of HK$1,878,805,000; and (d) financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income of HK$285,627,000 (the “Investments”).

(a) Trading portfolio investments of HK$27,558,000

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
HKS$°000 HK$°000
Equity Instruments
Listed equity instruments in Hong Kong at market value 629 451
Listed equity instruments outside Hong Kong at market value - 586
Total equity instruments 629 1,037
Debt instruments
Unlisted debt instruments of financial institutions 189 190
Total debt instruments 189 190
Investment fund units
Unlisted investment fund units 19,890 20,186
Total investment fund units 19,890 20,186
Investments in other financial products 6,850 6,680
Total trading portfolio investments 27,558 28,093

It is the objective of the Group to maintain certain level of liquidity in the form of trading portfolio investments for unplanned
capital expenditure. The liquidity is usually parked with the listed equities in order to generate short-term return.

As at 31 December 2023, there were HK$629,000 invested in a variety of listed equities in Hong Kong.

The debt instruments of HK$189,000 invested in the Mainland China by a PRC company.

Trading assets of CHF1.0 million (equivalent to HK$8,876,000) represents the single investment by Bendura Bank in the
form of an unlisted investment fund. Bendura Bank acquired above trading assets from a professional counterparty in March
2019. The investment policy of Bendura Bank includes strict implementation of the investment process and is subject to

constant review by the investment committee.

Investments in other financial products consist of the financial product investments of HK$6,850,000 invested by Eternal
Brands.
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(b)

Derivative financial assets of HK$5,136,000

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$’000
Derivative financial assets
Forward and option contracts 5,136 2,888

In the derivative financial assets of HK$5,136,000, there were forward and option contracts conducted by Bendura Bank.

Bendura Bank offers derivative products including currency forwards and swaps to its clients. These derivative positions were
managed through entering back-to-back deals with external parties to ensure that remaining exposures are within acceptable
risk levels. First-rate banks serve as counterparties, as is generally the case in trading business. It is not the objective of
Bendura Bank to speculate the gain on the change in the price by conducting forward and option contracts without having
invested in the underlying assets.

As at 31 December 2023, forward contracts of HK$5,136,000, whereof approximately HK$3 million relate to FX swaps
entered by Bendura Bank. Based upon risk/return considerations, client deposits denominated in foreign currencies were,
in part, no longer invested on the interbank market but were swapped into Swiss francs or Euro using currency swaps and
deposited with the Swiss National Bank (SNB) and Austrian National bank (OenB) accordingly. Income from the interest
component of currency swaps exceeded the expense of SNB/OenB negative interest and the reduced level of interest from
banks.

At as 31 December 2022, derivative financial assets of HK$2,888,000 related to forward and option contracts were conducted
by Bendura Bank.
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Other financial assets at amortised cost of HK$1,878,805,000

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$°000

Listed debt instruments, at amortised cost

Issued by:

Governments and public sector 891,891 229,862
Financial institutions 430,835 901,527
Corporations 556,079 440,336
1,878,805 1,571,725

Bendura Bank invested in listed debt instruments issued by government and public sector, financial institutions and
corporations amounting to HK$1,878,805,000. The portfolio was composed of 94 listed debt instruments with different
maturity, geography, segment and currency and hence, diversification is ensured. Almost all listed debt instruments were
considered upper-medium-grade and are subject to low credit risk. The average remaining term of the HTM portfolio is
2.40 years, while the modified duration of the portfolio is only 1.50%. Largest single investments are bonds issued by ESM
Treasury Bill matured in May 2024 (CHF25 million) and ESM Treasury Bill matured in February 2024 (CHF12 million).
Both issuers are triple-A rated. Risk concentration is analyzed and presented to the senior management on a monthly basis.

Relatively major listed debt instruments as at 31 December 2023 are as follows:

Nature of

Issuer interest rate Sector Maturity date Value

(CHF000)
Kfw Fixed Financial corporations 15 March 2028 4,633
Asian Infrastructure Inv Fixed Financial corporations 14 February 2028 4,907
Nestle Holdings Inc Fixed Non-financial corporations 13 March 2026 5,898
Amazon.com Inc Fixed Non-financial corporations 12 May 2026 6,713
Henkel AG & Co KGaA Fixed Non-financial corporations 17 November 2026 6,716
Intl Bk Recon & Develop Fixed Financial corporations 19 March 2024 8,409
DBS Bank Ltd Fixed Financial corporations 26 October 2026 8,410
ESM Thill Zero Coupon General governments 22 February 2024 12,007
ESM Thill Zero Coupon General governments 23 May 2024 247703
Others 120,083
Total 202,479
HKD Equivalent to (in *000) 1,878,805

Collectively, listed debt instruments, at amortised cost accounted for 11.4% of the Group’s total assets.
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As at 31 December 2022, Bendura Bank invested in listed debt instruments issued by government and public sector, financial
institutions and corporations amounting to HK$1,571,725,000, the portfolio was composed of 97 listed debt instruments with
different maturity, geography, segment and currency and hence, diversification is ensured. Almost all listed debt instruments
were considered upper-medium grade and are subject to low credit risk. Largest single investments are bond issued by
International Bank of Reconstruction and Development (CHF9 million) and ESM Treasury Bill (CHF13 million). Both are
triple-A issuers. Risk concentration is analyzed and presented to the senior management on a monthly basis.

Relatively major listed debt instruments as at 31 December 2022 are as follows:

Nature of

Issuer interest rate Sector Maturity date Value
(CHF*000)
IBM Corp Fixed Non-financial corporations 15 May 2024 4,501
State of Qatar Fixed General governments 14 March 2024 4,531
EFSF Fixed Financial corporations 15 December 2025 4,749
Bank of Montreal Fixed Financial corporations 22 December 2023 4,929
Amazon.com Inc Fixed Non-financial corporations 12 May 2026 6,571
Henkel AG & Co KGaA Fixed Non-financial corporations 17 November 2026 6,575
DBS Bank Ltd Fixed Financial corporations 26 October 2026 8,206
Intl Bk Recon & Develop Fixed Financial corporations 19 March 2024 9,005
ESM Tbill Zero Coupon General governments 16 March 2023 12,815
Others 124,219
Total 186,101
HKD Equivalent to (in *000) 1,571,725

(d) Other financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income of HK$285,627,000
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
Listed equity instruments in Hong Kong 254,754 258,280
Listed equity instruments outside Hong Kong 25,342 32,124
Unlisted equity investment 5,531 5,676
285,627 296,080

Listed equity instruments of HK$25,342,000 related to investment in Citychamp Dartong and HK$254,754,000 related to
investment in Min Xin. Details of investments in Citychamp Dartong and Min Xin are set out from pages 19 to 20 of this
report.
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(3) Goodwill and Intangible assets
(a) Goodwill
Goodwill is arising from business combinations, and capitalised as assets in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The Group engages professional valuer to conduct impairment testing on individual cash generating units (“CGUSs”) every
financial year. As at 31 December 2023, the net carrying amount of goodwill was HK$1,150,672,000 (As at 31 December
2022: HK$1,092,012,000), which mainly composed of the following CGUs:

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

Segment HKS$°000 HK$’000

Zhuhai Rossini Watch Industry Limited Watches and timepieces 603,646 619,546
Bendura Group Banking Business 284,703 259,131
Ernest Borel Group Watches and timepieces 234,389 213,335
Gold Vantage Group Watches and timepieces 27,934 -
Total 1,150,672 1,092,012

The change in Goodwill for Zhuhai Rossini Watch Industry Limited, Bondara Group and Ernest Borel Group was solely due
to the exchange rate difference between foreign currencies and Hong Kong Dollar as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2023 respectively.

(b) Intangible assets
Intangible assets are arising from business combinations, and capitalised as assets in the consolidated statement of financial
position. They included supplier and distribution networks, brand names, patents and trading rights. As at 31 December 2023,
the net carry amount of intangible assets was HK$105,693,000 (As at 31 December 2022: HK$43,254,000), which allocated
to the following category:

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$’000

Supplier and distribution networks - -
Brand Names 46,302 43,254
Trading Rights - -
Computer Software 880 -
Customer relationship 41,805 -
Technical knowhow 16,706 -
Total 105,693 43,254

Brand name with indefinite useful lives amounted to HK$46,302,000 are attributable to the CGU of Ernest Borel Group and
the decrease in the value of brand names was solely due to the exchange rate difference between foreign currency and Hong
Kong Dollar as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023 respectively.
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Total liabilities
Total liabilities increased to HK$12,165,712,000 as at 31 December 2023 from HK$11,978,382,000 as at 31 December 2022,
mainly attributable to a increase in due to clients.

Due to clients

31 December 31 December Increase/(decrease)
2023 2022 Amount %
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
Due to clients — precious metals 131,180 208,435 (77,255) (37.1)
Other amounts due to clients,
mainly bank deposits 10,024,131 9,779,243 244,888 2.5

Gross profit from non-banking and financial businesses
Gross profit from non-banking and financial businesses was HK$623,219,000, a decrease of HK$40,800,000, or 6.1%.

EBITDA
EBITDA was HK$255,878,000, an increase of HK$204,150,000 or 394.7%.

Selling and distribution expenses
Total selling and distribution expenses was HK$376,358,000, a decrease of HK$72,085,000 or 16.1%.

Administrative expenses
Total administrative expenses was HK$667,762,000, an increase of HK$41,168,000 or 6.6%.

Share of profit of associates

The share of profit of associates is mainly arising from the share of profit from Fair Future and its subsidiaries, a 25% owned
associate of the Group, was HK$13,842,000, representing a decrease of HK$2,898,000 or 17.3%. Fair Future is one of the leading
OEM quartz watch manufacturers in Mainland China.

Finance costs from non-banking business

Finance costs from non-banking business was HK$78,242,000, representing an increase of HK$7,710,000 or 10.9%. It was
composed of the interest charged on corporate bonds and the interest charged on bank borrowings, bank overdrafts and lease
liabilities.

Gain attributable to owners of the Company
Gain attributable to owners of the Company was HK$45,100,000 (31 December 2022: loss of HK$111,051,000) for the year ended
31 December 2023.

Inventories
Inventories was HK$1,805,899,000, a decrease of HK$130,024,000 or 6.7%.
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OUTLOOK

In 2024, growth and politics will take center stage. In view of the elections of the heads of states for countries such as US, UK and
Australia, the central banks across the globe are likely to be more growth oriented rather than focusing on controlling inflation against a
backdrop of trade and geopolitical tensions.

The macroeconomic situation of Mainland China in 2024 will remain challenging. Mainland China is still dogged by the weakness in the
property prices, global demand for Mainland China’s exports, and the geopolitical tensions. Relationships between the Mainland China
and US are likely to be challenging as the world is splintering into rival blocs and spheres of influence. Coupled with the lower disposable
income growth and higher level of unemployment, consumer confidence is significantly affected. The sluggish consumer spending has
been a key factor hindering a stronger recovery for the demand for our watches.

A series of measures aimed at boosting property demand was introduced, followed by various measures wrestling with many structural
issues and much stronger fiscal stimulus to support infrastructure growth. One of the most recent measures is to build a nationwide unified
market. The long-term prospects of the Chinese market remain robust.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

Our sustained success would not be possible without the high levels of expertise, professionalism and commitment shown by our
employees. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 3,050 staff in Hong Kong and Mainland China (as at 31 December
2022: 3,600 staff) and approximately 178 staff in Europe (as at 31 December 2022: 250 staff). The remuneration packages offered to the
employees were determined and reviewed on an arm’s length basis with reference to the market condition and individual performance.
The Group also provides other benefits to its employees, including year-end double pay, medical insurance and retirement benefits, and
incentive bonuses are offered with reference to the Group’s operating results and employees’ individual performance. All employees of the
Group in Hong Kong have joined the provident fund schemes. Employees of Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China also have participated
in social insurance scheme administrated and operated by local authorities and contributions were made according to the local laws and
regulations. Total staff costs, including Directors’” emoluments, of the Group amounted to approximately HK$531,227,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately HK$583,919,000).

APPRECIATION

Our financial performance and strategic moves reflected the joint efforts of the board and management in successfully pursuing our
mission. | would like to express my deep gratitude to our employees, customers, suppliers, bankers, professional consultants, business
partners, and shareholders for their support.

Siu Chun Wa
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

HON Kwok Lung, 8BS

Chairman

Mr. Hon Kwok Lung, aged 69, joined the Board in April 2004. He is the chairman of the
nomination committee and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr.
Hon was the chairman of Citychamp Dartong Company Limited (“Citychamp Dartong”,
the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code 600067
in Mainland China) during the period from November 2001 to January 2017. Mr. Hon
is still the actual controller of Citychamp Dartong. Citychamp Dartong is principally
engaged in real estate, electromagnetic wire, new energy and other businesses in Mainland
China. Mr. Hon has extensive business experience in Mainland China, Hong Kong and
Europe. Mr. Hon is an Executive Member of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas
Chinese Committee and the Executive Vice President of China Federation of Overseas
Chinese Entrepreneurs. Mr. Hon is also appointed as director of various subsidiaries of
the Company, including Bendura Bank AG. Mr. Hon is the father of Mr. Hon Hau Won,
father-in-law of Ms. Sit Lai Hei and Mr. Teguh Halim.

SIU Chun Wa
Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Siu Chun Wa, aged 62, joined the Board as executive director and Co-Chief Executive
Officer in January 2022. He has been re-designated as Chief Executive Officer of the
Company with effect from 27 March 2024. He is a member of the nomination committee,
the remuneration committee and the risk management committee of the Company. He holds
a master’s degree in management from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics in
China. Mr. Siu has extensive knowledge and rich experience in corporate and investment
management. Mr. Siu successively served as the assistant to president, director, vice
president and secretary to the board of directors of First Capital Securities Co., Ltd. (a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002797). He also held the
positions including the chairman, general manager of Beijing Decheng Xingye Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. Mr. Siu was the chairman of the supervisory committee of Dartong
(Fujian) Advanced Materials Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of Citychamp Dartong (the shares o
which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange). Mr. Siu is also appointed as directo
various subsidiaries of the Company.
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SHI Tao

Mr. Shi Tao, aged 60, joined the Board in April 2004. Mr. Shi holds a bachelor’s degree in
engineering from Tsinghua University and a master’s degree in engineering from Wuhan
University of Technology (formerly known as Wuhan Industrial University). Mr. Shi
has many years of business experience in Mainland China. He was an executive director
of China Development Bank International Investment Limited (a company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 1062). Mr. Shi is a member of the
risk management committee of the Company and director of various subsidiaries of t
Company.

SIT Lai Hei

Ms. Sit Lai Hei, aged 46, obtained an Executive Master of Business Administration from
Peking University, joined the Board in November 2004. She was appointed as a Non-
executive Director of the Company in November 2004 and re-designated as an Executive
Director of the Company on 26 March 2012. Ms. Sit is also a director of Citychamp
Dartong (the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange), and the chairman
of Fujian Fengrong Investment Co., Ltd. Ms. Sit is the daughter-in-law of Mr. Hon Kwok
Lung and sister-in-law of Mr. Hon Hau Wong and Mr. Teguh Halim. Ms. Sit is also as a
director of various subsidiaries of the Company.
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HON Hau Wong

Mr. Hon Hau Wong, aged 46, joined the Board in August 2014. Mr. Hon graduated from
Tongji University and holds a bachelor’s degree in Engineering Management. He had also
served as the deputy chairman of Citychamp Dartong, the shares of which are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, since August 2006, and have been elected to be the chairman
of Citychamp Dartong since January 2017. He has extensive experience in the real estate
industry in Mainland China. He is currently a member of Fujian Province Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and a standing member of Beijing

Haidian Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Hon
Hau Wong is the son of Mr. Hon Kwok Lung and brother-in-law of Ms. Sit Lai Hei and
Mr. Teguh Halim.

Teguh HALIM

Mr. Teguh Halim, aged 42, joined the Group in October 2008 and has been appointed as
an Executive Director of the Company since 23 January 2018, and also is the chairman of
the risk management committee of the Company. Before being appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company, he was a Vice President of the Company. Mr. Halim has been
appointed as director of Bendura Bank AG, subsidiary of the Company, in June 2023. He
is also the director of several subsidiaries of the Company engaged in watch business and
is responsible for overseeing and supervising M&A projects for the Group. Mr. Halim has
also been appointed as the executive director and vice chairman of Ernest Borel Holdings
Limited (“Ernest Borel”, a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, Stock
Code: 1856), a subsidiary of the Company, with effect from 12 October 2018 and has been
re-designated as chairman of Ernest Borel with effect from 5 January 2022. He has gained
years of experience in the watch industry and financial business management. Mr. Halim
graduated from Ohio State University as bachelor of science in business administration
majoring in accounting. Mr. Halim is the son-in-law of Mr. Hon Kwok Lung, and brother-
in-law of Ms. Sit Lai Hei and Mr. Hon Hau Wong.
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KWONG Chun Wai, Michael

Dr. Kwong Chun Wai, Michael, aged 59, joined the Board in April 2004 and is a member
of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the
Company. Dr. Kwong is a fellow of the International Institute of Management, a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Marketing, a business strategist specialising in the area of
marketing and business administration. Dr. Kwong obtained a Bachelor of arts degree with
honours in philosophy from the University of Nottingham in the United Kingdom in 1987
and a Doctorate degree in business administration from Newport University (US) in 2

ZHANG Bin

Mr. Zhang Bin (formerly known as Zhang Sheng), aged 59, joined the Board in November
2014 and is a member of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang is currently a partner of Beijing Hylands
Law Firm (“Hylands”). He obtained a degree of Bachelor of Laws from Fudan University
in Shanghai in 1986 and was qualified as a lawyer in China in 1988 and had served as a legal
advisor in a large scale state-owned enterprise for years upon his graduation. Before joining
Hylands in 2008, he worked in law firms in Beijing, London and Hong Kong. He has also
been appointed as an independent non-executive director of Ernest Borel (whose shares are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange), a subsidiary of the Company, with effect
from 26 April 2023. Mr. Zhang is involved in a wide range of areas of practice and has
accumulated tremendous experiences in legal affairs in respect of financial investments
real estates and intellectual property rights.
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KAM, Eddie Shing Cheuk

Mr. Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk (formerly known as Kam Leung Ming), aged 49, joined the
Board in November 2020 and is the chairman of the audit committee and the remuneration
committee and a member of the nomination committee of the Company. He holds a
bachelor’s degree in accountancy and a master’s degree in corporate governance from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is currently a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and an associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute. Mr.
Kam has over 25 years of experience in auditing, professional accounting and worked
for several Hong Kong listed companies of various industries and served senior roles in
financial management and secretarial functions.

Mr. Kam is currently an executive director and a chief executive officer of Get Nice
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code:
64); an independent non-executive director of Ever Harvest Group Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 1549), Genes Tech
Group Holdings Company Limited (a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of
the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 8257) and Panagaea Connectivity Technology Limited
(“Panagaea Connectivity”, a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange,
Stock Code: 1473).

Mr. Kam was a non-executive director of Panagaea Connectivity during the period from 17
June 2019 to 1 October 2023; an independent non-executive director of AVIC Joy Holdings
(HK) Limited (a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code:
260) during the period from April 2022 to August 2022; an independent non-executive
director of Xiezhong International Holdings Limited (a company previously listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 3663) during the period from December
2020 to July 2021; an independent non-executive director of Casablanca Group Limited
(a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 2223) from
April 2015 to May 2017 and an executive director of Get Nice Financial Group Limited
(a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 1469) from
September 2015 to April 2017.

Mr. Kam was appointed as a council member of the sixth term of the Guangzhou Overseas
Friendship Association Committee in March 2013 and a council member of the seventh term
of Shenzhen Overseas Friendship Association Committee in 2017. He was also appointed as
a committee member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference Shanghai
Committee (Baoshan District) in December 2016.
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FONG Chi Wah

Mr. Fong Chi Wah, aged 61, is the Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of
the Company. He joined the Company in September 2004. Mr. Fong is also a director of
various subsidiaries of the Company, including Bendura Bank AG. Mr. Fong is a fellow
member of HKICPA, a fellow member of CPA Australia, a Chartered Financial Analyst, a
member of the Institute of Certified Management Accountants, Australia and a fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. Fong has over 27 years of extensive experience in
various sectors of the financial industry, including direct investment, project and structured
finance, and capital markets with focus on Mainland China and Hong Kong. Mr. Fong
is currently an independent non-executive director of China Youzan Limited (a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 8083). Mr. Fong was a
director of Baring Capital (China) Management Limited and held various managemen
positions in ING Bank.

LYN Jun

Mr. Lyu Jun, aged 60, has been appointed as the Vice President of the Company since
October 2014. He currently serves as the general manager of Guangzhou Five Goat Watch
Company Limited, the chairman of The Dreyfuss Group Limited and the CEO of Eterna
Movement AG, all of which are subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lyu holds a master’s
degree in Executive Master of Business Administration from Tianjin University of Finance
& Economics. He had been working for Tianjin Watch Factory (currently known as Tianjin
Seagull Watch Co., Ltd, “Tianjin Seagull”) since 1983 and acting as the General Manager of
Tianjin Seagull for almost four years before joining the Company. Mr. Lyu has engaged in
the domestic and overseas watch industry for more than 40 years and possesses tremendou

experiences in business administration and international trading.

LAM Lai

Ms. Lam Lai, aged 45, has been appointed as the Vice President of the Company in
April 2021. She is also the director of various subsidiaries of the Company, including
Bendura Bank AG and VGB Limited. Ms. Lam joined the Company in 2008 and served
as investment manager and CEO assistant, mainly responsible for merger and acquisition
projects as well as business development. Ms. Lam is currently an executive director and
authorized representative of Ernest Borel (a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange), a subsidiary of the Company, and a non-executive director of Dragon Mining
Limited (a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 1712).
Ms. Lam graduated from University of Western Sydney in 2001 with a bachelor degree o
business majoring in marketing.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
Citychamp Watch & Jewellery Group Limited (the “Company” or “Citychamp”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are committed to

maintain a standard of corporate governance that is consistent with market practices.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with all the applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 except with the deviations disclosed below:

CG Code provision C.1.6

CG Code provision C.1.6 stipulates that independent non-executive directors should attend general meetings to gain and develop a
balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. An independent non-executive director of the Company (the “Independent Non-
executive Director”) did not attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 23 May 2023 (the “2023 AGM?”) due to his other
business engagement. The remaining Independent Non-executive Directors were presented and were available to answer the questions at
the 2023 AGM.

The Independent Non-executive Directors will endeavour to attend all future general meetings of the Company unless unexpected or
special circumstances preventing them from doing so. The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) will continuously review and
improve the corporate governance practices and standards of the Company to ensure that business activities and decision-making processes
are properly regulated.

CG Code provision C.5.1
CG Code provision C.5.1 stipulates that the board should meet regularly and board meetings should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. However, only two regular Board meetings were convened during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company’s senior management have regularly updated the Board for the Group’s business development with performance review
through electronic means for communication. All the Board members are encouraged to express their opinions for the Company’s
matters. The Board was consulted for each crucial decision and the written resolutions are also circulated to all the Directors to obtain
board consents. As such, the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure the Company’s corporate governance
practices are no less exacting than those in the CG Code. The Company will also endeavour to hold Board meetings regularly at
approximately quarterly intervals in the future.
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CG Code provision F.2.2

CG Code provision F.2.2 stipulates that the chairman of the board should attend the annual general meeting. The Chairman of the Board
was unable to attend the 2023 AGM due to his other business engagement. Mr. Siu Chun Wa, the Executive Director and CEO of the
Company, presented at the 2023 AGM was elected as the chairman of the 2023 AGM to ensure the effective communication with the
Company’s shareholders thereat. The Chairman will endeavour to attend all future general meetings of the Company unless unexpected or
special circumstances preventing them from doing so.

CITYCHAMP’S CULTURE

Citychamp is a company that values diversity, innovation, and excellence. The Company believes in fostering an inclusive culture where
employees feel valued and respected. Citychamp encourages creativity and innovation by encouraging employees to think outside the box
and generate new ideas.

The Company also prioritizes excellence and strives to deliver high-quality products and services to its customers. Citychamp promotes a
culture of continuous learning and development, providing opportunities for employees to enhance their skills and expertise.

Furthermore, Citychamp is committed to sustainability and social responsibility. The Company aims to minimize its environmental impact
and give back to the community through various charitable initiatives.

Citychamp’s company culture is focused on building a good work environment that values diversity, innovation, excellence, sustainability,
and social responsibility.

CITYCHAMP’S STRATEGY
Citychamp’s strategy is focused on building a portfolio of high-end luxury watch and jewellery brands. The Company aims to be a leading

player in the global luxury goods market and to capitalize on the growing demand for luxury goods in Asia and other emerging markets.

One of Citychamp’s key strategies is to acquire and invest in high-quality luxury watch and jewellery brands. The Company has made
several acquisitions in this sector, including Swiss luxury watchmaker Corum. Citychamp plans to develop these brands, leveraging its
expertise and resources to enhance their performance and expand their reach.

Another important strategy for Citychamp is to expand its presence in Asia, particularly in Mainland China. The Company sees significant
growth potential in the Chinese market, where the middle class is growing rapidly and demand for luxury goods is increasing. Citychamp
plans to open more stores in Asia and to develop marketing and advertising campaigns specifically targeted at these markets.

Overall, Citychamp’s strategy is to build a portfolio of high-quality luxury watch and jewellery brands and to expand its presence in the
global luxury goods market, particularly in Asia. The Company is focused on investing in and developing its brands, and on capitalizing
on the growing demand for luxury goods in emerging markets.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct for securities transactions by Directors and by relevant employees of the Group.
All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the required standard as set out in
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic development and direction of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business operations. Moreover, the Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(i)  todevelop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

(i)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of the Directors and senior management of the
Company;

(ii1)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Company’s employees and
Directors; and

(v)  toreview the Company’s compliance with CG Code and disclosure in this corporate governance report.

The Board has established a clear segregation of duties and responsibilities between the Board and the management as to which types of
decisions are to be taken by the Board and which are to be delegated to management. This segregation of duties and responsibilities will
be regularly reviewed by the Board. With the Chairman as a facilitator in the establishment that promotes discussion among Directors, all
the Directors have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective delivery of the board functions.

Size, Composition and Diversity of the Board
As at the date of this annual report, the Board currently comprises of six Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors, as detailed below:

Date of first Date of last

appointment to re-election as

Name of Directors Position the Board Director
HON Kwok Lung Chairman and Executive Director 08/04/2004 27/05/2022
SIU Chun Wa Chief Executive Officer (re-designated on 05/01/2022 27/05/2022

27 March 2024) and Executive Director

SHI Tao Executive Director 08/04/2004 23/05/2023
SIT Lai Hei Executive Director 18/11/2004 23/05/2023
HON Hau Wong Executive Director 29/08/2014 27/05/2022
Teguh HALIM Executive Director 23/01/2018 23/05/2023
KWONG Chun Wai, Michael Independent Non-executive Director 08/04/2004 23/05/2023
ZHANG Bin Independent Non-executive Director 26/11/2014 27/05/2022

KAM, Eddie Shing Cheuk Independent Non-executive Director 06/11/2020 28/05/2021
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Save as disclosed below, there is no relationship among members of the Board:

1) Mr. Hon Kwok Lung is the father of Mr. Hon Hau Wong and father-in-law of Ms. Sit Lai Hei and Mr. Teguh Halim.

(i)  Ms. Sit Lai Hei is the daughter-in-law of Mr. Hon Kwok Lung and sister-in-law of Mr. Hon Hau Wong and Mr. Teguh Halim.

(iii)  Mr. Hon Hau Wong is the son of Mr. Hon Kwok Lung and brother-in-law of Ms. Sit Lai Hei and Mr. Teguh Halim.

(iv)  Mr. Teguh Halim is the son-in-law of Mr. Hon Kwok Lung and brother-in-law of Ms. Sit Lai Hei and Mr. Hon Hau Wong.

Profiles of Directors are set out in the pages 29 to 33 of this annual report.

Board Independence

38

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in good corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Board has

established mechanisms to ensure independent views and input from any Director are conveyed to the Board for enhancing an objective

and effective decision making.

The governance framework and the following mechanisms are reviewed annually by the Board, through the nomination committee of the

Company (the “Nomination Committee”), to ensure their effectiveness:

1. Three out of nine Directors are Independent Non-Executive Directors, which meets the requirements of the Listing Rules that

the Board must have at least three Independent Non-Executive Directors and must appoint Independent Non-Executive Directors

representing at least one-third of the Board.

2. The Nomination Committee will assess the independence, qualification and time commitment of a candidate who is nominated to

be a new Independent Non-Executive Director before appointment and also the continued independence of existing Independent

Non-Executive Directors annually. On an annual basis, all Independent Non-Executive Directors are required to confirm in writing

their compliance of independence requirements pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and to disclose the number and nature of

offices held by them in public companies or organisations and other significant commitments.

3. A Director (including Independent Non-Executive Director) who has a material interest in a contract, arrangement or other proposal

shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution approving the same.

4. All Directors are encouraged to express freely their independent views and constructive challenges during the Board/Board

Committee meeting.

S. External independent professional advice is available as and when required by individual Directors.

6. No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements will be granted to Independent Non-Executive Directors.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of board members to enhance the quality of its performance. The Company
upholds that a high performing board is one that composes directors with the combination of competencies and diversity of perspectives
aligning with the Company’s strategy and objectives, and which is in the best position to deal with the key issues that the Company faces.

A board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) was adopted by the Company in order to set out the approach to achieve diversity
of the Board, a summary of which is set forth on page 65 of this annual report.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. All board appointments will be made on
a merit basis but the Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the needs of the Company’s business. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, independence from or relationship with other members of the Board, experience
(professional or otherwise), skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness and discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

As of the date of this annual report, a diversity analysis of the existing board composition is set out at the chart below:

Board Diversity
(Number of members)

Gender 1 8
Female Male
| |
Age Group 4 3 2
41-50 51-60 61-70
B - S
Designation 6 3
Executive Director Independent Non-executive Director
I m
Years of directorship 4 0 3 2
with the Company 16—20 11-15 6-10 0-5
B |
Outside directorship 3 6
with other listed No Yes
companies L —— -
Education Level 1 4 3 1
Other Bachelor Master PhD
- . s ) |
Family relationship 4 5
with other board Yes No
members B —
Directors with
specialized 3 6
professional Yes No
qualifications B .
1 1
Professional 2 2 2 1 Accounting V;Zﬂ:;iﬁ;?
Industr Yy Entrepreneur Investment Management Marketing Law Professionals pysiness management
| - e a
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Gender Diversity

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company maintained an effective Board comprising members of different genders, professional
background and industry expertise. The Board Diversity Policy was consistently implemented. The Board consists of one female and eight
male Directors as of the date of this annual report. The Board believes that the gender diversity on the Board is satisfactory, considering
the particular demands and business model of the Company.

Moreover, the Group has made and continues to support diversity at all ranks of its workforce. Training, employment and career
development opportunities are accessible to all eligible employees without restriction. The current male to female ratio in the workforce of
the Company, including Executive Directors and Senior Management, is approximately 1:2.5. The Board believes that gender diversity in
workforce is currently achieved.

Nomination of Board Members and Nomination Policy

The Company adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”), aiming to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the needs of the Company’s business. The Nomination Policy sets out, among others,
factors that will be given due consideration to in assessing, selecting and recommending candidates for directorship to the Board and the
nomination procedures, details of which are set out on pages 61 to 64 of this annual report.

For every newly appointed director, the Company will provide comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on appointment, including
but not limited to, briefing from external lawyers about the governance policies of the Company, responsibilities of Directors under
applicable rules and regulations. He/she will also receive an information pack and has a chance to meet with the Company’s management.
If necessary, the Board members have access to external professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Independent Non-executive Directors
One of the Independent Non-executive Directors possesses appropriate professional accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise.

With a wide range of expertise and a balance of skills, the Independent Non-executive Directors bring independent judgment on issues of
strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of conduct through their participating in board
meetings and committee work.

The views of the Independent Non-executive Directors carry significant weight in the Board’s decision-making process. The Board
considers that each Independent Non-executive Director is independent in character and judgment and that they all meet the specific
independent criteria as required by the Listing Rules. The assessments of the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors are
carried out upon appointment and annually pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and at any other time where the circumstances require
special consideration.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) are separate and each of them plays a distinct role. The separation of such two
roles ensures a clear division between the respective responsibilities of the Chairman and the CEO. The Chairman, Mr. Hon Kwok Lung,
is mainly responsible for setting direction and strategies of the business development, and leading and managing the Board. The CEO, Mr.
Siu Chun Wa, undertakes a supervisory role to manage the day-to-day operation and business of the Group.

Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), Board Meetings and Board Practices

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to review the overall strategy, discuss business opportunities and to monitor the operation
as well as the financial performance of the Group. With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the Chairman and the CEO are primarily
responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all Directors. Notice of at least 14
days have been given to all Directors for all regular board meetings and the Directors can include matters for discussion in the agenda
if necessary. Agenda and accompanying board papers in respect of regular board meetings are sent out in full to all Directors within
reasonable time prior to confirmation.
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Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are kept by the Company Secretary. All Directors have access to board
papers and related materials and are promptly provided with adequate information, which enable the Board to make an informed decision
on matters placed before it. Draft and final versions of minutes of board meetings had been sent to all Directors through electronic means
for their comments and records respectively, in both cases within a reasonable time after the meetings held.

Any Director may request the Company to provide independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the expense of the
Company, to assist them to perform their duties and responsibilities to the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, two board meetings and one AGM were held and the individual attendance of each Director is
set out below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings held
Name of Directors Board Meetings AGM

Executive Directors:

HON Kwok Lung 2/2 0/1
SIU Chun Wa 2/2 1/1
HAO Xiaohui (resigned on 27 March 2024) 2/2 /1
SHI Tao 2/2 0/1
BI Bo (resigned on 3 March 2023) - -
SIT Lai Hei 2/2 1/1
HON Hau Wong 2/2 /1
Teguh HALIM 2/2 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors:

KWONG Chun Wai, Michael 2/2 1/1
ZHANG Bin 2/2 0/1
KAM, Eddie Shing Cheuk 2/2 1/1
LI Ziqing (resigned on 27 March 2024) 2/2 /1

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
The Nomination Committee is responsible for assessing the candidates for appointment as Directors and recommending them to the Board
for consideration and approval.

Each of the Executive Directors, who has entered into a service contract with the Company, and all Independent Non-executive Directors,
who were appointed for an initial term of two years commencing from the date of appointments and will continue for successive term of
one year, are subject to the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company whereby they shall retire by rotation.

According to Article 26.4 of the Articles of Association, at every annual general meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not three or multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. To enable shareholders of the Company to make an informed decision on the re-election of retiring Directors
at the forthcoming AGM, their biographies are set out in the circular of the Company dated 30 April 2024.
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Continuing Professional Development
All Directors participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills, so as to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

To facilitate the Directors to discharge their responsibilities, monthly updates and reference materials are provided to Directors for their
reading including the latest changes and development of the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other regulatory regime, the
business and market changes, the strategic development of the Group and the information on directors’ training courses. Directors are also
encouraged to attend outside talks and seminars to enrich their knowledge and skills in discharging their duties. All Directors are requested
to provide the Company with their respective training records pursuant to the CG Code.

Directors’ participation of continuous professional development
Reading

Attending monthly updates

Name of Directors trainings/seminars and materials

Executive Directors:
HON Kwok Lung -
SIU Chun Wa -
HAO Xiaohui (resigned on 27 March 2024) -
SHI Tao -
BI Bo (resigned on 3 March 2023)
SIT Lai Hei

HON Hau Wong

Teguh HALIM

NN
NSNS

AN NN

Independent Non-executive Directors:

KWONG Chun Wai, Michael v
ZHANG Bin -
KAM, Eddie Shing Cheuk 4
LI Ziqing (resigned on 27 March 2024) -

AN NI NN

Communication with Directors

The Company acknowledges the importance of providing sufficient and accurate information to all members of the Board on a timely basis
so0 as to enable them to discharge their duties and responsibilities effectively. All Directors are entitled to have access to board papers and
relevant materials. Agenda, board papers and those relevant materials are sent to all Directors in a timely manner before the date of a board
or board committee meeting, to enable the Board to make informed decisions on matters placed before it at the meetings. All Directors
are provided with monthly consolidated accounts of the Group and financial information updates giving a balanced and understandable
assessment of the performance, financial position and prospects of the Group. Board briefings are issued and circulated to all members
of the Board when necessary and appropriate, covering financial and operating highlights of the Group. All Directors are also provided
from time to time the latest changes and development of the Listing Rules, corporate governance practice and other regulatory regime. The
management is prepared to provide additional information and explanations if there are areas the Directors need to elaborate.

Independent Non-executive Directors are given the opportunity to discuss issues of the Group with the Chairman in the absence of
Executive Directors. Besides, they are also given the opportunity to discuss issues of the Group with the management in the absence of
Executive Directors. The Independent Non-executive Directors, also being the members of audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”), regularly pay visit to major subsidiaries of the Company and meet the management of those subsidiaries. During the visits,
Independent Non-executive Directors receive presentations from the management of subsidiaries in relation to the updated developments
of those subsidiaries and review and comment on the issues concerning the internal control and risk management systems.
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance (“D&O Insurance”) for Directors and officers of the Company.
The Company undertakes an annual review of the Company’s D&O Insurance policy in terms of the amount of cover, the reputation
and financial strength of the potential insurer and the provisions of the insurance policy to ensure that sufficient cover and protection are
provided to the Directors and officers of the Company.

Directors’ Shareholding Interests
Directors’ interests in the securities of the Company and its associated corporations as at 31 December 2023 are disclosed in pages 53 to
54 of this annual report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has delegated certain authority to four board committees which are established and perform their functions under specific terms
of reference. The committees are provided with sufficient resources and opportunities to seek independent professional advice, at the
Company’s expense, to perform their responsibilities.

Audit Committee
The details of the Audit Committee and its work performed during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out on pages 58 to 59 of this
annual report.

Nomination Committee
The details of the Nomination Committee and its work performed during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out on pages 60 to 65
of this annual report.

Risk Management Committee
The details of the risk management committee of the Company and its work performed during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out on pages 66 to 71 of this annual report.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) on 23 August 2005 in compliance with the
Listing Rules, terms of reference of which have been adopted by the Board and are consistent with the requirements of the CG Code.
The full version of the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee comprised following
members:

Independent Non-executive Directors

KAM, Eddie Shing Cheuk (Committee Chairman)
KWONG Chun Wai, Michael

ZHANG Bin

LI Ziqing (resigned on 27 March 2024)

Executive Directors
HON Kwok Lung
SIU Chun Wa
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The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy. The
Remuneration Committee also makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual Independent Non-
executive Director, Executive Director and senior management. The Remuneration Committee ensures that no Director or any of his/
her associates is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee also reviews the main elements of the
Company’s remuneration policy for Directors and senior management from time to time, taking into consideration of salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities, and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group. The Remuneration
Committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

The Directors’ remuneration can be fixed by the Directors and are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings. Other emoluments
are determined by the Board with reference to the duties, responsibilities and performance of the Directors and the results of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and emoluments of senior management are disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee held no meeting and had optimized the remuneration policy of
Directors and senior management of the Company through study.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Fong Chi Wah is the Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Company. The Company Secretary supports the Chairman

in promoting the highest standards of corporate governance and facilitates the effective functioning of the Board and its committees. All
Directors have direct access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on
board governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that board policies and procedures are followed and for facilitating timely and
appropriate information flows among Directors. The Company Secretary also plays an essential role in the communication with investors,
regulators and other stakeholders. The Company Secretary participates in a variety of trainings organized by the professional accounting
and company secretarial associations. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company Secretary took not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training and therefore he had complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The biography of the Company Secretary is set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on page 34 of this annual
report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has established its internal audit function in 2020 as required under the Listing Rules and the Group internal audit applies the
Standards for Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by the Institute of Internal Auditors. The Group internal auditor reports directly
to the Audit Committee and administratively to the CEO.

The Group internal auditor provides independent assurance as to the existence and effectiveness of the risk management activities and
controls in the Group’s business operations. The Company maintains adequate oversight of the risk through strengthening the rules of
procedures of internal control and corporate governance.

Internal audit is responsible for assessing the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, including reporting its findings to the
Audit Committee and the senior management concerned as well as following up on the issues to ensure that they are satisfactorily resolved.
In addition, internal audit maintains a regular dialogue with the Group’s external auditor so that the parties are aware of the significant
factors which may affect their respective scope of work.

The Audit Committee reviews the internal audit reports and activities of the department as well as the adequacy and effectiveness of the
internal audit function, at least annually.
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The Board is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems of the Group to protect
shareholders’ interest and to safeguard the Group’s assets, at least annually. The Board has considered the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting function and
those relating to the ESG performance and reporting by reviewing the reports prepared by the internal auditor and/or the external auditor
as well as the recommendations made by the Audit Committee.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the internal control and risk management systems for the year ended 31 December
2023 with no material weakness found.

The Board notes that the systems of internal control and risk management provides reasonable, but not absolute assurance that the Group
will not be affected by any event that could be reasonably foreseen as it strives to achieve its business objectives.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

Regarding the disclosure of inside information, the Board had implemented relevant procedures for handling and dissemination of inside
information. The Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within
any of the safe harbours as provided in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”). Before the information is fully disclosed to the
public, the Group ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the information to the public.
Accordingly, potential inside information can be promptly identified and escalated up for deciding whether an announcement should
be made in order to ensure compliance with the continuous obligations under the Listing Rules and the statutory obligation to disclose
information under the SFO.

Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-Corruption Policy
The Company has adopted the following policies, which are in place to safeguard the compliance control, in accordance with the CG Code
provisions D.2.6 and D.2.7:

(a)  Whistleblowing policy: The Company encourages the employees of the Group, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders to raise
concerns, in confidence, about improper and fraudulent conduct. Such arrangement will be reviewed by the Audit Committee which
ensures that proper arrangement is in place for fair and independent investigation of the matters; and

(b)  Anti-corruption policy: We require compliance with all applicable anti-corruption laws in all markets and jurisdictions in which
we operate. We set a high standard globally in our anti-corruption policy, which also focuses on the spirit of relevant laws and
regulations to help demonstrate our commitment to ethical behaviours and conduct as part of our environmental, social and corporate
governance.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee reviewed and monitored the independence of the Company’s external auditor,
BDO Limited (“BDO”), to ensure the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable standards and the objectivity of the
financial statements. BDO has made a written declaration to the Audit Committee that they are independent with respect to the Company
and that they are not aware of any matters which may reasonably be though to bear on their independence. The following table illustrates
the fees paid/payable by the Group to BDO in the past two years for audit and non-audit services:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Audit services 4,700 4,900
Non-audit services 300 300
Total 5,000 5,200

The non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2023 mainly included professional services in respect of interim financial
information.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, which give a true
and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs, results and cash flow for that period. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023, the Board:

(a)  selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;

(b)  adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards;

(c)  made adjustments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and

(d)  ensured that the financial statements were prepared on the going concern basis.

The Board is also responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company.

The Board is committed to present a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to the shareholders to be our goal. The Company may declare and distribute
dividends to shareholders provided that the declaration and distribution of dividends does not affect the normal operations of the Group.

A dividend policy has been approved and adopted (the “Dividend Policy”) in order to provide return to the shareholders of the Company
whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future development.

According to the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take
into account the following factors:

(a)  the Group’s retained earnings and distributable reserves;

(b)  the Group’s future earnings;

(c)  the Group’s capital requirements;

(d)  the Group’s working capital requirements;

(e)  the general financial conditions of the Group;

(f)  the Group’s business development strategies and future expansion plans;

(g) contractual restrictions on payment of dividends;

(h)  the general economic and industrial conditions; and

(1)  any other factors that the Board considers relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company shall be determined at the sole discretion of the Board and shall be subject to
any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association of the Company. The Dividend Policy will

continue to be reviewed from time to time. There can be no assurance that dividends will be proposed or declared in any particular amount
for any given period.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 17 of the Articles of Association of the Company, all general meetings other than annual general meetings shall be
called extraordinary general meetings. A Members’ requisition is a requisition of one or more Members holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than 10% of the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, of the issued Shares which as at that date carry the right to
vote at general meetings of the Company.

The Members’ requisition must state the objects and the resolutions to be added to the agenda of the meeting and must be signed by the
requisitionists and deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a
principal office, the Registered Office, and may consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

If there are no Directors as at the date of the deposit of the Members’ requisition or if the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of
the deposit of the Members’ requisition duly proceed to convene a general meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionists,
or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of the requisitionists, may themselves convene a general
meeting, but any meeting so convened shall be held no later than the day which falls three months after the expiration of the said 21 day
period.

Procedures for Shareholders’ Other Proposals and Enquires

Shareholders and other stakeholders may send their enquiries and concerns to Board in writing to Units 1902—-04, Level 19, International
Commerce Centre, 1 Austin Road West, Kowloon, Hong Kong by addressing them to the Company Secretary of the Company. The
Company Secretary will forward the enquiries or concerns to the CEO or the chairman of the board committees or senior management of
the Company as appropriate within their area of responsibilities for handling.

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at
shareholders’ meeting. Proposal shall be sent to the Board or the Company Secretary by written requisition.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has amended its memorandum and articles of association, the details of which
are set out in the announcement dated 28 April 2023 and circular dated 28 April 2023 of the Company. The Company has adopted the
amended and restated memorandum and articles of association by a special resolution passed at the 2023 AGM. The amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association is made available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company endeavors to maintain a high level of transparency in communicating with shareholders and the investment community at
large. In order to ensure effective, clear and accurate communications with the shareholders and investors, all corporate communications
are arranged and handled by the Executive Directors and designated senior executives according to established practices and procedures
of the Company. The Company provides up-to-date and extensive information in its annual reports, interim reports, circulars and
announcements in a timely manner and within the time limits set out in the Listing Rules to ensure that all shareholders are able to form an
accurate understanding of the business performance and financial position of the Group and make informed investment decisions.

The Company treats annual general meetings as the principal forum for the Board to meet and communicate with the shareholders face to
face. The Chairman of the Board, all Executive Directors, chairmen of the board committees and the external auditors endeavor to attend
the annual general meetings to report the business and operation of the Group to the shareholders, to answer questions and develop a
balanced understanding of the view of the shareholders.
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The most recent annual general meeting was the 2023 AGM and at the meeting, separate resolutions were proposed on each substantially
separate issue including the re-election of retiring directors and approval of adoption of amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association. The procedures for demanding a poll were explained in the circular to shareholders despatched together with the Annual
Report 2022. The major items discussed at the 2023 AGM were:

- receiving and adopting the audited consolidated financial statements and the report of the directors and the independent auditor’s
report for the year ended 31 December 2022;

- re-electing retiring Directors, including one Independent Non-executive Director who has served the Company for more than nine
years, and authorising the Board to fix their remuneration;

- re-appointing the auditor and authorising the Board to fix their remuneration;
- approving a general mandate to authorise the Directors to allot and issue shares;
- approving a general mandate to authorise the Directors to make share buy-backs;

- approving to extend a general mandate to authorise the Directors to allot and issue shares by adding the number of shares bought-
back; and

- approving the adoption of amended and restated memorandum and articles of association.
The poll results were posted on the websites of both the Company and the Stock Exchange on the same day after the 2023 AGM.

The Company has adopted a shareholders communication policy, which is subject to review on a regular basis by the Board to ensure its
effectiveness and aims to ensure effective and timely dissemination of information to the Company’s shareholders and provide channels for
them to provide their comments and suggestions, and continues to enhance communications and relationships with investment community
at large. Executive Directors and designated senior management will maintain open and active dialogues with shareholders, institutional
investors, fund managers, analysts and the media. The management is pleased to help them better understand the Company and respond to
enquiries raised by them during meetings, interviews and road shows, within the constraints of information already provided to the public.

Key shareholders’ events in 2023 are set out below:

Events Date
Annual Results Announcement for the year ended 31 December 2022 30 March 2023
Publication and despatch of annual report 2022 27 April 2023
2023 AGM 23 May 2023
Announcement of unaudited interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2023 30 August 2023
Publication and despatch of interim report 2023 28 September 2023

Important shareholders’ dates in 2024 are set out below:

Events Date
Annual Results Announcement for the year ended 31 December 2023 27 March 2024
Publication and despatch of annual report 2023 30 April 2024
2024 AGM 28 May 2024

The Company’s website (www.irasia.com/listco/hk/citychamp) enables shareholders, investors and the general public to have access to the
information of the Company on a timely basis. Financial information and all corporate communications of the Company are made available
on the Company’s website and updated regularly.
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of Citychamp Watch & Jewellery Group Limited (the “Company”) are pleased to present their report
and the audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and its subsidiaries are engaged in manufacturing and distribution of watches
and timepieces, manufacturing and trading of accessories of watches, property investments, and banking and financial businesses.

Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 55 to the consolidated financial statements. There were no
other significant changes to the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 31 December 2023.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the financial positions of the Group as at that date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 149 to 339 of this annual report.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting is scheduled to be held on Tuesday, 28 May 2024 (the “2024 AGM”). For the purpose

of determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
23 May 2024 to Tuesday, 28 May 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM, all properly completed transfer documents, accompanied by relevant share certificates, must
be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 22 May 2024.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Pursuant to the requirements under the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”) for
companies to have a “business review” section in report of the directors, a summary of the relevant sections in this annual report is set out
below for ease reference:

Required disclosures Relevant sections
a fair review of the Group’s business for the year ended Chairman’s Statement (pages 5 to 8)
31 December 2023 Management Discussion and Analysis (pages 9 to 28)

a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group ~ Risk Management Committee Report (pages 66 to 71)
an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business Management Discussion and Analysis (pages 9 to 28)
an analysis using financial key performance indicators Management Discussion and Analysis (pages 9 to 28)
a discussion on (i) the Group’s environmental policies and performance; Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023
and (ii) the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and regulations ~ published separately by the Company
that have a significant impact on the Group
an account of the Group’s key relationships with its stakeholders that ~ Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023

have a significant impact on the Group and on which the Group’s published separately by the Company
success depends

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on pages 339 to 341 of this annual report. This summary does not form part
of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and investment properties of the Company and of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in notes 28 to 29 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively. Further details of the Group’s
principal investment properties are set out on pages 342 to 343 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the shareholders by reason of
their holding the Company’s securities.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director and officer of the Company shall be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against any liability, action, proceeding, claim, demand, costs, damages or expenses, including legal expenses, whatsoever which
they or any of them may incur as a result of any act or failure to act in carrying out their functions other than such liability (if any) that they
may incur by reason of their own actual fraud or wilful default. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance for the Directors and officers of the Group in respect of potential losses or liabilities which the Directors and officers may incur
in the performance of their duties.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2023 are set out in note 55 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2023.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 44 to
the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, the share premium account of the Company is also available for distribution to
shareholders provided that the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business immediately
following the date on which any such distribution is proposed to be paid.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had reserves of HK$958,146,000 (2022: HK$896,684,000) being the aggregate of retained profits
and share premium account, available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales and purchases attributable to the Group’s major customers and suppliers is set out as follows, respectively.

Percentage of
the total sales/purchases

Sales Purchases
Top five customers 16% -
Top five suppliers - 22%
The largest customer 3% -
The largest supplier - 4%

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Hon Kwok Lung, Chairman

Mr. Siu Chun Wa, Chief Executive Officer (re-designated on 27 March 2024)
Mr. Hao Xiaohui, Co-Chief Executive Officer (resigned on 27 March 2024)
Mr. Shi Tao

Mr. Bi Bo (resigned on 3 March 2023)

Ms. Sit Lai Hei

Mr. Hon Hau Wong

Mr. Teguh Halim

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Kwong Chun Wai, Michael

Mr. Zhang Bin

Mr. Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk

Mr. Li Ziqing (resigned on 27 March 2024)

In accordance with Article 26.4 of the Articles of Association, at every annual general meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is not three or multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Hon Kwok Lung, Mr. Siu Chun Wa, Mr. Hon Hau Wong and Mr. Kam, Eddie Shing
Cheuk will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 2024 AGM.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from each of the four existing Independent Non-executive Directors that
they have met all the factors concerning their independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) and that there are no other factors which may affect their independence. The Board considers all the Independent Non-
executive Directors to be independent.

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Company as at the date of this report are set out on pages 29 to 34
of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each Executive Director has entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial term of two years commencing from the date
of appointment, which is automatically renewed for successive terms unless it is terminated by either party by giving not less than two-
month written notice. Each Independent Non-executive Director of the Company has entered into letter of appointment with the Company
for an initial term of two years commencing from the date of appointment, which is automatically renewed for successive terms unless it
is terminated by either party by giving not less than one-month written notice.

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in paragraphs of “Connected Transactions” below and elsewhere in this annual report, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director or his/her connected entity had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 December
2023 or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries had any contract of significance
(including contracts of significance for the provision of services) with the Company or its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December
2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than Directors’ service contracts and employment contracts with the Group’s senior management in full-time employment, no
management contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company (the “Chief Executive”) in
the share capital and underlying shares of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO)), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in the
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s long positions in shares of the Company

Number of shares held Approximate

Beneficial Corporate Family Total percentage of

Name of Directors owner interests interests interests shareholding
Hon Kwok Lung 3,500,000 3,026,105,515" 1,374,000@ 3,030,979,515 69.65%
Shi Tao 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.11%
Sit Lai Hei - 200,000,000® - 200,000,000 4.60%
Hon Hau Wong 1,750,000 - 200,000,000 201,750,000 4.64%

Teguh Halim 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 6,000,000 0.14%
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The approximate percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the Company’s issued share capital of 4,351,888,206 shares as at 31 December

2023.

1)

(2)

(3)

“)

(5)

The 3,026,105,515 shares comprise of 1,646,126,000 shares held by Full Day Limited (“Full Day”), which is wholly-owned by Mr. Hon Kwok Lung,
and 1,379,979,515 shares held by Sincere View International Limited (“Sincere View”), which is owned as to 80% by Mr. Hon Kwok Lung and 20%
by his spouse.

1,374,000 shares were held by Mr. Hon Kwok Lung’s spouse, Ms. Lam Suk Ying.

The 200,000,000 shares were held by Qiangda Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fengrong Investment (Hong Kong) Company Limited
(“Fengrong Hong Kong”). Fengrong Hong Kong is wholly-owned by Fujian Fengrong Investment Company Limited (“Fujian Fengrong”), which is
owned as to approximately 68.5% by Ms. Sit Lai Hei.

Mr. Hon Hau Wong is deemed to have an interest in 200,000,000 shares which were held by Qiangda Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Fengrong Hong Kong. Fengrong Hong Kong is wholly-owned by Fujian Fengrong which is owned as to approximately 31.5% by Ms. Lu Xiaojun,

the spouse of Mr. Hon Hau Wong.

3,000,000 shares were held by Mr. Teguh Halim’s wife.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s long position in shares of the associated corporation of the Company

Approximate

percentage of

Name of Directors Name of associated corporation Nature of interest shareholding

Sit Lai Hei Zhuhai Rossini Watch Industry Limited Corporate @ 9%

Hon Hau Wong Zhuhai Rossini Watch Industry Limited Family @ 9%
Notes:

1)

(2)

Zhuhai Rossini Watch Industry Limited (“Rossini”) is owned as to 91% indirectly by the Company and 9% by Fujian Fengrong. Rossini is an
associated corporation of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

The interest in Rossini was held by Fujian Fengrong, which is owned as to approximately 68.5% by Ms. Sit Lai Hei, an Executive Director, and 31.5%
by Ms. Lu Xiaojun. Both Ms. Sit Lai Hei and Ms. Lu Xiaojun are daughters-in-law of Mr. Hon Kwok Lung, an Executive Director. Mr. Hon Hau

Wong, an Executive Director, being the husband of Ms. Lu Xiaojun, is also deemed to be interested in the 31.5% interest in Fujian Fengrong.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in this annual report, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or Chief Executive nor their

associates had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations

(within the meaning of the SFO) recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or required to

be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2023 were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures

of the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the

Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons hold interests of 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company and underlying
shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in

the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate

Number of percentage of

Name of Shareholders Nature of interest shares held shareholding

Sincere View Beneficial owner 1,379,979,515 31.71%

Full Day Beneficial owner 1,646,126,000 37.83%

Hon Kwok Lung ®e© Corporate interest, beneficial owner and 3,030,979,515 69.65%
family interest

Lam Suk Ying ™©) Beneficial owner and family interest 3,030,979,515 69.65%

Note:

The approximate percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the Company’s issued share capital of 4,351,888,206 shares as at 31 December

2023.

Mr. Hon Kwok Lung and his spouse, Ms. Lam Suk Ying, are deemed to have an interest in the same parcel of 3,030,979,515 shares, which comprise
1,379,979,515 shares held by Sincere View, 1,646,126,000 shares held by Full Day, 3,500,000 shares held by Mr. Hon Kwok Lung and 1,374,000 shares held

by Ms. Lam Suk Ying. The shareholding structure was summarised in the following chart:

Her Kwok Lung
100%
37.83%
80%

Sincere 31.71%

0.08% —‘

20% View J
0.03%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors were not aware of any persons (other than the Directors and Chief
Executives) who had any interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group conducted the following transactions with connected persons of the Company which
constituted connected transactions of the Company and are subject to reporting requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On 25 October 2023, VGB Limited (“VGB”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as the vendor and Full Day Limited (“Full Day”,
which is an associate of Mr. Hon Kwok Lung, Executive Director and controlling shareholder of the Company, and therefore a connected
person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) as the purchaser entered into a Share Disposal Agreement, pursuant to
which, VGB agreed to sell, and Full Day agreed to acquire 7,000,000 ordinary shares of Ernest Borel Holdings Limited (“Ernest Borel”,
which is a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange and an indirect subsidiary of the Company) at a consideration of
HKS$14 million at HK$2.0 per share by over-the-counter. After the disposal, VGB owned 210,834,485 shares, representing approximately
58.52% of issued share capital of Ernest Borel, and Full Day, wholly-owned by Mr. Hon Kwok Lung, held 11,800,000 shares of Ernest
Borel directly and 210,834,485 shares indirectly through interest of controlled corporation, and therefore owned approximately 61.80% of
issued share capital of Ernest Borel. Accordingly, total number of shares of Ernest Borel held by Mr. Hon Kwok Lung remained unchanged
(i.e. representing 61.80% of issued share capital of Ernest Borel). The disposal proceeds were intended to be used as general working
capital of the Group. The disposal would affect equity interests sharing attributable to owners of the Company in the Group’s accounts.

Details are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 25 October 2023.

On 22 December 2023, VGB as the vendor and Sincere View International Limited (“Sincere View”, which is an associate of Mr. Hon
Kwok Lung and therefore a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) as purchaser entered into a Share
Disposal Agreement, pursuant to which, VGB agreed to sell, and Sincere View agreed to acquire 5,000,000 ordinary shares of Ernest
Borel at a consideration of HK$10 million at HK$2.0 per share by over-the-counter. After the disposal, VGB owns 205,834,485 shares,
representing approximately 57.14% of issued share capital of Ernest Borel, and Sincere View, 80%-owned by Mr. Hon Kwok Lung and
20%-owned by his spouse, Ms. Lam Suk Ying, holds 5,000,000 shares of Ernest Borel directly and 205,834,485 shares indirectly through
interest of controlled corporation, and therefore owns approximately 58.52% of issued share capital of Ernest Borel. Accordingly, total
number of shares of Ernest Borel held by Mr. Hon Kwok Lung remains unchanged (i.e. representing 61.80% of issued share capital of
Ernest Borel). The disposal proceeds were intended to be used as general working capital of the Group. The disposal would affect equity
interests sharing attributable to owners of the Company in the Group’s accounts.

Details are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 22 December 2023.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no connected transactions which are required to be disclosed by the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2023 in accordance with the provisions concerning the disclosure of connected transactions under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 48 to the consolidated financial
statements. To the best knowledge of the Directors, except for those described under “Connected Transactions”, none of those related party
transactions constituted connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS, OPTIONS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

There is no conversion or subscription rights under any convertible securities, warrants or options or similar rights issued or granted by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2023 or subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 December 2023.

EQUITY-LINK AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company, or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no Director is considered to have an interest in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules, other than those businesses to which
the Directors were appointed as directors to represent the interest of the Company and/or the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, there has been sufficient public
float of more than 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital as at the date of this annual report, which satisfies the requirement of
the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to achieving a high standard of corporate governance practices. A report on the corporate governance practices of
the Company is set out on pages 35 to 48 of this annual report.

REVIEW BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the auditor of the Company the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 and has also discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters including the review of the accounting practices and
principles adopted by the Group.

AUDITOR
The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by BDO Limited.

A resolution will be proposed at the 2024 AGM to re-appoint BDO Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Hon Kwok Lung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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UDIT COM B
FPORT

Citychamp Watch & Jewellery Group Limited (the “Company”) has established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) in 1999 in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”), terms of reference of which have been adopted by the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) and are consistent
with the requirements of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The full version of the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee is made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprised following members:

Independent Non-executive Directors

Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk (Committee Chairman)
Kwong Chun Wai, Michael

Zhang Bin

Li Ziqing (resigned on 27 March 2024)

The composition and members of the Audit Committee comply with the requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

AUTHORITY AND DUTIES

The Audit Committee, under the delegation of the Board, is responsible for, including but not limited to, making recommendations on the
appointment of external auditor, reviewing independence of external auditor and effectiveness of audit process, monitoring integrity of the
Company’s financial information, overseeing financial reporting, risk management and internal control systems of the Company, reviewing
the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices, etc. The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform
its responsibilities. The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external auditors such as discussion of audit process and
accounting issues and review effectiveness of internal controls and risk evaluation before the Audit Committee meetings.

Work done in 2023
During the year ended 31 December 2023, two meetings were held and the individual attendance of each member is set out below:

Attendance/

number of

Members meetings held
Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk (Committee Chairman) 2/2
Kwong Chun Wai, Michael 2/2
Zhang Bin 2/2
Li Ziqing (resigned on 27 March 2024) 2/2

The key members from the Finance Department of the Company and representatives of the external auditor attended all meetings to report
and answer questions about their works.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee met with the Company’s external auditor, the Board and senior
management. The Audit Committee reviewed the financial statements (including interim and annual results) and other information to
shareholders, the accounting system, the system and procedures of internal controls, works done by internal audit function, independency
of the external auditor, effectiveness and objectivity of the audit process and performed other duties set out in the terms of reference. They
assisted the Board in reviewing and ensuring the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the accounting and financial reporting functions of the Group and internal audit, company secretarial and corporate governance
functions of the Company. The Audit Committee also reviewed with the management the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including a review of the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and policies of internal controls on connected transactions.

It is the practice of the Company that minutes of meetings of the Audit Committee be recorded in sufficient detail of the matters considered
by the Audit Committee, decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the members or dissenting views expressed. Draft and final
versions of minutes of the Audit Committee are sent to the members within a reasonable time after the date of the respective meeting,
for their comments and records respectively. The Company Secretary is responsible to keep all the minutes of meetings of the Audit
Committee in a proper manner.
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Citychamp Watch & Jewellery Group Limited (the “Company”) has established a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
on 26 March 2012 in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The full updated version of the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is available on the
Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee comprised following
members:

Executive Directors
Hon Kwok Lung (Committee Chairman)
Siu Chun Wa

Independent Non-executive Directors
Kwong Chun Wai, Michael

Zhang Bin

Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk

Li Ziqing (resigned on 27 March 2024)

The composition and members of the Nomination Committee comply with the requirements under the Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix CI to the Listing Rules.

AUTHORITY AND DUTIES

The Nomination Committee, under the delegation of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”), is responsible for, including but not
limited to, reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, policy of Board diversity, procedures of nominating and
appointing appropriate person to be a director, making recommendations to the Board on the selection of suitable candidates nominated
for directorships, assessing the independence of independent non-executive directors, etc. The Nomination Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its responsibilities, such as seeking independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, where
necessary.

Work Done in 2023
During the year ended 31 December 2023, one meeting was held and the individual attendance of each member is set out below:

Attendance/

number of

Members meeting(s) held
Hon Kwok Lung (Committee Chairman) 0/1
Siu Chun Wa 1/1
Kwong Chun Wai, Michael 1/1
Zhang Bin 1/1
Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk 1/1

Li Ziqing (resigned on 27 March 2024) 1/1
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the work of the Nomination Committee included consideration of: review structure,

composition and diversity of the Board, including the appropriate balance of skills, knowledge and experience; assessment of independence

of independent non-executive directors of the Company; and review of the retirement of directors by rotation at the Company’s annual

general meeting held on 23 May 2023.

The Board has adopted the Nomination Policy in order to set out the approach to guide the Nomination Committee in relation to the

selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship.

Nomination Policy

Purpose The Nomination Policy aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience

and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the needs of the Company’s business.

Nomination Criteria - In assessing, selecting and recommending candidates for directorship to the Board,

the Nomination Committee will give due consideration to the factors including but

not limited to (collectively, the “Factors”):

(@

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

®

(g)

reputation for character and integrity;

accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in which the
Company’s business is involved and other professional qualifications;

number of directorship the candidate holds in listed companies,
commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

diversity in all aspects including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills,
knowledge and length of service;

contribution that the candidates can potentially bring to the Board;

whether cross-directorship or significant links with other directors through
involvements in other companies or bodies exists, and

plans in place for the orderly succession of the Board.
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Nomination Criteria

Nomination Procedures

The above Factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive.
The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers
appropriate.

- Retiring directors, save for those who have served as independent non-executive
directors for a period of nine consecutive years, are eligible for nomination by
the Board to stand for re-election at a general meeting. If an independent non-
executive director serves more than nine years, his/her further appointment
should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the shareholders
of the Company. The circular to the shareholders accompanying that resolution
should include the reasons why the Board believes he/she is still independent and
should be eligible for re-election. For the avoidance of doubt, (a) the nine-year
period for determining the eligibility of an independent non-executive director for
nomination by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting would count
from his/her date of first appointment as an independent non-executive director
until the date of the forthcoming annual general meeting when his/her current
term of service will expire at the end of that meeting; and (b) an independent
non-executive director who has been serving on the Board for a period of nine
consecutive years or more may continue to hold office until expiry of his/her
current term.

- In addition to the Factors, the Nomination Committee will assess, select and

recommend candidates for the position of the independent non-executive director
of the Company by giving due consideration to the factors including but not
limited to those set out in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Listing Rules (as amended
from time to time).

- The Board may from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a

director or the Company may by ordinary resolution elect any person to be a
director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing
Board.
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Nomination Policy

Nomination Procedures

The Nomination Committee will recommend candidates of directorship to the

Board in accordance with the following procedures and process:

(@

(b)

©

(d)

®

(8

the Nomination Committee may consult any source it deems appropriate in
identifying or selecting suitable candidates, such as referrals from existing
directors, advertising, recommendations from third-party agency firm and
proposals from shareholders of the Company with due consideration given
to the Factors;

the Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems appropriate in
evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such as interviews, background
checks, presentations and third party reference checks;

the proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary personal
information for the Nomination Committee’s consideration. The
Nomination Committee may request the candidate(s) to provide additional
information and documents, if considered necessary;

upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the Nomination
Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if
thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board for appointment;

Nomination Committee will provide the relevant information of the selected
candidate to the remuneration committee of the Company for consideration
of remuneration package of such selected candidate;

the Nomination Committee will thereafter make the recommendation to the
Board in relation to the proposed appointment, and where a non-executive
director is considered, the remuneration committee of the Company will
make the recommendation to the Board on the proposed remuneration
package;

the Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be interviewed by the
members of the Board who are not members of the Nomination Committee;
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Nomination Procedures

Review

(h)  the Board will thereafter deliberate and decide the appointment or a
shareholder circular will be issued and sent to shareholders of the Company
in order to provide information of the candidates nominated by the Board
to stand for election at a general meeting and to invite nominations from
shareholders (as the case may be);

(i)  shareholder can serve a notice to the Company within the lodgement period
of its intention to propose a resolution to elect a certain person as a director,
without the Board’s recommendation or the Nomination Committee’s
consideration and nomination, other than those candidates set out in the
shareholder circular. The particulars of the candidates so proposed will be
sent to all shareholders for information by a supplementary circular; and

()  all appointment of directors will be confirmed by the filing of the consent to
act as director of the relevant director (or any other similar filings requiring
the relevant director to acknowledge or accept the appointment as director,
as the case may be) to be filed with the Companies Registry of Hong Kong
and updating the Register of Directors of the Company. The director shall
consent to the public disclosure of their personal data on any documents or
announcements in the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to
their appointment as a director.

- The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to the appointment
of directors and its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any
general meeting.

The Nomination Committee will review this Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of this Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that
may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.
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The Board has also adopted the Board Diversity Policy in order to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.

Board Diversity Policy

Vision

Policy Statement

Measurable Objectives

Review

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members to
enhance the quality of its performance. The Company upholds that a high performing
board is one that composes directors with the combination of competencies and diversity
of perspectives aligning with the Company’s strategy and objectives, and which is in the
best position to deal with the key issues that the Company faces.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees
increasing diversity at the board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the Board’s
composition, board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, independence from
or relationship with other members of the Board, experience (professional or otherwise),
skills, knowledge and length of service. All board appointments will be made on a merit
basis but the Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the needs of the Company’s business.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, independence from or
relationship with other members of the Board, experience (professional or otherwise),
skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Board’s
composition (including gender, ethnicity, age, length of service) will be disclosed in the
corporate governance report annually.

The Nomination Committee will review this Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of this Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that
may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

In assessing, selecting and recommending suitable candidates to fill in vacancies for directorship and/or re-election of retiring directors to

the Board during the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee followed the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity

Policy. The Nomination Committee considered, including but not limited to, the candidate’s social diversity (e.g. gender, race and age

diversity), professional qualifications, regional and industry experience, reputation and integrity, time commitment and other potential

contributions bring to the Board, the factors set out in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time), etc. The

Company upholds that a high performing board composes directors with the combination of competencies and diversity of perspectives

aligning with the Company’s strategy and objectives, and which is in the best position to deal with the major issues that the Company faces.
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Citychamp Watch & Jewellery Group Limited (the “Company”) has established a risk management committee of (the “Risk Management
Committee”), terms of reference of which have been adopted by the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) pursuant to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the Risk Management Committee comprised following
members:

Executive Directors

Teguh Halim (Committee Chairman) (appointed on 27 March 2024)
Sit Lai Hei (resigned on 27 March 2024)

Hao Xiaohui (resigned on 27 March 2024)

Shi Tao

Bi Bo (reigned on 3 March 2023)

Siu Chun Wa (appointed on 27 March 2024)

AUTHORITY AND DUTIES

The Risk Management Committee, under the delegation of the Board, oversees the Group’s risk management system, and conducts
periodic reviews of such system to minimise potential risks that may occur and ultimately ensure good corporate governance practice. In
accordance with the Group’s development strategy, we have established a risk management system covering all business segments to assess
and manage various risks in the Group’s business activities. The Risk Management Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
perform its responsibilities, such as seeking independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, where necessary. The duties of
the Risk Management Committee are set out as follows:

- assist the Board to evaluate and determine the nature and extent of the risks the Group is willing to take in achieving the strategic
objectives;

- ensure that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk management systems; oversee management in the
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management systems of the Group;

- ensure that management provides confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of these systems;
- oversee the Group’s risk management systems on an ongoing basis, and ensure that a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management systems is conducted at least once annually, which should cover all material controls, including financial, operational

and compliance controls;

- identify and consider significant risks to which the Group is exposed, and develop plans and measures to mitigate such significant
risks;

- review the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its business, the
external environment and new risks from time to time; and

- report to the Board on any material adverse findings related to risk management of the Group, and make recommendations for
improvement.
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Work done in 2023
During the year ended 31 December 2023, two meetings were held and the individual attendance of each member is set out below:

Attendance/

number of

Members meeting(s) held
Teguh Halim (Committee Chairman) (appointed on 27 March 2024) -
Sit Lai Hei (resigned on 27 March 2024) 2/2
Hao Xiaohui (resigned on 27 March 2024) 2/2
Shi Tao 2/2

Bi Bo (resigned on 3 March 2023) -
Siu Chun Wa (appointed on 27 March 2024) _

Risk Assessment

Risk assessment is the process of identifying and evaluating risks and determining how to manage these risks. At every level within the
Group are both internal and external risks that could prevent the accomplishment of established objectives. Ideally, management should
seek to prevent these risks. However, sometimes we cannot prevent the risk from occurring. In such cases, we decide whether to accept the
risk, reduce the risk to acceptable levels, transfer the risk through taking out insurance or avoid the risk. To have reasonable assurance that
the Group will achieve its objectives, we ensure each risk is assessed and handled properly.
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The following risks are the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and the Board will monitor the situation closely and adopt

any necessary risk mitigation measures.

Economy risk

Key Challenges

Key Controls

Numerous challenges for both macro-economic outlook and market conditions, domestically or
globally may result in a decrease in consumer spending in watches and may lead to a material
adverse effect upon the Group’s business and results of operations

Redefine the strategic mix to deal with the ever-changing economy
Closely monitor the impact of the recent economic trend
Explore different revenue streams and value-added services for our customers

Industry risk

Key Challenges

Key Controls

For the watch industry

Rapid changing market trends and competition amongst different players domestically or globally
Highly competitive market, and the pricing of and demand for our watches are greatly affected by
the intensity of competition

Strong competitive edge in terms of financial positions, technology, design, customer relationship
of our competitors

For the financial industry

Intense competition

For the watch industry

Strengthen our products, distributions and our marketing as a whole

For the financial industry

Maintain a strong team of compliance, risk management and internal audit so that it can remain a
secure and sustainable institution
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E-commerce risk

Key Challenges
Key Controls

Reshape the traditional distribution model of the segment of watches and timepieces

Invests providently to maintain its competitive competence across all e-commerce platforms
Invests in e-commerce and new marketing approaches, such as social media and mobile
marketing in the foreseeable future

Interest rate risk

Key Challenges

Key Controls

Fluctuate of the fair value or cash flows of a financial instrument due to changes in market interest
rates
Manage by taking into account market conditions and controlled at a reasonable level

Keep monitoring the trend of interest rate of the global capital markets and adjust the mix of
fixed-rate interest-bearing loans accordingly

Optimize the maturity structure of deposits and take the initiative to manage sensitive gaps in
interest rates for the overall objective of achieving steady growth both in net interest income and
economic value within a tolerable level of interest rate risk

Exchange rate risk

Key Challenges

Key Controls

Sales are dominated in Renminbi and some of our purchases are made in other currencies such as
Swiss Francs

Fluctuate in exchange rates of foreign currencies may affect our customers’ purchasing power and
their willingness to purchase watches

Affects the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument

Monitors the foreign exchange exposure continuously

Legal risk

Key Challenges

Key Controls

Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in imposition of conditions on or the
suspension of sales or seizure of products, or significant penalties or claims. In the event that the
countries in which we operate increase the stringency of such laws and regulations, our operating
costs may increase and we may not be able to pass these additional costs onto our customer

Reviews the Group’s compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements including
the internal rules and directives, the Stock Exchange Code/Code on Takeovers and Mergers and
Share Buy-backs, the Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance and the Securities and Futures
Ordinance during the process of reviewing the financial statements

Engage external legal advisors to assist in managing the legal risks
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Intellectual property rights risk

Key Challenges . Insufficient protection with various government authorities of the different jurisdictions in which
we conduct business
Key Controls . Dedicate to work with professionals to protect our intellectual property rights all over the world
Operational risk
Key Challenges . Potential of loss resulting from impact of external events and/or inadequacies in the areas of
internal processes, manpower and systems
Key Controls . Achieve “industrial strength” process and standards for all activities, and benchmark practices
against peers, other industries and regulatory requirements
. Manage by means of internal control procedures and directives
Credit risk
Key Challenges For the non-banking and financial businesses
. Large proportion of customers’ credit terms are mainly on credit and the credit period is generally
for a period of one to six months for major customers
. Affect the account receivable by the general economic conditions in the geographies in which the
Group operates
For the banking business
. Determines based on the combination of the internal and external credit rating, the average debt
recovery, peer review information and comparison with publically available date
. Subject to concentration risk
Key Controls For the non-banking and financial businesses

. Trades only with recognized and creditworthy parties in order to minimize the credit risk

. Set limits on the exposure to any counterparty and credit risk

. Follow up the delinquent account receivable based on established internal system

For the banking business

. Grants collateralized loans generally

. Approves and monitors the loans by the relevant managers, the credit committee and ultimately
the board of the directors of Bendura Bank

. Implements a framework to provide a holistic view of the credit risks, which assess credit risks

against key criteria
. Employs the standardized processes to oversee compliance with the risk requirements
. Monitor the financial position of the borrowers regularly
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Equity price risk

Key Challenges

Key Controls

Fluctuate of the fair values or future cash flows of a financial instrument due to the changes in its
market price, other than those unlisted equity investments held for strategic purposes and those
valued at quoted market prices at the end of reporting period

Monitor the price fluctuation of the listed equity instruments
Establish appropriate exit strategies

Liquidity risk

Key Challenges

Key Controls

Insufficient financial resources available to meet our obligation as they fall due, or we only access
these financial resources at excessive cost

Maintain adequate liquidity at all times in all geographical locations and for all currencies, and
hence to be in a position to meet obligations as they fall due

Analyze Liquid assets, liquidity coverage ratio and leverage ratio against the regulatory
requirements and present to the Board and senior management on a regularly basis

Projects cash flows in major currencies and consider the level of group’s liquidity management
policy

Inventory risk

Key Challenges

Key Controls

Fail to meet the changing consumer preferences and market trends, slow-moving inventory and
volume of obsolete will increase, and either sell off such inventory at a lower price or write off
such inventory, in the event of which our performance may be materially and adversely affected

Enhance sales efficiency at distribution outlet level

Improve overall inventory management with more rapid information exchange between the
distribution outlet, the regional sale office and the headquarters to maintain inventory at an
optimal level

Concentration risk

Key Challenges
Key Controls

Subject to concentration risk if the bond portfolio is not diversified

Composed of bonds with different maturity, geography, segment and currency for the bond
portfolio of Bendura Bank

Analyse the risk concentration on assets and liabilities sides

Present the report on different attributes of the bond portfolio to the Board and senior management
on a monthly basis
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Fax: +852 2815 2239
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Hong Kong
TEE : +852 2218 8288 &E
{8H : +852 2815 2239 FEEEH11157
www.bdo.com.hk KERHI2518
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TO THE MEMBERS OF CITYCHAMP WATCH &
JEWELLERY GROUP LIMITED

(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Citychamp Watch &
Jewellery Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the
Group”) set out on pages 149 to 338, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Impairment assessment on goodwill and intangible assets

Refer to notes 30 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements respectively
and the material accounting policy information in notes 4.4, 4.5 and 4.9 to the
consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had goodwill and intangible assets with
carrying amounts of HK$1,150,672,000 and HK$105,693,000 respectively
arising from the acquisitions of bank, watch and watch accessories businesses.

Management will perform impairment assessment on the amount of goodwill
and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives at least annually, and will
perform impairment assessment when there is an indication that goodwill or
intangible assets may be impaired. For the purpose of assessing impairment,
management assessed the recoverable amount of these assets based on higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. These assets were allocated
to cash generating units (“CGU”), and the recoverable amount of each CGU was
determined by management based on value-in-use calculations using cash flow
projections.

The impairment test involves significant judgements and assumptions by the
management under the value-in-use calculation.

Management concluded that, based on the impairment assessment, impairment
losses of HK$13,389,000 would be recognised for the year.

Our response

Our procedures on the management’s impairment assessment on goodwill and
intangible assets included:

(i)  Assessing the reasonableness of market data, discount rates and growth
rates applied in determining the recoverable amount;

(i)  Challenging the reasonableness of other key assumptions based on our
knowledge of the business and industry; and

(i)  Checking input data to supporting evidence, such as approved budgets and
considering the reasonableness of these budgets.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities in the regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

. obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

. evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

. conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern

basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, action taken to eliminate threats
or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Kwok Wai
Practising Certificate Number P06047
Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HaamBAE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{%F — % — =4F+ = +—H IL4FE
2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
Fh 51 Tt TUs I
Interest and dividend income from banking SRATHENS 2 LR BB B A
business 358,881 151,157
Interest expenses from banking business SRAT M 2 F B B 32 (72,913) (17,631)
Net interest and dividend income from AT EB Z A B K
banking business % BB 7a 285,968 133,526
Service fees and commission income from SRAT S 2 MR s I
banking business i A 198,823 197,450
Service fees and commission expenses from SRAT S 2 s K
banking business LiEA 3 (26,904) (32,087)
Net service fees and commission income SRATSE B Z IR B K
from banking business iR R | 7b 171,919 165,363
Trading income from banking business SRATERS 2 58 A Tc 33,907 38,631
Service fees and commission income from & R ZETS 2 s B I
financial business i U A 7d 12 949
Interest income from financial business & R ZETS 2 A B A 7d 33 173
Sales of goods from non-banking and financial — FF $R17 S <& il ZEHS 2
businesses e B U A Te 1,113,945 1,248,281
Rental income from non-banking and financial ~— JF #8197 X & Rl 2675 2
businesses FH B WA Te 23,275 20,465
Total revenue e A 1,629,059 1,607,388
Cost of sales from non-banking and FEERIT R EREHS 2
financial businesses B B LA (514,001) (604,727)
Other income and other net gains or losses At e A T At i 4 58
Jis 15 5 8 77,255 15,916
Selling and distribution expenses s Kot E A (376,358) (448,443)
Administrative expenses TEE A (667,762) (626,594)
Share of profit/(loss) of joint ventures JE A & A 2w A
(718) 26 5 (28)
Share of profit of associates R A B 25 ) i ) 27 13,842 16,740
Finance costs from non-banking business FFERAT EH 2 BA s B 9 (78,242) (70,532)
Profit/(loss) before income tax W e 23 B G 38k A1 O 481 10 83,798 (110,280)
Income tax expense A5 B B 52 11 (20,539) (9,157)
Profit/(loss) for the year AAEERF S (BE) 63,259 (119,437)
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B Az B A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4

2023 2022
e Y —EF
Notes HK$°000 HKS$°000
it Tt THE T
Other comprehensive income H At 2 v B A
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified A~ & it H 4% B H /0 &
to profit or loss T A 5% s 15 2 TH H
— Remeasurement of net defined benefit — H TR A FE AR A
obligations AR 15.2 (4,962) 30,123
— Change in fair value of financial assets at — & A TEFEA A
fair value through other AT A Z 4 Rl &
comprehensive income ONTE S E) 20 (10,308) (118,001)
(15,270) (87,878)
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to 7] fg it H 2 H B 0 &
profit or loss i 1) B e 15 2 JH H
— Exchange differences on translation to — I 25 W T S 5
presentation currency 115,100 (144,540)
— Share of other comprehensive income — JE A B F 2 HoAh
of associates PN 27 (2,633) (153)
112,467 (144,693)
Other comprehensive income for the year AR AP B b 2 B 97,197 (232,571)
Total comprehensive income for the year A A BE A T WO\ B 160,456 (352,008)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: DL N b A AR 4 B
#if Ok R) :
Owners of the Company E/NCIE 2SN 45,100 (111,051)
Non-controlling interests I 2 A 2 18,159 (8,386)
63,259 (119,437)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

A Az B A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{%F — % — =4F+ = +—H IL4FE

2023 2022
Notes HKS$°000 HK$°000
it T#oc THE T
Total comprehensive income for the year DL N - A AR 4 2
attributable to: ST BB -
Owners of the Company N/NEEIE7 Z DN 131,496 (329,347)
Non-controlling interests I 42 PR E £ 28,960 (22,661)
160,456 (352,008)
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to A oy i) BEA N REAG B i
owners of the Company BA (EiR) 14
— Basic — A HK1.04 cents HK(2.55) cents
1.04 ¥ il (2.55) #sAill
— Diluted — HK1.04 cents HK(2.55) cents

1.04 #: Al

(2.55) %Al
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B BN DL

As at 31 December 2023 A % =4+ " H=+—H

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
! Tt THsTT
Assets g3
Cash and deposits Bl 4 B A7 5K 17 3,761,431 4,314,638
Due from clients JEW & R IE 18 2,877,929 2,678,772
Due from banks JRE s SR AT B IE 18 2,222,968 1,929,640
Trading portfolio investments o EHE 19 27,558 28,093
Financial assets at fair value through Fe A PAE FEA H A 4 1H
other comprehensive income WA Z 45 il B 20 285,627 296,080
Financial assets at fair value through F O FEREA G A 5548 2
profit or loss & G 21 32,410 =
Derivative financial assets T A 4 Tl 22 5,136 2,888
Trade receivables JE T B K 23 442,941 336,640
Other financial assets at amortised cost Fie 8 B AR 51 iR 2 Ho At
45 Rl A E 24 1,878,805 1,571,725
Inventories & 25 1,805,899 1,935,923
Income tax recoverable CINqENREY ) — 218
Interests in joint ventures B A & 8 A 2 4R 26 496 491
Interests in associates JIT A W 2 ) R A 27 108,411 122,202
Property, plant and equipment W BB KR 28 1,297,608 1,285,314
Investment properties ®EYE 29 166,370 170,906
Intangible assets T G 30 105,693 43,254
Goodwill Gk 31 1,150,672 1,092,012
Deferred tax assets % JE B TEUE 41 16,019 8,585
Assets of a disposal group held for sale A 8 2 B 4R R 39 = 24,988
Non-current assets held for sales FRE & 2 FE g & 40 - 5,138
Other assets HoA & 32 345,033 309,736
Total assets A 16,531,006 16,157,243
Liabilities £
Due to banks JREAT R AT ZRIA = 1,099
Due to clients JEEAH % 5 3R IE 33 10,155,311 9,987,678
Financial liabilities at fair value through F N B RE A B 5k s 48 2
profit or loss 4 Rl A R 21 44,905 =
Derivative financial liabilities i 4 i A 1 22 49,318 12,622
Trade payables JRE A B K 34 207,230 198,994
Contract liabilities BHAME 35 11,846 41,946
Income tax payables JEAT PR ASBE 44,198 36,878
Borrowings ERsS 36 681,254 958,135
Provisions T 37 4,812 387
Lease liabilities HE A 38 49,026 48,886
Deferred tax liabilities % AT ol TH R 41 68,561 52,776
Due to a shareholder JRE ) — 44 % R K 48 9,025 12,000
Due to directors JiE A 3 = A 48 66,772 81,515
Other liabilities HoAth & f§ 42 773,454 545,466
Total liabilities M 12,165,712 11,978,382
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AR A BEIR DL

As at 31 December 2023 A ~ % =4+ - H=+—H

2023 2022
B4 SR
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
Ff 5 T T THs o0
Equity HE 4
Equity attributable to owners of A2 ) B A N WA HE i
the Company

Share capital &S 43 435,189 435,189
Reserves it fhi 44 3,731,511 3,577,624
4,166,700 4,012,813
Non-controlling interests IE 122 15 o 2 198,594 166,048
Total equity HE 25 2870 4,365,294 4,178,861
Total liabilities and equity £ B R £ L 16,531,006 16,157,243

The consolidated financial statements on pages 149 to 338 were approved and 4 149 % 338 B 2 42 & WIS i 38 it — & —PU4F —
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2024 and are signed on ~ H — & F ##5 &5 € fib v R A% HEF] 25 5 3if g LA

its behalf by: TEHERERE
Hon Kwok Lung Siu Chun Wa
B HE [
Director Director

HF EH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4

Equity attibutable of the Company

ALl ER
Fair value
through ~~ Revaluation
other teserve for
Share Goodwill comprehensive Property, Non-
Share premium Other arising on Statutory Exchange income plantand Retained controlling Total
capital account* reserve*  consolidation* reserve* reserve* reserve® equipment* profits* Total interests eqity
BATHE
ARl 0E RE
& GAKA AfilA Restlh
ik MR fbREe  EfzEBe  EERE HERE G BB RERA &t FEREE  BEYE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T Tk T T T T T T T Tk Tk Tk
(note 43) (note 44) (note 44) (note 44) (note 44) (note 44) (note 44) (note 44)
(W) (e R 0N O (e (b s
Balance at 1 January 2022 REBZZE-A-RZGR #5189 682,08 (35379) (15,300) 106,209 1804 40 34916 3,147,655 436113 262407 463540
Transactions with owners LL N Y]
Dected acquisition of interestin RARREA RS
subsidiaries (note S0(b)) (HEs00) - - (1224)) - - - - - - (124)) (25,768) (38,010)
Deemed disposal of nerest in RALEREATES
subsidiaris (note 50(d) (H&Eso) = - 1779 = = = = = = 1779 3949 5708
Partial acquisiton ofequity ntersts without /MU BE (1 et 1B )
change of ontol (ote 0(e) (3060 - - (15489) - - - - E E (15489) (40453) (55940)
Parial disposal of nterests i subsidiares 7+t 5B A 4 AU &
without Loss ofcontrl (note 30(1) (3 25 R RIAE) (IERE SO - - 6979 - - - - - - 6979 501 12,00
Capital reduction of subsidaries TR ATERNH - - - - - - - - - - (8,800) (8.00)
Disposal o subsiciaie (note 12(b)) HERRAT (Kt 120) - = = - - - = = = = (539) (5.39)
Release of fair value through other R EERREATEALE
comprehensive income reserve upon AR
disposal - - - - - - (6.870) - 6870 - - -
Release of other reserve wponthe isposal - it R A AL R R R
ofsubsidiris Hbels - - (848) - - - - 5 ) = . =
Dividends paidto non-contolling interests i FERERE R MRS - - - - - - - - - - (2.255) (2.255)
Totaltransactions with owners REH AR AR - - (27455) - - - (6870) - 15352 (18973) (73,698) (92,671)
Comprehensive income L3 TON
Loss forthe year AEFER = = = = = = = = (111,01) (111,051) (8,386) (119437)
Other comprehensive income EAETTION
Remeasurement of efined beneft obligarions 47t & E BT - - - - - - - - 2830 2830 1820 013
Chang in fair value of inancial assetsat fair — #6/AF Bt A SR EIAZ
value through other comprebensive income ~ £AEEATHEH - B - - - - (118,001) - - (118,001) = (118001)
Exchange differences on translaton to BELTI KR ELES
presentation currency - - - - - (128,445) - - - (128,445) (16,095) (144,340)
Share of exchange diffrences on translation (kA 54 Al 2 JE 2
of associates - - - - - (153) - - - (153) - (153)
Total comprehensive income for theyear AR R THASH - - - - - (128,59) (118,001) - (82,748) (329.341) (2.661) (352,008)
Balance at 31 December 2022 i St = g =
ka1 3 85189 682,08 (62,834) (15,300) 106,209 (126,794) (120860) 34916 3,080259 4012813 166,048 4178861
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{%F — % — =4F+ = +—H IL4FE

Equity attributable of the Company
KA
Fair value
through ~ Revaluation
other  reservefor
Share Goodwill comprehensive Property, Non-
Share premium Other arising on Statutory Exchange income plant and Retained controlling Total
capital account* reserve®  consolidation* reservet reservet reserve®  equipment* profits* Total inferests equity
HATE
AN R R
R HakH AfiliA Rkl
23 Wk HBEEe  EtzmEe BEb MERE: Bl R RERA: At REREE  BEAE
HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000
Fitn Tt Tt Fitn Tt Ti#n T Tin Ti#n Fitn Tt T
(note 43) (note 44) (note 44) (note 44) (note 44) (note 44) (note 44) (note 44)
(Wka) (W) (R Rk (Wb () (Reke) (W)
Balance at | January 2023 REBZE-A-H2kk 435189 682,028 (62834 (15300) 106,209 (126,794) (120860) 3916 3,080,259 4012813 166,48 4178861
Transactions with owners HEHARS
Dected acquisitionof inerestin REGEREATES
subsidiaries (note S0(a)) (3£ S0() - - (12,776) - - - - - - (12,776) (193%9) (32175)
Decmed disposal of nerest in RELERBATES
subsidiaries (note 50(c) & () (HEs0e) R () - - 17,62 - - - - - - 1762 18,184 35806
Partal disposal ofiterests in subsidores 77t & R 6 A e
withoutloss of control (note S(g)) (L) (Rt so) - - 17,545 - - - - - - 1754 0455 2400
Dividends paid to non-controlling interets 1 # AR IR MH RS - - - - - - - - - - (1,654 (1,654
Totaltransactons with owners ST AR - - 9 - - - - - - 31 3386 197
Comprehensive ncome LI TN
Profi for he year KEERR - - - - - - - - 45,100 45100 18159 63259
Other comprehensive income HERERA
Remeasurement of defined benefi B R RRAEL
obligatons - - - - - - - - (5384) (5384) m 4962)
Change in fair value of financial asses at fair 5£/A VM5t A B2 L
valuethrough other comprehensive income £ EEAT ({5 H - - - - - - (10308) - - (10,30) - (10,308)
Exchange differences on translation to BRZFIEHELZ BER
presentation currency - - - - - 104721 - - - 104,721 10379 115,100
Share ofexchange differences ontranslaton {8 FLR R A 2 IS 2
of associates - - - - - (2,633) - - - (2,633) - (2633)
Total comprehensive income for the year  A4F 2Tl 51 - - - - - 102,088 (10.308) - 3,716 131,49 28960 160456
Balance at 31 December 2023 REBZZEF AR
b4 i ] 435189 682,028 (40443) (15300) 106209 (24.706) (131,168) 3916 3119975 4,166,700 198594 4365294
e These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$3,731,511,000 " A IR FE AR A ISR I R A 2 45 B e
(2022: HK$3,577,624,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 3,731,511,000 % JC (— % — " 4F : 3,577,624,000
WIT) o
#

The entire balance of fair value through other comprehensive income reserve belongs ~ * FE O T (B E A oAt 2 T U A i 2 2 8P 4% B Y
to non-recycling portion. Ji I 45 R 4y o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BABamER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4

2023 2022
TR eE St
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
Fh &1 T#T TH T
Cash flows from operating activities REwmmEl 2B ehE
Profit/(loss) before income tax W T 45 B il i K1 (s 48) 83,798 (110,280)
Adjustments for: ST
Depreciation and amortisation Hres S Ak g 10 93,838 91,476
Provision and impairment losses L WNRERIEN, Ei 70,436 11,703
Net deficit on revaluation of investment B EE A
properties i 4V 29 1,218 9,564
Share of profit of associates JRE AL Bt 2 ) i ) 27 (13,842) (16,740)
Share of (profit)/loss of joint ventures JREAL B A 2E (Al
i} 26 5) 28
Interest income from non-banking business FEERAT T 2 FLE YA 8 797) (415)
Finance costs from non-banking business FEERATEH 2 PAH 9 78,242 70,532
Gain on fair value changes in trading FERITHEDS 2L o M ARG
portfolio investments from non-banking PR {1 5 ) A T
business, net 8 (136) -
Gain on fair value changes on financial i/ /N 1= DN |
assets/liabilities at fair value through ZERERE A
profit or loss (B 53 ) i £ 8 (65,192) =
Gain on disposal of property, plant and Y - RE Kk
equipment Wi 4 8 (1,021) (3,378)
Gain on the modification of leases HE Bz i 8 = 149
(Profit)/loss on disposal of a subsidiary ekl il A
(5 A /G148 12 (2,529) 10,395
Gain on disposal of interest in associates A A A R 2 M fR 2
I 8 (1,349) (423)
Dividend income i B A 8 (10,578) (10,578)
Operating profit before working capital Loy lege AP Gkl
changes 232,083 52,033
Decrease in due to clients JEAST 25 B R I D (157,368) (2,545,007)
(Increase)/decrease in due from clients JRE W % 5 I (B m)
R (132,530) 364,710
Decrease in due to banks JREASF SR AT R T 3 D 1,119) (13,466)
(Increase)/decrease in due from banks JREWCSRAT IE ()
Wb (211,382) 59,219
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables JRE WS B R (388 ) ek (105,850) 10,230
Decrease in inventories R 99,027 179,485
(Increase)/decrease in cash held on behalf of REF R 2 Bl
clients (B b (6,957) 97,968
(Increase)/decrease in other assets HAph & mE (B b (37,027) 76,870
(Increase)/decrease in derivative financial fiiE g ()
assets W (2,122) 30,446
Increase/(decrease) in derivative financial A7 A 4 b & A B,
liabilities ) 29,855 (36,526)
Decrease in trade payables JREAST B S D (2,198) (169,820)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities GHEME R B (30,100) 15,436
Decrease/(increase) in trading portfolio Lo GBS
investments (3% 9m) 822 54,532
Decrease/(increase) in other liabilities HoAh & & (8 157,060 (127,989)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations BEEY (TH) EA
Z Bl (167,806) (1,951,879)
Income tax paid E A Bt (14,469) (6,982)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating #5535 (), EEZ
activities B & F (182,275) (1,958,861)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
B T Bl i
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{%F — % — =4F+ = +—H IL4FE
2023 2022
TR TR AR
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
s T#u THTT
Cash flows from investing activities BREWHEAZHERE
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and Y - RE KR
equipment T 15 K8 3,043 3,892
Dividends received E i S 10,578 10,578
Dividend received from associates EL S 2 4 ) B S 25,000 =
Decrease/(increase) in other financial assets at  F& S A A S s 2 HoAth 4 Fl
amortised cost WY () (259,766) 254,714
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and 5B ¥ ~ k5 Sl LA &
intangible assets TV B (33,788) (92,377)
Interest received from non-banking business FEERAT TS 2 E R B 797 415
Proceeds from disposal of interests in R PTG A EIE 2 T A5
associates FKIH 40 6,487 2,027
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at B 4 OB R A 1) B
fair value through profit or loss W 15 2 4 il P A5 K IE - 89,764
Increase in pledged bank deposits EL A SRAT A7 53 (5,000) -
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from disposal of WEREAFABEERA
subsidiaries (i th) v 12 27,500 (29,600)
Net cash inflow from acquisition of S A J 2 ) B 4 T A VR A
subsidiaries 49 27,628 -
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing — # & %58 (/1) @k
activities Z BB FH (197,521) 239,413
Cash flows from financing activities il B A 2 Bl T B
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Wk B I 2 1 E A 51 (32,175) (93,952)
Interest paid A AL (67,721) (60,198)
Proceeds from borrowings i 5 P 15 3 168,542 419,857
Repayment of principal portion of the R R ARz AT
lease liabilities (22,202) (26,734)
Repayment of borrowings A R (419,607) (600,279)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests Tia] I 442 JROARE 4 UR A . (1,654) (2,255)
Advanced from directors R H#EH 2 Bk 10,223 8,000
Advance from a related company R B — I BE LA 7] 2 B - 60,000
Advance from associates A& B s Fl 2 oK 40,000 36,900
Repayment to associates T B 885 T 3 K - (36,900)
Repayment to a shareholder T] — 44 i SR K (2,975) -
Repayment to directors Ji1) 2 55 4 K (23,860) -
Proceeds from disposal of partial interest in t 5 T A B A ) T 4
subsidiaries without loss of control WE 2 (3 488 2% 2 2 1l
) 2 T % 3K IH - 17,728
Cash paid to non-controlling interests for Tt — [ o 2 ) A 1 Bk
capital reduction of a subsidiary AT T IR R A
4 = (8,800)
Net cash used in financing activities 1 I B I 2 B i (351,429) (286,633)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AABERRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4

2023 2022
SRS [ S
Notes HK$’000 HKS$’000
Fh &1 T T T
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents B4 B B 4 5 P W A (731,225) (2,006,081)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—HHZHEERHE
E3LY)] 4,262,745 6,351,324
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ % 52 B 5 2 15 41 176,378 (82,498)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R+T-H=1+—HZHE&EK
&% EHY 3,707,898 4,262,745
Analysis of balances of cash and cash Bl B B S &5 R 43 B
equivalents
Cash and deposits P& B A7 3k 17 3,749,474 4.314,638
Bank overdraft MITEX 36 (41,576) (51,910)
Cash and deposits included in assets of a A ARE & Z &R
disposal group held for sale &2 B4 Ak 39 = 17
3,707,898 4,262,745
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B B 05 ¥ A Ff

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — &~ =4F+ = H = +—H ILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Citychamp Watch & Jewellery Group Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in Cayman Islands. Its registered
office address is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, South Church Street, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business is
Units 1902-04, Level 19, International Commerce Centre, 1 Austin Road
West, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

During the year, the principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) include:

- Manufacturing and distribution of watches and timepieces and
watch accessories;

- Property investments; and

- Banking and financial businesses.

The Group has completed the disposal of 22.86% equity interests of Shun
Heng Finance Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (“Shun Heng Group”)
for a cash consideration of HK$6,487,000 in February 2023. Details of the
disposal are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has completed the acquisition of 100% equity interests of Gold
Vantage Industries Limited and its subsidiaries (“Gold Vantage Group”)
on 19 April 2023. Details of the acquisition are set out in note 49 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In October 2023, the Group has completed the disposal of the entire equity
interests of Wisdom Power Property Limited (“Wisdom Power”) for a cash
consideration of HK$27,500,000. Details of the disposal are set out in note
12(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

In November 2023, the Group has further completed the acquisition of
Bendura Wealth Management (Hong Kong) Limited (formerly known as
“Challenge Capital Management Limited”) (“Bendura Welath”). Details
of the acquisition are set out in note 49(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Other than the aforementioned transactions, there was no significant
change in the Group’s operations during the year.

The Group’s principal places of the business are in Hong Kong,
Switzerland, United Kingdom, Liechtenstein and the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”).

— & R

T R R B A PR ] ([ A ) A
T B 2 3 s s A B AL 2 A R A B H
2 bl itk £ P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
South Church Street, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands » == %2 % 35 b B 457 2
B s JUREMT - EE P 1 SRR 5 &5 19
HE1902-04 % o AN T AR A 7 W Bt 15 28
G BT A R E (THE A |) B e

SR ALY R B A A (B [ A 4R
M) < 2T aA

- BBk S RFRTEE S DA R S B T B 7
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—  BATRERZEY -

RO ZF = A DB S RE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A B R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(2)

Adoption of new or revised HKFRSs — effective 1 January
2023

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the
following new or revised standards, amendments and interpretations
(the “new or revised HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which are relevant to
and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial statements for
the annual period beginning on 1 January 2023:

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKEFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

HKERS 17 Insurance Contracts

None of these new or amended HKFRSs has a material impact on
the Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior
period. The Group has not early applied any new or amended
HKFRSs that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.
The Group has revisited its accounting policy information and has
not disclosed certain immaterial accounting policies.

2. PRANE VB R L (17 v S
B e oty e 10 1)

(@

73O THIE S S HECRI IR £ 4
BAU-R_-F=HF—HHAE
%

JAAAEEE > ARG E W LA T i
T E R A g (&g st A
& ) B BT B AR T A~
I B B (17 AT s AR AE 3T 7 s i 5
Wk R ]) o RZ R B AL
e MBEEMARLE® % ==
F—H — H BG4 B I A%

FEEHEAE R BT RRRHNE

—SHZRAEA
FEGHENSEIR  GHERNE
FRAHREEN
s A B
FRETHENASHZ BT etttk
FEGHENE LR BT AR-LHEEN
K& I (AR
BEfE
FEMBREENSE R RRAY

% S T AT AR A BT A s T S A
SUPREAS & S5 2 ) i s b — 0 )
ZHEBRAFIR UL E LR -
A I I S 4R R A AT A
S0 IHD 180 R A 2 2 AT B AE BT e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fo S B A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{%F — % — =4F+ = +—H IL4FE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective
The following new or revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, have been issued but
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current'

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants'
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
(Revised) Classification by the Borrower of a

Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause!
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Liability in a Sale and Leaseback!

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
Amendments to HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements’
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the sale or

contribution of assets occurring in annual periods beginning on or

after a date to be determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A B R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current

The amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current. The amendments specify that if an
entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the
entity complying with specified conditions, the entity has a right
to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting period
if it complies with those conditions at that date. Classification of a
liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a liability.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

The amendments modify the requirements introduced by the
amendments to HKAS 1 issued in 2020, Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current (“the 2020 Amendments”) on how an
entity classifies debt and other financial liabilities with covenants as
current or non-current. The amendments specify that only covenants
with which the entity is required to comply with on or before
the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
date. Covenants which are required to comply with only after the
reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at the end of
the reporting period.

Hong Kong Interpretation S (Revised), Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) was revised as a consequence
of the amendments to HKAS 1 issued in August 2020. The revision
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) updates the wordings in
the interpretation to align with the amendments to HKAS 1 with no
change in conclusion and do not change the existing requirements.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 16, Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

The amendments add subsequent measurement requirements for
a sale and leaseback transaction, where the transfer of the asset
satisfies the requirements in HKFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers to be accounted for as a sale. HKFRS 16 includes
requirements on how to account for a sale and leaseback at the date
the transaction takes place. However, HKFRS 16 had not specified
how to measure the transaction when reporting after that date. The
amendments add to the sale and leaseback requirements in HKFRS
16, thereby supporting the consistent application of the accounting
standard.

Amendments to HKAS 21, Lack of Exchangeability

The amendments clarify how an entity should assess whether
a currency is exchangeable and how it should determine a spot
exchange rate when exchangeability is lacking, as well as require
the disclosure of information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable.

Amendments to HKFRS 7, Supplier Finance Arrangements

The amendments clarify the characteristics of supplier finance
arrangements and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are
intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding the
effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities,
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application
of the amendments is permitted. The amendments provide
certain transition reliefs regarding comparative information and
quantitative information as at the beginning of the annual reporting
period and interim disclosures. Based on a preliminary assessment,
the amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or Contribution
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is a sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture. When the transaction with an associate or joint
venture that is accounted for using the equity method, any gains or
losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does
not contain a business are recognised in the profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate
or joint venture. Similarly, any gains or losses resulting from
the remeasurement of retained interest in any former subsidiary
(that has become an associate or a joint venture) to fair value are
recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors’ interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The Group is in the progress of making assessments of the potential
impact of these new or revised HKFRSs upon initial application.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

3.1

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRS”) issued
by the HKICPA. The consolidated financial statements also
included the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

3.2

S

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments, which are measured at fair value. The
adoption of new or revised HKFRSs and the impacts on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed in
note 2.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are
used in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and actions, actual results may
ultimately differ from those estimates.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
Dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(“HK$’0007) unless otherwise stated.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

4.1

Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group companies together with
unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
from the effective dates of acquisition or up to the effective dates
of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made
to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with those used by other members of the Group.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.1

Business combination and basis of consolidation (Continued)
Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using
acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the
acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquire is re-measured at
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses are
recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-
by-transaction basis, to measure non-controlling interest that
represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value unless another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.
Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless they are
incurred in issuing equity instruments, in which case the costs are
deducted from equity.

In respect of a business combination which took place during the
year ended 31 December 2023, the vendor undertakes to reimburse
to the Group the shortfall between the target financial performance
and the actual financial performance of the acquiree, by reducing
the amount of consideration to be paid by the Group to the vendor
and potentially by cash (referred to as profit compensation in note
49(a) to the consolidated financial statements for the details),
the arrangement of such profit compensation was accounted for
financial liabilities or assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interest and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests is adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

4. HEREEHBORE R @)

4.1

G Bbn A B ()

WS i O ) S AR T M RS 51
AR o — JEISCI 2 JLAR T $ P e
FE ~ PR AR AR (T Wi
U7) BAT Z BHER WU B 2 A FE
KRR o B s T o BT
RSB AU R R E AT E
o AR I 5 TP R B O T 2
JRAE AN H AR R &
T T 728 A 22 Wi 5 £ 0 9 )
Js R A TERE - ANSE B I R )
FLHE AR LIS T7 2 vl s
T3 B (B S AL B 5 AR 3R
7% BT B > ) BT A HEAE 4 2 JF 4
FBCHE £ o IR A s S i At TR S
A 75— wh R YESN - B HoAl
12 JBOHE £ 4 ¥ O3 - (HRH R o P
A 2 WS AR TR A B B 52> iR
BEAT A TR IR A 2 AR Ab
TERCTE DL R > WUASTA B 2 P B

mEE —_F - =F#+_H=+—H
IR R A A E - B
TR 16] A% 55 [ 4 A8 i Oy 2 B AR
WA TS S Ao BB IR B 2 A 2 T I 25
B IR AR S A By A
ZACMESRE o MG AT RE LB 4 S A (RE
a2 B 45 A B R B 5 49(a)
Z U R - 5% 0 R 08 L PE AR
BN FE wE A A 8k 18 2 4l
BES A E o

7B [ T A R S R i 2 S ) (I
A B % P I HE) B A B 2 52
B o AR SR [ 2 A f L £ PO i
ZIRTAI(E T DL o DAS R
WiFJ 2~ ) 2 AR HE 4 52 B o JRHE MG
SR 2 9B BB O SO Bt
EATPHEZ A2 HEE
A HESE P RERD > 0BT IR A AN A ] e
AN



167

CITYCHAMP WATCH & JEWELLERY GROUP LIMITED

e I S S R T A I A B )

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fo S B A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{%F — % — =4F+ = +—H IL4FE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.1

4.2

4.3

Business combination and basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted
for in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or
liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling
interests that represent present ownership interests is the
amount of those interests at initial recognition plus such non-
controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Subsidiaries

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor a joint arrangement.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint
control over those policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method whereby they
are initially recognised at cost and thereafter, their carrying amount
are adjusted for the Group’s share of the post-acquisition change
in the associates’ net assets except that losses in excess of the
Group’s interest in the associate are not recognised unless there is
an obligation to make good those losses.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.3

4.4

Associates (Continued)

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Group and its
associates are recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’
interests in the associate. The investor’s share in the associate’s
profits and losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated
against the carrying value of the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the
Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in the carrying
amount of the associate. Where there is objective evidence that the
investment in an associate has been impaired, the carrying amount
of the investment is tested for impairment in the same way as other
non-financial assets. Accounting policies on impairment of interests
in associates are described in note 4.5 below.

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of the
aggregate of the fair value of consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests in the acquire and the
acquisition date fair value of the Group’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree over the fair value of identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired. The consideration
transferred is measured at the aggregate of fair values, at the date of
exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities exceed the fair value of consideration paid, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the acquisition
date fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree, the excess is recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition
date, after re-assessment.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.4

Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash generating
units (“CGU”) that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the acquisition. A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets
that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets. A CGU to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the CGU
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the
CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets on pro-rata
basis over the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. However,
the loss allocated to each asset will not reduce the individual asset’s
carrying amount to below its fair value less cost of disposal (if
measurable) or its value-in-use (if determinable), whichever is the
higher. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or
loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.5

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of the following assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

. property, plant and equipment;

. intangible assets; and

. interests in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less costs
of disposal and value-in-use) of an asset is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount under another HKFRS, in which case the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount to the extent that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss immediately.

Value-in-use is based on the estimated future cash flows expected
to be derived from the asset or CGU (note 4.4), discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset or CGU.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.6 Property, plant and equipment
Buildings held for own use which are situated on leasehold land,
where the fair value of the buildings could be measured separately
from the fair value of the leasehold land at the inception of the lease,
and other items of plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress (“CIP”), are stated at acquisition cost less accumulated
depreciation and any identified impairment.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to the working condition and
location for its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss in the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less their estimated
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

Right-of-use assets Over the terms of the leases or estimated
useful life ranging between 3 to 50
years, whichever is shorter

Land and buildings Over the terms of the leases or estimated
useful life, ranging between 10 years
and 50 years, whichever is shorter

Leasehold Over the terms of the leases, or estimated
improvements useful life of 5 years, whichever is
shorter

Plant and machinery 6% to 20%

Furniture, fixtures and 6% to 50%
office equipment

Motor vehicles 9% to 30%

The assets’ estimated useful lives, estimated residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.6

4.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

CIP, which mainly represents renovation work on buildings and
installation of machinery, is stated at cost less any impairment
losses. Cost comprises direct costs incurred during the periods
of construction, installation and testing. CIP is reclassified to
the appropriate class of property, plant and equipment when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the assets for
their intended use are completed. No depreciation is provided for in
respect of CIP until it is completed and ready for its intended use.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined
as the difference between the net sale proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment property is measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment property is stated at fair value. Fair
value is determined by external professional valuers, with sufficient
experience with respect to both the location and the nature of
the investment property. The carrying amounts recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position reflect the prevailing
market conditions at the reporting date.

Gains or losses arising from either change in the fair value or the
sale of an investment property are included in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.8

Leasing

Accounting as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting
policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i)
leases which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not
to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value
assets and leases for which at the commencement date have a lease
term 12 months or less and do not contain purchase option. The
lease payments associated with those leases have been expensed on
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets should be recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability (see below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liability); (ii) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any
initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of
costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. Except for right-of-use asset that meets the definition of
an investment property or a class of property, plant and equipment to
which the Group applies the revaluation model, the Group measures
the right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under the cost
model, the Group measures the right-to-use assets at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liability.

The Group accounts for leasehold land and buildings that are held
for rental or capital appreciation purpose under HKAS 40 and are
carried at fair value.

4.

HOR & ah BORE B )

4.8

il

e AN Z & 51 g BE 5 5K

T A L& Y 2R BA S IR 0 2R T AR
Al 5 (5 P W i T R B B - MR
B Gt BUR BRI - UBIERE
ARAL (i) B dE R R 2 AR & 8K (i)
AH B & E R KB E R - AL
EL 2 P N S (E e K &
BA A H A 2 1248 A s 2L HF 4
B i B R > T e R AR
B M B o BLRZ A B AR 2
AR AT E A FE B WA ELAR L S8 -

5 HE %5

{1 FHHE 5 e AR R M £
& () HEARZYEF =S5 (7
IO E A EARZ GFTBUEK) ;
(i) 74 B G F A 81 2 /AR 2 AE T
FRE AT > B R 2 AT o 7 1R 48
JBh 5 (iid) AR 2 A 2 AT ] ) 4 B B2
B % (iv) AR R 3 B K B [ A
I 5 A B G R BR  PT B E 22
ARDLIRE G T 2 A Z Al R RAS (B FE 5%
GWMAT) WA BMEA) © BRAT
A B W S FE 00 {0 RE L AR
42 [ 1 P SR L B 1 1 2E - R K
AU S > A< 4 [ R A A Y
FrE I REE E o ARIE AR
S A [ R A A P RE R EE - I
W EATAT BT AT s (E G 1R
DR AR B A 2 AT ] R A
TiE -

AL B R B SR A THE &
9 EL T - i A AR R A g R
R 56 40 5% AR Be 4% A SF{E SR -



TR T TARAEW 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

174

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A B R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.8

Leasing (Continued)

Lease liabilities

The lease liabilities are recognised at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement of the lease.
The lease payments are discounted using the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying asset
during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date
of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments
less any lease incentives receivable: (ii) variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be payable
by the lessee under residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price
of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
that option and (v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liabilities by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liabilities; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the carrying
amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, or to
reflect revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of any lease
(because, for example, it re-assesses the probability of a lessee
extension or termination option being exercised), it adjusts the
carrying amount of the lease liability to reflect the payments to make
over the revised term, which are discounted using a revised discount
rate.

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease
with the lessor, if the renegotiation results in one or more
additional assets being leased for an amount commensurate with
the standalone price for the additional rights-of-use obtained, the
modification is accounted for as a separate lease, in all other cases,
where the renegotiated increases the scope of the lease (whether that
is an extension to the lease term, or one or more additional assets
being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using the discount
rate applicable on the modification date, with the right-of-use asset
being adjusted by the same amount.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

The Group has leased out its investment properties to a number
of tenants. Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception
whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying
assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified as an

4.8 Leasing (Continued)
Accounting as a lessor
term.
operating lease.

4.9 Intangible assets

(i)  Acquired intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is fair value at the date of acquisition.
Subsequently, intangible assets with definite useful lives
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over
their useful lives as follows. The amortisation expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Supplier and distribution networks 10 years
Brand names 10 years or indefinite

useful lives

4.

Patents 10 years
Computer software 3 years
Customer relationship 3 years
Technical Knowhow 10 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives shall not be

amortised.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at

cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.9
(i)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Impairment

Intangible assets with definite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an asset may
be impaired. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually, irrespective of whether there is any
indication that they may be impaired. Intangible assets are
tested for impairment by comparing their carrying amounts
with their recoverable amounts (note 4.5).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount; however, the carrying amount should
not be increased above the lower of its recoverable amount
and the carrying amount that would have resulted had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
All reversals are recognised in the profit or loss immediately.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments

(@

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a
significant financing component) is initially measured at fair
value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable
to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a
significant financing component is initially measured at the
transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirely when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective interest method.
Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss
on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(@

Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVPL include financial assets held for trading, financial
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling
or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
solely payments of principal and interest are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt
instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income, as described above,
debt instruments may be designated at fair value through
profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not
held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in
other comprehensive income. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis. Equity investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income are measured at
fair value. Dividend income are recognised in profit or loss
unless the dividend income clearly represents a recovery of
part of the cost of the investments. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income and are not
reclassified to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are
classified as FVPL, whereby changes in fair value, dividends
and interest income are recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
loss (“ECL”) on trade receivables, financial assets
measured at amortised cost and debt investments measured
at FVOCI. The ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result
from possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that
result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period
over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at
an approximation to the assets’ original effective interest
rate.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has calculated
ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For other debt financial assets at amortised cost or at FVOCI,
the ECLs are based on the 12-months ECLs. However, when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

For the due from clients and due from banks, except for
precious metal, ECL is determined by reference to the
estimation of the exposure at default (“EAD”), probability
of default (“PD”) as well as a loss given default
(“LGD”). The 12-months and lifetime PDs represent the
probability of default occurring over the next 12 months and
the remaining maturity of the instrument respectively. The
EAD represents the expected balance at default, taking into
account the repayment of principal and interest from the
reporting date to the default event together with any expected
drawdowns of committed facilities. The LGD represents
expected losses on the EAD given the event of default, taking
into account, among other attributes, the mitigating effect of
collateral value at the time it is expected to be realised and the
time value of money.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

4. HEREEHBORE R @)

410 4T H (4)

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly

since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on

their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in a

financial instrument’s external or internal credit

rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to

meet its obligation to the Group.

For loan commitments, the date of initial recognition for the

purpose of assessing ECLs is considered to be the date that

the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment.

In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in

credit risk since initial recognition of a loan commitment, the
Group considers changes in the risk of default occurring on

the loan to which the loan commitment relates.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired

when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations

to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions

such as realising security (if any is held); or (2) the financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a

more lagging default criteria is more appropriate.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is

calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying

amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset. For non

credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated

based on the gross carrying amount.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on
the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially
measured at fair value and financial liabilities at amortised
cost are initially measured at fair value, net of directly
attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities
held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives,
the entire hybrid contract may be designated as a financial
liability at fair value through profit or loss, except where the
embedded derivative does not significantly modify the cash
flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded derivative
is prohibited.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if the
following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates or
significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would
otherwise arise from measuring the liabilities or recognising
gains or losses on them on a different basis; (ii) the liabilities
are part of a group of financial liabilities which are managed
and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with a documented risk management strategy; or
(iii) the financial liability contains an embedded derivative
that would need to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise. The net fair value gain or loss recognised
in the statement of profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade
payables, borrowings, and other financial liabilities issued by
the Group are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the

amortisation process.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

@iv)

™)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payment when due in accordance with the original or
modified terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract issued by the Group and not designated as at fair
value through profit or loss is recognised initially at its fair
value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issue of the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contact at the higher of: (i) the amount of the loss allowance,
being the ECL provision measured in accordance with
principles of the accounting policy set out in 4.10(ii); and
(i1) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
principles of HKFRS 15.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires.

4.11 Inventories
Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently at the

lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using

weighted average basis, and in the case of work-in-progress and

finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an

appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is the

estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the

estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to

make the sale.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.12 Income tax

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities
adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowable for
income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for tax
purposes. Except for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax
liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised, provided that the deductible
temporary differences are not arises from initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction other than in a business
combination that affects neither taxable profit nor the accounting
profit. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to
the expected manner in which the carrying amount of the asset
or liability is realised or settled and that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

An exception to the general requirement on determining the
appropriate tax rate used in measuring deferred tax amount is when
an investment property is carried at fair value under HKAS 40
“Investment Property”. Unless the presumption is rebutted, the
deferred tax amounts on these investment properties are measured
using the tax rates that would apply on sale of these investment
properties at their carrying amounts at the reporting date. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. HREFIBERE R (@)
INFORMATION (Continued)

412 PR (40

4.12 Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they relate
to items recognised in other comprehensive income in which case
the taxes are also recognised in other comprehensive income or
when they relate to items recognised directly in equity in which case
the taxes are also recognised directly in equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net if,
and only if,

(a)  the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in
net if, and only if,

(a)  the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b)  the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

(i)  the same taxable entity; or

(i)  different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.13 Revenue recognition

4.

HOR & ah BORE B )
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@) Revenue from contract with customers
(a) Service fees and commission income

Service fees and commission income is generally

recognised when the corresponding service is

provided.

Service fees and commission income are recognised

at a point in time when the relevant services such as

broking services, are provided to the customers and

there is no unfulfilling performance obligation after

services being rendered. Except for a few services,

such as custody account services, of which revenue

is recognised over time so as to depict the pattern of

delivery of services.

Origination or commitment fees received/paid by the

Group which result in the creation or acquisition of

a financial asset are deferred and recognised as an

adjustment to the effective interest rate. When a loan

commitment is not expected to result in the draw-down

of a loan, loan commitment fees are recognised.

(b)  Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at a

point in time when the control of the goods has been

transferred to the customer and there is no unfulfilling

performance obligation after the acceptance of the

goods.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.13 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)
(@)

(b)

(©)

Revenue from other sources

Interest income

Interest income arising from the use of entity assets
by others is recognised in profit or loss based on the
duration and the effective interest rate. Interest income
includes the amortisation of any discount or premium
or other differences between the initial carrying
amount of an interest bearing instrument and its
amount at maturity calculated on an effective interest
rate basis.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of financial assets
and liabilities and of allocating the interest income
and interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument or, when
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount of the financial instrument. When calculating
the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument (for example, call and similar options) but
does not consider future credit losses. The calculation
includes all fees and interests paid or received between
parties to the contract that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other
premiums or discounts.

Interest on the impaired financial assets is recognised
using the rate of interest used to discount future cash
flows (“unwinding of discount”) for the purpose of
measuring the related impairment loss.

Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognised
on straight-line method over the term of the relevant
lease.

Dividend income
Dividend is recognised when the right to receive the
dividend is established.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.14 Retirement benefits
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined

contribution plans and defined benefit pension plans.

(@

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions after payment of the fixed contribution.

The contributions recognised in respect of defined
contribution plans are expensed as they fall due. Liabilities
and assets may be recognised if underpayment or prepayment
has occurred and are included in current liabilities or current
assets as they are normally of a short-term nature.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, for those employees in Hong Kong who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in the PRC are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government (the
“Scheme”). These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The Scheme is responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to the retired employees and the Group
has no further obligations for the actual pension payments
or other post-retirement benefits beyond the employer
contributions. Contributions under the Scheme are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the PRC.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.14 Retirement benefits (Continued)

(i)

Defined benefit pension plans

The Group has operated four defined benefit pension plans
for those employees in Switzerland and Liechtenstein by
reference to the respective local ordinance requirement.

Defined benefit pension plan defines an amount of pension
benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of
service and compensation.

The liability recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position in respect of defined pension plans is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end
of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets.
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is
determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflow
using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that
are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will
be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to
terms of the related pension obligation. In countries where
there is no deep market in such bonds, the market rates
on government bonds are used. Actuarial gains and losses
arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

Past service costs are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.14 Retirement benefits (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Long service payments obligation

The Group’s net obligation under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance in respect of long service payments
on cessation of employment under certain circumstances
is the estimated discounted amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their services in the
current and prior periods. The obligation is calculated
annually using the projected unit credit method, taking into
account offsetable accrued benefits related to the Group’s
MPF) Scheme.

Short-term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other
than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled
wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual
reporting period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are recognised in the
year when the employees render the related services.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave
and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. HREFIBERE R (@)
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.15 Segment reporting 4.15 4 EHE

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the executive directors for their decisions about
resources allocation to the Group’s business components and for
their review of the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported to the
executive directors are determined following the Group’s major
lines of business.

The Group has identified the following reportable segments: (a)
manufacturing and distribution of watches and timepieces and
watch accessories; (b) property investments; and (c) banking and
financial businesses.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of
the product and service lines requires different resources as well
as marketing approaches. All inter-segment transfers, if any, are
carried out at arm’s length prices.

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting segment
results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its financial
statements prepared under HKFRSs.

Segment assets include all assets but interests in associates, interests
in joint ventures, certain trading portfolio investments, assets of a
disposal group held for sale and non-current assets held for sales. In
addition, corporate assets which are not directly attributable to the
business activities of any operating segment are not allocated to a
segment, which primarily applies to the Group’s headquarter.

Segment liabilities exclude borrowings, due to a shareholder, lease
liabilities and corporate liabilities which are not directly attributable
to the business activities of any operating segment and are not
allocated to a segment.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to reportable
segments.
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S.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
Such estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, rarely equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Impairment assessment of goodwill

The Group tests on an annual basis whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 4.4.
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined based on
value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use calculations require the use of
judgement and estimates of the future cash flows expected to arise from the
CGUs, the timeframe for the cash flows forecast and the suitable discount
rates in order to calculate the present value. In the process of estimating
expected future cash flows, management makes assumptions about
future revenues and profits. These assumptions relate to future events
and circumstances. The actual results may vary and may cause a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of goodwill within the next financial
year. Determining the appropriate discount rate involves estimating the
appropriate adjustment for market risk and for asset specific risk factors.
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Provision for inventories

In determining the amount of allowance required for obsolete and
slow-moving inventories, the Group would evaluate ageing analysis
of inventories and compare the carrying value of inventories to their
respective estimated net realisable value. The assessment of the provision
involves management judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome
or expectation in future is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the carrying value of inventories and provision
charge/write-back in the period in which such estimate has been changed.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Depreciation and amortisation

The Group depreciates and amortises its property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets with definite useful lives using straight-line method over
their respective estimated useful lives, starting from the date on which the
assets are available for intended use, in accordance with accounting policy
stated in notes 4.6 and 4.9. The estimated useful lives reflect the directors’
estimate of the period that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of these assets.

Estimated impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for impairment of
trade and other receivables on a forward-looking basis. The provision
matrix is determined based on the Group’s historical observed default
rates over the expected life of the trade receivables with similar credit
risk characteristics and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. Other
receivables is assessed for 12-months expected credit losses, given credit
risk has not increase significantly since initial recognition. In making the
judgement, management considers available reasonable and supportable
forward-looking information such as actual or expected significant
changes in the operating results of debtors, actual or expected significant
adverse changes in business and debtors’ financial position. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed by the Group’s
management.

Impairment assessment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating
conditions specific to the Group that may lead to impairment of non-
financial assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is determined. The recoverable amount is determined
based on value-in-use calculation or fair value less costs of disposal
(“FVLCD?”). The calculations of value-in-use require the use of
judgement and estimates of the future cash flows expected to arise from the
assets or CGUs, the timeframe for the cash flows forecast and the suitable
discount rates in order to calculate the present value. In the process of
estimating expected future cash flows, management makes assumptions
about future revenues and profits. These assumptions relate to future
events and circumstances. The actual results may vary and may cause a
material adjustment to the carrying amount of non-financial assets within
the next financial year. Determining the appropriate discount rate involves
estimating the appropriate adjustment for market risk and for asset specific
risk factors. Calculation of FVLCD involves the selection of valuation
model, adoption of key assumption, and input data, which are subject to
management judgement.
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S.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong, Switzerland, United
Kingdom, Liechtenstein and the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the amount of the provision for income taxes and the timing of
the payments of related taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Estimation of defined benefit obligations

The Group operates four defined benefit plans for those employees in
Switzerland and Liechtenstein. Pension costs for defined benefit plans are
assessed using the projected unit credit method in accordance with HKAS
19, Employee Benefits. Under this method, the cost of providing pensions
is charged to the profit or loss in accordance with the advice of the actuaries
who carry out a full valuation of the plans. The pension obligation is
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows using
interest rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the
reporting period based on government agency or high quality corporate
bonds with currency and term similar to the estimated term of benefit
obligations. All actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full, in the year
in which they occur, in other comprehensive income.

Management appointed actuaries to carry out a full valuation of these
pension plans to determine the pension obligations that are required to
be disclosed and accounted for in accordance with the requirements of
HKFRS:s.

The actuaries use assumptions and estimates in determining the fair value
of the defined benefit plans and evaluate and update these assumptions on
an annual basis. Judgement is required to determine the principal actuarial
assumptions to determine the present value of defined benefit obligations
and service costs. Changes to the principal actuarial assumptions can
significantly affect the present value of plan obligations and service costs
in future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Lease-estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group uses its incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group
‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease.

The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market
interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-
specific estimates.

Going concern consideration

The assessment of the going concern assumption involves making a
judgement by the directors, at a particular point of the time, about the
future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently uncertain.
Further details for the directors’ assessment of going concern assumption
are set out in note 53.6.

Fair value measurement

A number of assets and liabilities included in the Group’s financial
statements require measurement at, and/or disclosure of, fair value. The
fair value measurement of the Group’s financial and non-financial assets
and liabilities utilises market observable inputs and data as far as possible.
Inputs used in determining fair value measurements are categorised into
different levels based on how observable the inputs used in the valuation
technique utilised are (the ‘fair value hierarchy’):

- Level 1: unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities;

- Level 2: observable inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1; and

- Level 3: unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are
not available.

The classification of an item into the above levels is based on the lowest
level of the inputs used that has a significant effect on the fair value
measurement of the item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised
in the period they occur.
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S.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)
The Group measures the following items at fair value:

- Due from banks — precious metals (note 18)
- Trading portfolio investments (note 19)

- Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(note 20)

- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 21)

- Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (note 21)

- Derivative financial assets (note 22)

= Derivative financial liabilities (note 22)

- Investment properties (note 29)

- Due to clients — precious metals (note 33)

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value measurement of
the items above, please refer to the respective notes.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker is identified as executive directors.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has completed the
acquisition of Gold Vantage Group, in which new product and service lines
have been identified.

The new product and service lines has been merged with the segment of
manufacturing and distribution of watches and timepieces and renamed
as manufacturing and distribution of watches and timepieces and watch
accessories to reflect the current resources allocation and performance
assessment by the chief operating decision-maker.

The executive directors have identified the Group’s product and service
lines as operating segments as follows:

(a) manufacturing and distribution of watches and timepieces and
watch accessories;

(b)  property investments; and

(c)  banking and financial businesses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A B R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. mHER @)
These operating segments are monitored and strategic decisions are made IS KR8 4 2 B IR W PR e A R
on the basis of adjusted segment operating results. IR SRR -
2023 - Y : X
Watches and Banking
timepieces and Property and financial
watch accessories investments businesses Unallocated Total
HHR
Wi 2E Bk
VAR SR I WERE SHEH AR At
HKS000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
Tl T T T T
Segment revenue: RAERA
Net interest and dividend income from BEEEZHERRE
banking business ON:E - - 285968 - 285968
Net service fees and commission income WTERRBEER 2
from banking business AT = - 171919 - 1m919
Trading income from banking business RITER 225 WA - - 3907 - 3907
Service fees and commission income from SRERZRBE RN
financial business A = - 12 = 12
Interest income from financial business EREEZABRA - - 3 - B
Sales of goods from non-banking and FROTREHER K
financial businesses HERA 1113945 - - - 1113945
Rental income from non-banking and FRTREMER S
financial businesses A - 85 - - 815
Total revenue ELION 1,113,945 875 491,839 - 1,629,059
Segment results MEES 86,447 10,671 130,129 - mM
Unallocated corporate income and AARATMAR
expenses, net - - - (79,054) (79,054)
Share of profit of joint ventures e L] = = = 5 5
Share of profit of associates Tl R A i A - - = 13842 13,842
Finance costs BTHER @1.227) - (336) (50,679) (78,242)
Profit/(loss) before income tax WA/ (BR) 59,220 10671 129,793 (115,886) 83,798
Tncome tax experse AR (3,386) - (16,623) (30) (20,539)
Profit/(loss) for the year RERER/ (BR) 55,334 10671 13,170 (115916) 63,259
Segment assets HEEE 427182 191,574 11,629,158 = 16,092,554
Unallocated corporate assets: AARATGE :
Tnterests in joint ventures FribaE bR - - - 496 496
Interests in associates il Nl A - - - 108,411 108,411
Trading portfolio investments LHAAHE - - - 21,558 27,558
Financial assets at fair value through other BATEGALMATRAZ
comprebensive income SHERE = = = 285,627 285,611
Cash and deposits EYUE N - - = 3387 3387
Other unallocated corporate assets Tk ARAREE - - - 12973 12,973
Consolidated total assets HRlRE 427182 191,574 11,629,158 43845 16,531,006
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ek ok 3 R B AR P AT PR )

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. HER @)
2023 (Continued) RO (HD
Watches and Banking
timepieces and Property and financial
watch accessories investments businesses Unallocated Total
HHER
Pt B T
VAR s S ESE SMEH AR it
HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T
Segment liabilities Vg bl 985,989 39270 10,362,734 - 11,387,993
Unallocated corporate liabilites: APEAFAAR:
Borrowings i - - = 395,103 395,103
Due to a shareholder R ft—4 B - - = 9,025 9025
Lease liabliies HEAR - - - 15,09 15090
Other unallocated corporate liabilites (note) ~ FEMR AR H B (r3k) - - - 358,501 358,501
Consolidated total liabilities HRBaR 985,989 39270 10,362,734 7,119 12,165,712
Other segment information HloaBEH
Tnterest income and other interest income FEBA BRI ERA 470 - - m 842
Expected credit losses on trade receivables TR kR 5 S (10,810) - - - (10,810)
Expected credit loss on ofher assets L EE RN SE8 (1,686) (1,045) (1,224) (150) (4,105)
Provision of expected credit losses on due iRt REF SRR E
from banks and customers BER - = (7,591) = (1.591)
Provision of expected credit losses for other KBRS RUA S 2 L&A
financial assets at amortised cost BERMGERERERE - = (6,024) - (6,024)
Provision for litigation risks, net A - - (4121 - (4121)
Provision for inventories FERL (24434) - - - (24,434)
Reversal of provision for inventories FER RN Ri] = = = ki)
Impairment loss on goodwill HEHEER (13,389) = = - (13,389)
Gain on fair value changes on financial feAFE AR HSUERZ
assets/liabilities at fair value through ERERE/ABATE
profitor loss Llen 65,192 - - = 65,192
Depreciation and amortsation biYe i (55,318) = (32,062) (6,459) (93,839)
Additions to non-current assets REFREGE 25,764 = 8,792 = 34556
Net deficit on revaluation of investment REMEE BT
properties - (1,218) - - (1,218)
Note: Other unallocated corporate liabilities mainly included amounts due to a BERE - HMb R 2 B A Rl B EE@FFR —F

SR S E O —
) B 25 ) R

related company and an associate as at 31 December 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A B R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. EER @
2022 e a2
Banking
Watches and Property  and financial
timepieces investments businesses Unallocated Total
#k R Bk
3 EE UES)4 BREH AR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
T T T T T
Segment revenue: vie LN
Net interest and dividend income from AT 2 R B RRE
banking business NG = = 133,526 = 133,526
Net service fees and commission income TR 2 IR B R 4
from banking business NG - - 165,363 - 165,363
Trading income from banking business BT ER 2 A - - 38,631 - 38,631
Service fees and commission income from SREFZREERINE
financial business A = = 949 = 949
Interest income from financial business SREEZFBRA = = 173 - 173
Sales of goods from non-banking and T RERER 2 B i
financial businesses HERA 1248281 - - - 1,248281
Rental income from non-banking and FoiT R RER 2%
financial businesses A - 20,465 - - 20,465
Total revenue LN 1,24881 20465 338,642 - 1,607,388
Segment results Vg B3 (4513) 7,239 32,966 - 35,692
Unallocated corporate income and FARAFRA R FE
expenses, net = = = (92,152) (92,152)
Share of loss of joint ventures S d i = = = (28) (28)
Share of profit of associates B s ) i = - - 16,740 16,740
Finance costs % (28,869) - (352) (41311) (70,532)
(Loss)/profit before income tax VR AT B A Okt /i A (33,382) 7,239 32,614 (116,751) (110,280)
Income tax expense P B L (2,069) = (4,404) (2,684) (9,157)
(Loss)/profit for the year RIEE (BR) /Al (35451) 7239 28210 (119435) (119.437)
Segment assets BB E 4,195,392 196,124 11,277,691 - 15,669,207
Unallocated corporate assets: AABAREE
Interests in joint ventures Firifi 6 g g = = = 491 491
Interests in associates i {0 8 A A - - - 122,202 122,202
Trading portfolio investments ThBARE = = = 28,093 28,093
Financial assets at fair value through other HATHEFALMAERAZ
comprehensive income SHERE - - - 296,080 296,080
Cash and deposits YR = = - 13,630 13,630
Other unallocated corporate assets HitkBiA R EE - - - 27,540 27,540
Consolidated total assets GRlgE 4,195392 196,124 11,277,691 488,036 16,157,243
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

L N %

6. HER @)

ek ok 3 R B AR P AT PR )

2022 (Continued) “E )
Banking
Watches and Property  and financial
timepieces investments businesses Unallocated Total
kR Sk
W RHEE YERE BREH A st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
T T T T T
Segment liabilities ABAK 951,371 36,145 10,104,603 11,092,119
Unallocated corporate liabilities: AAEARALRE:
Borrowings (s - - = 540,375 540,375
Due to a shareholder JEff — 2 R - - - 12,000 12,000
Lease liabilities HEAE - - - 28,849 28,849
Other unallocated corporate liabilities (note) ~ FhfliAZh AL/ 7 £ 18 (L) = = = 305,039 305,039
Consolidated total liabilities g AR 951,371 36,145 10,104,603 886263 11978382
Other segment information b BB R
Tnterest income and other interest income AEMA B AF B A 365 4 29 17 415
Expected credit losses on trade receivables FE iR Sk L £ B R (11,770) - - - (11,770)
Reversal of expected credit loss on HAh R R
other assets 740 364 159 | 1,264
Provision of expected credit losses on due RESRTT & PR G &
from banks and customers Fs R B = = (711) (711)
Reversal of expected credit losses for other R BAT R B R
financial assets at amortised cost B e T B A - - 1,737 - 1,737
Provision for litigation risks, net A B 1 - - (11) = (11)
Provision for inventories el (24917) = - (24917)
Reversal of provision for inventories FEBERR 19,668 - - 3,037 22,705
Depreciation and amortisation EYE 1 (58,550) - (25,642) (7.284) (91,476)
Additions to non-current assets REFNEHEE 40,257 = 52,120 = 9,377
Net (deficit)/surplus on revaluation of femEafhz (G4 /B
investment properties i - (9,564) - (9,564)
Note: Other unallocated corporate liabilities mainly included amounts due to a fife: : b R R AFABEEELFEN -F

related company and an associate as at 31 December 2022.

Unallocated corporate income and expenses mainly comprised dividend

income from trading portfolio investments and, financial assets at fair

value through other comprehensive income, gain or loss on fair value

changes in trading portfolio investments and other corporate income and

expenses of the Group’s headquarter which are not directly attributable

to the business activities of any operating segment. Other corporate

expenses mainly included employee costs and directors’ remuneration

for administrative purpose.

TR H = B — WA

Al K — [

28 FlEHOH

RIPBLL R RS2 E B A5
MEBEZ BN ~ A FEFHA A
EHPAZ EMEE - LR AR TENT
(B B 2 WA Bk 1R S AN L B g AT
RO JRTS 6 B) 2 AR B A A A W]
WA B ST o Fofb oy ) S 3 AL A R
17T HCH YR B ARAS b 38 2 3 -
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
The Group’s revenues from external customers and its non-current assets
(other than financial assets and deferred tax assets) are divided into the

following geographical areas:

Revenue from

external customers

5 JE B )
AR E AN F 2 U IR B

(4 Al 8 8 T R AL JE I FE BRAM) #2 DA M
(5 31 73

Non-current assets

K HIMR R BB I ik B &

2023 2022 2023 2022

e =Y kT ot =Y - S
HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000
T THIT T¥#IT T U T
Hong Kong i 44,432 45,156 365,922 356,029
PRC H 782,066 1,009,151 1,598,783 1,500,222
Switzerland Fiy 1 3,332 3,137 376,296 373,416
United Kingdom e 51,666 51,391 5,908 5,863
Liechtenstein 51 3 H A 491,839 337,520 481,098 477,416
Others HAth 255,724 161,033 1,243 1,233
1,629,059 1,607,388 2,829,250 2,714,179

The geographical location of revenues from watches and timepieces and
property investments segment are based on the location of customers,
and the geographical location of revenues from banking and financial
businesses segment are based on the location of operations of the cash
generating units CGUs.

Non-current assets (other than financial assets and deferred tax assets)
include interests in joint ventures, interests in associates, property, plant
and equipment, investment properties, intangible assets and goodwill.
For interests in joint ventures and interests in associates, goodwill and
intangible assets, the geographical location is based on the areas of
operation of CGUs. The geographical location of other non-current assets
is based on the physical location of the assets.

The Group has a large number of customers and there is no significant
revenue that is more than 10% of the Group’s revenue derived from
specific external customers for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

S Bk I R E b DA B S BUE M A
o 8 DL 5 BT B 5 e T GRAT S
SET5 43 M 2 M I DA B A L AR
JIT A b 7 HE o

Te ULy B (< Rl R S B I A BR
1) LA BT A A A SERE AR ~ BT A B
FIRES - WU - RS R - BEEWIE
T S TR o TG A SE AR B
ftiMgh e 8 P RE R 7R AR A T R it [ A
B A B K B A R TE o LAt JE
5 5 b 8B DA IR T TE MR % Ve

AEBMEFRL B R ZER T
AT A= H IR B
B E SN R F AL AR B R 10%
ZERILA »
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e

REVENUE

The Group is principally engaging in manufacturing and distribution of
watches and timepieces and watch accessories, property investments and
banking and financial businesses.

For banking and financial businesses, revenue mainly comprises net
interest and dividend income, net service fees and commission income
and trading income (notes 7(a), 7(b), 7(c) and 7(d)). For non-banking and
financial businesses, revenue mainly represents the net invoiced value
of goods sold, after allowance for returns and trade discounts and rental
income received and receivables (note 7(¢)).

LN

A P AR 2 B ik T R E o L T BB
HE 1 R0 R o 8~ W) SEBUE DA B SRAT R
Al S o

BRERAT R RET T S o A FE A
B B B S U AR IR A% T AR 4 M A i
UL RS BN (B EE7(a) ~ 7(b) > 7(c) &
7(d)) o sk IEERAT R RZER T S o Ik AE
ERANBRIE B I G0 s R T
B DA B B e S UL A e A (B 3L 7(e)) ©

Revenue recognised during the year is as follows: FERTERZ AT :
Net interest and dividend income from banking business (a) SRATEBZ M B B BB A B 5
2023 2022
HKS$°000 HK$°000
T L THETT
Interest and dividend income from T 51 4% JE T e A 2 SR AT SR
banking business arising from: ZFE R BB
Interest income — due from banks FE A — HE W SR 1T 3KIE 169,796 63,380
Interest income — due from clients FE A — W& 5 3KE 28,608 29,205
Interest income from mortgage loans ¥ B 2 A B A 15175 30,726
Interest income from money market BT SRR A B AR A
papers 7,803 (445)
Interest income from financial assets S RlE E 2 AR A 48,521 25,879
Dividend income from trading securities BHEHSZ BB A - 168
Negative interest expense on due JEAS % 5 3k IE 2 A RS B %
to clients 28,978 2,244
358,881 151,157
Interest expenses from banking T 51 4% JE T e A 2 AT SR
business arising from: Z BB X
Interest expense on due to banks JEE A} R AT R IE 22 1B B 32 (189) (13,771)
Interest expense on due to clients JRE A} 25 5 R IE 2 I EL B 32 (71,883) (3,936)
Negative interest (income)/expenses on JRESCSRAT B & P 3k HH 2
due from banks and clients BB (W A) /B (841) 76
(72,913) (17,631)
Net interest and dividend income from  $R47ZE % Z F B & B B A
banking business T 285,968 133,526
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7. REVENUE (Continued) 7. WA @
Net service fees and commission income from banking (b) SRATEBZ M w5 & RSB A&
business W
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$°000
R TUs I
Service fee and commission income 50 4% JE I A Z BRAT
from banking business arising from: Z R B RSB -
Commission income from loans =GR EL A N 4,647 6,394
Brokerage fees R E 26,912 32,276
Custody account fees LEIRE # 27,046 25,032
Commission on investment advice and WE AR E RS E
asset management 44,542 48,822
Commission income from service fees k75 2 A 4l A 4,308 31,723
Commission income from fiduciary fees fErt &M E A 29,825 347
Commission income from retrocession T R AR A e A 11 5,298
Other commission income oA AR U A 61,532 47,558
198,823 197,450
Service fees and commission expenses SRAT TS 2 s B %
from banking business {48 BH = (26,904) (32,087)
Net service fees and commission income  $R47 27 2 I & K& il &
from banking business WA 5 171,919 165,363
Trading income from banking business (c) MITEBEZRIHIBWA
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#T THs T
Equity instruments A T H 1 -
Debt instruments P T H 269 13
Securities fioes 2 3
Forex and precious metals AN K B 4 33,597 38,597
Funds He 38 18
Trading income from banking business SRATEERS 2 38 B A 33,907 38,631
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7.  REVENUE (Continued) 7. WA @)
(d) Revenue from financial business d ZSWEHBEZBA
2023 2022
HKS$°000 HK$’000
T T
Service fees and commission income R 5 2 AR 4 Ml A 12 949
Interest income FIE YA 33 173
Revenue from financial business EXES Pl YN 45 1,122
(¢) Revenue from non-banking and financial businesses (e FEMITREMEBLZMA
2023 2022
HKS$°000 HK$’000
T¥#IT Tt
Sales of goods B 1,113,945 1,248,281
Rental income FHa A 23,275 20,465
Revenue from non-banking business and FERITHEG LS RZET 2
financial businesses e A 1,137,220 1,268,746
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OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET GAINS OR 8.

LAty e\ % Lt W 2 B 4 15 3

LOSSES
2023 2022
HK$°000 HKS$°000
T#ou T
Gain/(loss) on disposal of a subsidiary (note 12) & —H B ARl 2
s, (R 4R) (FEE12) 2,529 (10,395)
Gain on disposal of interests in associates HR A T A T A D RE A 2 AR
(note 40) (Pft 5% 40) 1,349 423
Gain on fair value changes in trading portfolio FERITEB X H A GHREN
investments from non-banking business, net ARSI T UL E R 136 61
Gain on fair value changes on financial assets/ Fie o8~ {E wH AR A B 1E 22
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss SRR BEZ AT
(note 21) S YR (KsE21) 65,192 -
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 31) TR O (e 1 (R 31) (13,389) =
Gain on fair value changes in derivative financial ~ JF$RA1T M AT 4L &Rl A B2
liabilities from non-banking business OB 52 B R - 2,182
Net deficit on revaluation of investment WG AL 2 e Al TR
properties (note 29) (Pft5E29) (1,218) (9,564)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWZE - WRPE K st 2 ias
equipment 1,021 3,378
Loss on modification of leases HEB U EE - (149)
Bank and other interest income from FEERAT W 2 S8R4T S HoAth
non-banking business FE A 797 415
Dividend income from trading portfolio FRITHEF L HMAEHRE
investments from non-banking business 1 BRI A - 128
Dividend income from financial assets at fair FE N A FE A HA A T U A
value through other comprehensive income 2 & EE 2 BRI A 10,578 10,578
Other operating income HoAh £ 2 YT A 15,881 9,106
Government subsidies (note) BUR A B4 (B 55) 2,500 4,612
Provision of litigation risks (note 37) A R AR (B 5E37) 4,121) (11)
Provision of expected credit losses for due from  FEUYCERTT I & 7 3 TE 1 1)
banks and clients (note 18(b)) 5 Bl R (B2 18(b)) (7,591) (711)
Provision of expected credit losses/ FE 0 61 B A5 i 2 o Ath 4 il
(reversal of expected credit losses) for other % I B R
financial assets at amortised cost (note 24(b)) (TEHA(5 Bl 1R HE [m])
(B 5 24(b)) (6,024) 1,737
Exchange gain, net A RE U #5178 7,579 3,216
Other sundry income, net A 24 TR A VR A 2,036 910
77,255 15,916

Note:

Government subsidies mainly comprised of unconditional subsidies received for

subsidising the Group’s business.

B

B Z M B o

SO A B <6 2 AL 4 WSS AR A U A 4 T
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9. FINANCE COSTS FROM NON-BANKING 9. FHTHEBZMBEM
BUSINESS
2023 2022
HKS$°000 HK$°000
Tt T
Interest charged on bank borrowings, bank MATEE -~ SRITE T K
overdrafts and other borrowings oAb £ B 0 FLE B 3 75,748 67,827
Interest on lease liabilities (note 38) LA EALE (B 5E38) 2,494 2,705
78,242 70,532

10. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX

Profit/(loss) before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

A) T AR AR L

10. BRAABLRTE A, O 48)
B B BT 7L k) B AIBR Gt

2023 2022
HK$’°000 HK$°000
Tt TUs I
Cost of inventories recognised as expense, THERR 2 BH S W A B RS > (3
including: 514,001 604,727
— Reversal of provision for inventories —fF B 38) (22,705)
— Provision for inventories — 17 & B 24,434 24917
Depreciation and amortisation T 85 I B 93,838 91,476
— Depreciation for owned assets (note (a)) —HHAEEIE (@) 53,318 61,493
— Depreciation for right-of-use assets (note (a))  — {5 F & 2= 978 (K 5L (a)) 32,062 29,809
— Amortisation of intangible assets (note (b)) — MEJY A E AN (5T (b)) 8,458 174
Short term lease expenses 5 HAAH B B =2 27,436 23,059
Auditor’s remuneration % S0 T < 4,700 4,900
Gross rental income FHl 4 Uit A HEBR (23,275) (20,465)
Less: direct operating expenses B B 2,980 2,586
Net rental income FH 4 WA 15 B (20,295) (17,879)
Research and development expenses (note (b)) B 5% S B % BH 3 (Kt (b)) 15,434 22,809
Expected credit losses/(reversal of expected Hofth 5 7 T M5 S0 18,
credit losses) on other assets (note 32) (FE (S Bl 1R )
(Bt 5E32) 4,105 (1,264)
Expected credit losses on trade receivables JRE A R X TR 15 B 1R
(note 23(a)) (B 5 23(a)) 10,810 11,770
Advertising JE 54,731 82,833
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PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX (Continued) 10.

Notes:

(a) Depreciation expense of HK$6,322,000 (2022: HK$14,936,000) has
been included in cost of sales from non-banking and financial businesses,
HK$24,076,000 (2022: HK$23,204,000) in selling and distribution expenses
and HK$54,982,000 (2022: HK$53,162,000) in administrative expenses.

(b) Amortisation expenses and research and development expenses had been

included in the administrative expenses.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, Hong Kong profit
tax has been provided for certain subsidiaries within the Group and is
calculated at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits (2022: 16.5%).
The subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject to income taxes at tax
rates ranging between 15% and 25% (2022: 15% and 25%). Overseas tax
is calculated at the rates applicable in the respective jurisdictions.

The Group is also subject to PRC withholding tax at the rate of 5%
(2022: 5%) in respect of dividend income derived from PRC incorporated

I it 45 B i i A, Ofs 48) (a0
b -

(@) 785 6,322,000 0 (T F AR ¢
14,936,000 % 7t) & 7t A JF SR 47 2 4 il
T Z BB AR - 24,076,000 00 (%
LA 23,204,000 95 0) w84 B K4
2 I LA K 54,982,000 % o6 (— &
4F 153,162,000 56) #FAFTIECE A

(b)  HESEBHST LA R BT K B S B S B R AAT
B -

i 45 86 B 52
WE_EZ =K _FE__HF+_H

=t HIREE > AEBC E THE A
R RHE AU RSB A A0 A S e L

B A 16.5% (& =7 4F 1 16.5%) #HE o
HR B RS 2 [ S R ZEAE AT 15% 2 25%
(T T4 1 15% 5 25%) 2 TR R R 4%

Mt o 351 TE $4 A ] ) 1 P B R
o

AL BNk H A AR B AP Bk ST A R 2
e B AR R 5% (% A L 59%) B
28 H B FE IR o

company.
2023 2022
E = e

HKS$°000 HK$°000
Tt T#oo

Current tax for the year NIRRT
Hong Kong s 238 201
PRE il 4,667 3,878
Liechtenstein B LA 16,623 5,944
Switzerland Fig 1 479 948
Deferred tax for the year (note 41) AT PR A AE ol TE (i 5 41) (1,468) (1,814)
Total income tax expense P A5 B BY 7 A &H 20,539 9,157
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting profit/(loss) at

applicable tax rates:

g —

>

L N %

11. 3B % (40
F 98 PR B SR T 2 TS B B S B i

/s 1E) Z BHR

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
T L TUs I
Profit/(loss) before income tax W T 45 B il i R (5 48) 83,798 (110,280)
Tax on profit/(loss) before income tax, BRI S BT A (B548) 2
calculated at the rates applicable to the tax B TE (R 5 A B Bl 455
jurisdictions concerned IR RO 2 B AR ET ) 22,658 (15,681)
Tax effect of non-taxable income W ZHRRBLUR A 2 B 5 (20,244) (5,273)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses ANSH] OB BH 52 2 Bl S 5 2 10,999 13,049
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised e BB T s 1 2 s R 7,126 17,062
Total income tax expense ST A5t Bl S AR 20,539 9,157
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4

12. &M EA ¥

In October 2023, the Group has disposed the entire shares of (@) MIZFEZZ=F1H > AAEEUB S
Wisdom Power for a cash consideration of HK$27,500,000 A8 27,500,000 ¥ I [8] 48 2> &) — [H]
to Fair Future Industrial Limited (“Fair Future”), an associate B AmBEEERRAA (TK
of the Company. The Group recognised a gain on disposal of 1) B 2 2y - ALE
approximately HK$2,529,000. Details of the Group’s gain on Tl w2 Wi 25 492,529,000 #5 T ©
disposal of Wisdom Power for the year ended 31 December 2023 AEAEBRBEE _F _=41+_
are set out as follows: A=+ —H I E SR Tzl
FERE R
HK$°000
T
Net assets disposed of: ST B 2 G T
Property, plant and equipment W2 - W IE Bk A 57
Investment properties e <L/ES 24,900
Other assets Ho A 14
24,971
Less: Proceeds from disposal W TS EIE (27,500)
Gain on disposal & 2 g (2,529)
HK$°000
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEAZBERATH
Cash consideration received B W B A 27,500
Net cash inflow for the year ended BEZ- =T A=+t—HILEEZ
31 December 2023 B A 27,500
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12. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 12, H 5 B R 2 W] e
(b) In May 2022, the Group has completed the disposal of 30 % (b) MIFEZAFERH > ALEEE KU
equity interests of Shun Heng Group for a cash consideration of B4 A1 8,670,000 5 TG [a] 4 T B 4
HK$8,670,000 to several related parties (the other shareholders of ANt (E=aERARARZH
Shun Heng Finance Holdings Limited) and a third party. Following e ) K — 458 =05 G F
the disposal, the Company’s effective equity interest in Shun [ 2 30% B HE o A 4R - AN F
Heng Group decreased from 60% to 30% and Shun Heng Group A 7 AR 2 B IR el 60% B
would be an associate of the Group. The Group recognised a loss on F30% > 5 F LB AL 2
disposal of approximately HK$10,395,000. Details of the Group’s g AT o A AR F RS L B 2 B 1R
loss on disposal of the Shun Heng Group for the year ended 31 #110,395,000 # 7T © A B A< 4L [F] A
December 2022 were set out as follows: BF - HFET A=+ —H IR
JE G 5 2 AR S A
T
HK$°000
THs I
Net assets disposed of: i 2 G R E
Cash and deposits B S AT 38,270
Trade receivables JRE ST B K 4,629
Trading portfolio investments ToAERE 3,442
Property, plant and equipment (note 28) W2 - Bk JE BocAt (B 5E28) 1,487
Intangible assets (note 30) T R (F5E30) 7,246
Goodwill (note 31) 7R (B 5E31) 3,080
Other assets Hopth & 2 3,862
Trade payables JRE A5} B 3k (25,780)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 41) R SER TH AR (iR 41) (981)
Lease liabilities (note 38) H 5 2 A (BEEE38) (1,426)
Other liabilities oAt £ 1 (702)
33,127
Non-controlling interests IEFE A 2 (5,392)
27,735
Less: Proceeds from disposal W T R IE (8,670)
Less: Fair value of 30% equity interests in W E TR 30% B2 AFE
Shun Heng Group (8,670)
Loss on disposal i & < 1R 10,395
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: L0 B 7 AR 2 B AR AL L R A
Cash consideration received O Bl 4 AR 8,670
Less: Cash and deposits disposed of W P 2 Bl B AR R (38,270)

Net cash outflow for the year ended
31 December 2022

BWEZ-ZFELZA=Zt—HILFEEZ

B4 i T AR (29,600)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4

13. A&

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ERAERMBE_FE_=F1+_H

ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

14. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

=t —HIEFERMNBRE (CFE
fE) o

14. HKRAEAN (EHE)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share attributable AR A NI A B P A R i v 2 A
to owners of the Company are based on the following data: (48) Ta A48 DA T B s
2023 2022
HKS$°000 HK$°000
R TUs I
Profit/(loss) A O dR)
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the R RS A K R
Company for the purpose of calculating basic (R 48) BT % 2 A 2 )
and diluted earnings/(loss) per share e NEAG R, (fs8) 45,100 (111,051)
2023 2022
- =Y G S
Number Number
of shares of shares
J& oy B H it B H
000 000
T T
Number of shares et B H
Weighted average number of shares for the R R A R R
purpose of calculating basic and diluted (518 Pk i 2 i34
earnings/(loss) per share il 4,351,889 4,351,889
The diluted earnings/(loss) per share is the same as the basic earnings/ HAAREERRE T - =FR R
(loss) per share, as the Group has no dilutive potential ordinary shares for FE+ T H =+ H LR

the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

B WO IR A, 1R B R
AZA (5 R) AR o
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15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

15.1

15.2

15. 0 B 6 A b 52 (B4 3 S &)

Employee benefit expense 15.1 1@ B Al b %
2023 2022
HKS$°000 HK$°000
Tt Fioo
Wages and salaries & K 4 474,765 525,482
Pension costs BAIR G A 56,462 58,437
531,227 583,919

Employee costs, including directors’ emoluments, of
HK$10,261,000 (2022: HK$17,859,000) has been included
in cost of sales from non-banking and financial businesses,
HK$190,561,000 (2022: HK$225,619,000) in selling
and distribution expenses and HK$330,405,000 (2022:
HK$340,441,000) in administrative expenses.

& B LA (BL45 # S5 42) 10,261,000
o (T L U4F 1 17,859,000 75 T)
L RE A R SRAT S 4 il ZE TS 2 8 B A
7~ 190,561,000 #5 70 (& = 4 ¢
225,619,000 %5 70) ELFFA S K58
2 L) }330,405,000 #E T (&
AF 1 340,441,000 % 70) B FFAATEE
ﬂE] o

Defined benefit pension plans 15.2 & BB Pk & 8 Al ot
2023 2022
HKS$°000 HK$°000
T#oo THTT
Net defined benefit obligations JE FEAR A AT TR A 72,642 22,074

Net defined benefit liability has been included in “other liabilities”
(see note 42) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The defined benefit pension plans are primarily arising from
Eterna AG Uhrenfabrik and its subsidiaries (together the “Eterna
Group”), Montres Corum Sarl and its subsidiaries (together the
“Corum Group”), Bendura Bank AG and its subsidiaries (the
“Bendura Group”), and also Ernest Borel Holdings Limited and
its subsidiaries (the “Ernest Borel Group”). The Group makes
contributions to the defined benefit pension plans that provide
post-retirement benefits for employees upon retirement. Under
the schemes, the employees in Switzerland and Liechtenstein are
entitled to retirement benefits based on the plan assets accumulated
on attainment of the retirement age and a fixed annual rate. Since
there is potential down-side risk for the employer to pay additional
contributions in case the plan has a deficit, plans in Switzerland and
Liechtenstein are classified as defined benefit pension plans.

SRR AL B O Rt A SR A W
IRDER [ HoAt B 8 | (B 42) JHT -

E FUR RS AR A 1 # 32 225K H Eterna
AG Uhrenfabrik 5 H i 23 5] (45 1
[#T4F#E4E ) - Montres Corum Sarl
MHMWE AR (FfE Eagm]) -5
Hh SR AT I 13 A R ] B HL i Jeg A )
(5 b 4E [ 1) DA B AR I8t B 422 A R
) B B A ] (TR R AR ) o
2 4 18] ) 7 FER R B At B A
BEFK > BB B IR IR IRf 2 AR IR AR
@A o RIEFTHE > £ K SLH L
AR B A RRAER > TIIR PR
SRR 85 S [ 72 4F I R 5T 2 5t
B T o B — BLEHE B AR
F o B A AT F MR EHE
AR IR B > s+ B B
B 4380 A o BB IR AR A F ) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4
15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 15. BB AR 2 (B35 EFM4E)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued) (44)

15.2 Defined benefit pension plans (Continued) 152 E#HB IR EEA G H (8)

The latest independent actuarial valuations of plan assets and
the present value of the defined benefit obligation on the Eterna
Group were carried out at 31 December 2023 by Banque Cantonale
Vaudoise and 31 December 2022 by Swiss Life Pension Services
AG, a member of the Swiss Associate of Actuaries in Switzerland,
using the projected unit credit method.

The latest independent actuarial valuations of plan assets and the
defined benefit obligations on the Corum Group were carried
out at 31 December 2023 by Banque Cantonale Vaudoise and
31 December 2022 by Nicolas Colozier, a member of the Swiss
Associate of Actuaries in Switzerland, using the projected unit
credit method.

The latest independent actuarial valuations of plan assets and the
defined benefit obligations on the Bendura Group were carried out
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 by AXA Pension Solutions AG, a
member of Swiss Associate of Actuaries in Switzerland, using the
projected unit credit method.

The latest independent actuarial valuations of plan assets and the
defined benefit obligations on the Ernest Borel Group were carried
out at 31 December 2023 and 2022 by Swiss Life Pension Services
AG, a member of the Swiss Associate of Actuaries in Switzerland,
using the projected unit credit method.

(a) The amount included in the consolidated statement of
financial position arising from the Group’s obligation in

St A AR [ S A 2 O LA
AL E K FEAR A AT 2 BUE T
Fiti £ Swiss Associate of Actuaries < & 5
Banque Cantonale Vaudoise 5 Swiss Life
Pension Services AG 73 All it & =
FTZAEtT A RZFRZ AT
= B T 7 AR i
17 o

B2 v 2 [ ) L 2 e B ST A B
At (B % 7 AR I 35 AT T H B L Swiss
Associate of Actuaries 2 & £ Banque
Cantonale Vaudoise /% Nicolas Colozier
DRIR TR =T A=t —HR
SR A= — AR EE
AL AR T EEHEAT -

B AR B R R 2 R T ALK
AN A T € AR A FEAE TS i 3
Swiss Associate of Actuaries 2 & 5 AXA
Pension Solutions AG A & —. = 4F &
R A= AR ER
HALAIRTTIEHEAT o

R s 5 T 5 1) 8 7 2 S SR
At {8 % 7 B AR R AT T Hh 3 L Swiss
Associate of Actuaries < & H Swiss Life
Pension Services AG A —&E — =4E K —
T A = HAE A TE
P ARRITIEHERT -

(@ FEAGEMBRIERZ AL
VA L E AR AL R B AR P

respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows: FEAE 2 BEEIT ¢
2023 2022
HK$°000 HKS$°000
T#T T

Present value of defined benefit JERAAR R B AL BE

obligations 505,788 422,033
Fair value of plan assets FTEE E 2 AP E (433,146) (399,959)
Net liability arising from defined FEFRAMEAEEEZ

benefit obligations A fEF 72,642 22,074
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15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

15.2 Defined benefit pension plans (Continued)

(b)

(©)

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit
obligations for both the years ended 31 December 2023 and

2022 are as follows:

15.

D B 6 A P 32 (B0 35 3 35 <)

(%)

15.2 5 HU8 P < 4 At 8 (70)

(b)) #WE_F—=

FEREFE

T A= H bW EE R
AN AL BB T

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$°000

T#T THETT

At 1 January w—H—H 422,033 478,817
Current service costs B IR A 755 R AR 43,672 25,788
Past service costs A WS LA ()] (148)
Interest cost Fi BB AR 7,593 993
Actuarial losses/(gains) KA R (kss) 12,672 (52,369)
Benefits paid EENEEE (36,639) (15,939)
Contribution by plan participants w8 2 BUE K 11,535 11,427
Exchange realignment e 5, 8 R 44,931 (26,536)
At 31 December wt—H=+—H 505,788 422,033

Movements in the fair value of the plan assets for both the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

(© BE-FoSERSFo-
A= AR
B A TR B AT ¢

2023 2022
e Y —F

HK$°000 HK$°000

T#oc T

At 1 January w—H—H 399,959 409,934

Interest income FLE M A 4,638 476
Return on plan assets w3 E 2 R 12,161 (17,772)

Contributions by the employers fE 3= 18,708 15,996

Contributions by plan participants w3 2 B 1 3K 11,535 11,427
Benefit paid RENEEL (36,639) (15,939)
Exchange realignment e 52, 3 % 22,784 (4,163)

At 31 December wH_HA=+—H 433,146 399,959
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4
15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 15. BB AR 2 (B35 EFM4E)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued) (44)

15.2 5 #U8 P < 1 At 8 (70)
(d)  BERZAEE AR A T B R AR 4

15.2 Defined benefit pension plans (Continued)
(d) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income in respect of these defined benefit THT IS A 2R N fERR 2 A BN T
plans are as follows:
2023 2022
HK$°000 HKS$°000
T#T THETT
Service cost: MR 5 BLAS
Current service costs T IR e 755 B A% 43,672 25,788
Past services costs i A W5 B A ()] (148)
Net interest expense ) LB 2 5 4E 2,955 517
Components of defined benefit costs /7 i 1| &5 18 h i 58 2
recognised in profit or loss E AR R A 2
AR 23 46,618 26,157
Remeasurement on the net defined o E] R FEAE A AT
benefit obligations: TRAH
Return on plan assets wh & A 2 m 12,259 (17,722)
Actuarial (losses)/gains WA (E1E) ik (12,672) 52,369
Deferred tax arising on TR AR R AT
remeasurement of the net defined PR IRAERIIE (Fff5E41)
benefit liability (note 41) (4,549) (4,524)
Components of defined benefit A Al 2 T WSO R 2
costs recognised in other E FEAR I A 2 20 A8
comprehensive income, net 4 1 AR (4,962) 30,123

The defined benefit cost of HK$46,618,000 (2022:
HK$26,157,000) has been included in the administrative
expenses. The remeasurement of the net defined benefit

obligation is included in other comprehensive income.

7B REAR I B A 46,618,000 #5 T
(=% = 4F : 26,157,000 #%
J6) B RFAATEUE H o FHE
L BRI S AT B R
il A T YA o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{%F — % — =4F+ = +—H IL4FE
15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 15. B AL (B EFHNE)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued) (44)

15.2 Defined benefit pension plans (Continued) 15.2 E#HB IR EEA G H (8)

(e)  The major categories of the fair value of the plan assets at the (e) A WK w8 & E AP E
end of reporting period are as follows: ZEEHRWT -
2023 2022
R = -~y
HK$’000 HK$°000
T#T THETT
Equity instruments JieA T H. 127,225 118,331
Debt instruments ERTH 138,898 126,422
Properties LES 120,748 114,074
Commodities instruments i LA 3,220 2,931
Assets from reinsurance TR & 8,388 7,635
Hedge funds EARUIE S 20,748 17,060
Cash B4 13,205 12,847
Other HoA 714 659
433,146 399,959

EAA R i TR 2 A FHE
TG T 2 R AR E
M4 - B T H - R E
RS E S RUIE- P/ S R A
i T S 2 TG R AR E o

The fair values of the above equity and debt instruments
are determined based on quoted market prices in active
markets whereas the fair value of properties, commodities
instruments, assets from reinsurance and hedge funds are not
based on quoted market prices in active markets.

(f)  The principal assumption used for the purpose of the actuarial (O MRKEFMENZ EER
valuations was as follows: 4/
2023 2022
TR &

ilpL S
TE I 2 IR

Discount rate(s)
Expected rate(s) of salary increase

0.10%-1.50%
0.1%—-2.47%

0.10%-0.20%
0.1%—-1.0%
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15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

15.2 Defined benefit pension plans (Continued)

(e

Sensitivity analysis on defined benefit pension plans

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the
defined benefit obligations are discount rate and expected
salary rate of increase. The sensitivity analyses below have
been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the
respective assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting
period, while holding all other assumptions constant.

. If the discount rate is 50 basis points higher/(lower),
the defined benefit obligation would decrease by
HK$21,475,000 (2022: HK$47,281,000)/increase by
HK$24,569,000 (2022: HK$100,277,000).

. If the expected salary rate of increase/(decreases) by
50 basis points, the defined benefit obligations would
increase by HK$34,784,000 (2022: HK$76,519,000)/
decrease by HK$35,372,000 (2022: HK$67,153,000).

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be
representative of the actual change in the defined benefit
obligations as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions
would occur in isolation of one another as some of the
assumptions may be correlated.

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis,
the present value of the defined benefit obligation has been
calculated using the projected unit credit method at the end
of the reporting period, which is the same as that applied
in calculating the defined benefit liability recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in
preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

15. 0 B 6 A b 52 (B9 3 &)

(%)

15.2 5 #U8 P < 1 At 8 (70)

(€]

E B M AR A ) 2 A ek
& 53 M

fifE 5 S R M AT 2 T BOR
BB R 2y Y B R R TR
B LR o N S BURUE A
T3 45 E A A AR R PR S
SEIRF > R AR T A A B AR

s HL AT R A ) I i

. M fE B LT (R %)
50 1l 5 B o AR A
B AT % I 21,475,000
won (ZF =
47,281,000 75) / H
24,569,000 % 70 (&
A 100,277,000
Ji) °

. fifi 76 ) 3 & L R
/Gl 22) 501 2 2
E FEAR A 3T A 1% B
34,784,000 % G (- &
T 4E 176,519,000
Jt) /W 435,372,000
o (%
67,153,000 #0) °

b R 43 7 T AR
R B 2 ERERIL -
R o 5 T BB T A 1
B - et 2 B AT REH
W -

BeAh o i A R S A 2 B
B> TR R A E B A AT
2 BLAE TR BE LA BR D7
R BBR &35 RS AR DL
R H T Tl R AR A BAE 2
FHE BT E AR TR o

A AR R DA 52 SRR 4y
W 2 T7 35 I Ml MR e 5 ) -
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16. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR 16. #=HME& K mHKEBLEMW &
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
16.1 Directors’ emoluments 16.1 H &

A R A BRA o ) T F R A R SR
AR FE SRR RS

Details of emoluments of the directors of the Company in
connection with the management of affairs of the Company and its
subsidiaries are set out below:

Salaries,
allowances  Contributions
Directors’ and benefits to pension
fees in kind scheme Total
W4 A Rk
ERE KEDHEH w3t 5k At
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
T T T T
2023 SRS
Executive directors iTEF
Mr. Hon Kwok Lung HE LA = 1,528 18 1,546
Mr. Shi Tao ARELE = 1,092 18 1,110
Mr. Bi Bo (note (ii)) S A (BERE Gi)) - 94 3 97
Ms. Sit Lai Hei (245w - 924 18 942
Mr. Hon Hau Wong BFIEE - 924 18 942
Mr. Teguh Halim Teguh Halim 564 - 3,023 139 3,162
Mr. Siu Chun Wa i e A = 1,721 18 1,739
Mr. Hao Xiaohui T8 R 7 A = 1,427 18 1,445
Independent non-executive B FEPATE F
directors
Dr. Kwong Chun Wai, Michael i {4 f#: i -+ 200 - - 200
Mr. Zhang Bin TR I 200 - = 200
Mr. Li Ziging IS 200 - = 200
Mr. Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk ~ H7&{#.554 200 = = 200
800 10,733 250 11,783
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16. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR 16 #=HME L SREBEMNE @)

MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

16.1 Directors’ emoluments (Continued) 16.1 FM 4 (%)
Salaries,
allowances Contributions
Directors’ and benefits to pension
fees in kind scheme Total
Frd o LN
FHEME  KEVREM & # itk At
HKS$’000 HKS$°000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
T THTT THTT T
2022 oy Sl
Executive directors ITEF
Mr. Hon Kwok Lung AT LS - 1,853 18 1,871
Mr. Shang Jianguang (note (iii)) P @664 (B 5E (iii)) - 225 2 227
Mr. Shi Tao AL = 1,443 18 1,461
Mr. Lam Toi Man (note (iv)) MRARSCIEAE (B3 (iv)) - 14 1 15
Mr. Bi Bo (note (ii)) P (M5 (i) - 1,344 18 1,362
Ms. Sit Lai Hei FER I 4+ — 1,221 18 1,239
Mr. Hon Hau Wong R = 1,221 18 1,239
Mr. Teguh Halim Teguh Halim 5&4: = 2,950 129 3,079
Mr. Siu Chun Wa (note (v)) A S A (B 5E (v) = 1,556 15 1,571
Mr. Hao Xiaohui (note (vi)) BN S A (B 5 (vi)) = 1,565 15 1,580
Independent non-executive B R AT E S
directors
Dr. Kwong Chun Wai, Michael — Jil f& s [# 200 = = 200
Mr. Zhang Bin RS 200 = = 200
Mr. Li Ziging =Tt 200 = = 200
Mr. Kam, Eddie Shing Cheuk HRE S AE 200 = = 200
800 13,392 252 14,444




221

CITYCHAMP WATCH & JEWELLERY GROUP LIMITED

ek o R

LA R R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fo S B A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{%F — % — =4F+ = +—H IL4FE

16. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

16.1 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

16.2

Notes:

(@)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

Except for Mr. Teguh Halim, there was no arrangement under which
a director waived or agreed to waive any remunerations during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). Mr. Teguh Halim waived
his remuneration on the directorship of subsidiaries of HK$1,300,000
(2022: HK$1,300,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Mr. Bi Bo has resigned as executive director with the effect from 3
March 2023.

Mr. Shang Jianguang has resigned as chief executive officer and
executive director with the effect from 5 January 2022.

Mr. Lam Toi Man has resigned as executive director with the effect
from 5 January 2022.

Mr. Siu Chun Wa has been appointed as co-chief executive officer

and executive director with the effect from 5 January 2022.

Mr. Hao Xiaohui has been appointed as co-chief executive officer and

executive director with the effect from 5 January 2022.

Five highest paid individuals
No director (2022: one director) of the Company was included in the

five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year, details of

whose remuneration are reflected in the analysis presented in note

16.1. Details of the remuneration of the remaining five (2022: four)

non-director, highest paid individuals of the Group for the years are

16. #EHME RS REBEMNE @)

16.1

16.2

A ()

B

(@

(ii)

(iii)

[% Teguh Halim /54 4h » # %2 %
CEFETZAS T —BIREE
7 4 2 = 5 B[R] R A S AT f] P
BZEP (R ) o
EoEF =T A=+T—H1
4 J¥ > Teguh Halim 55 2E HU3E H A5
T Bt JE > F 55 2 M 4 1,300,000
ot (2% = Z4F 1 1,300,000 #
JG) °

B A CBIRITES A
FOEHFEZAZHEAER

P O S A B BHEAT BUE B
fT#EFE - AL —-HARH
AR o

(iv) MARAECE RS ES > A
SR TE—A R HEAR -

(v) R A OO AT 5 T AT L
MBS ES > B2
— A A H AR -

(vi) AP IR M S0 A 4 AT 5 B I A B
MBS ES > B2
— A A H AR -

hamEmHi AL

N > AR B A A e i A LT 4

WFES (L RS
8046 T <= 195 S A B RE 16.1 BT 471

o3 #

AENALEEB AL (ZF

as follows: A I 4) JE EE R A A L
EFFEWR

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
T THs I
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Frar o TG B AE A 17,900 18,340
Contribution to pension scheme AR AR wE E R 3,295 2,638
21,195 20,978
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16. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

16.

16.2 Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
The emoluments of non-director highest paid individuals were

e M A B M (a0

16.2 h e A+ ()
FEEEESHEALZHENTUT

within following bands: Al
2023 2022
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
N N
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 5 7€ £ 4,000,000 #5 7T - 3
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 #5 7T £ 4,500,000 #5 7 5 -
HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000 9,000,001 5 7€ £ 9,500,000 #5 7T - 1
5 4

No emolument was paid by the Group to the directors or the five
(2022: four) highest paid employee(s) as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office (2022:
nil).

16.3 Emoluments to members of senior management

The emoluments to members of senior management (excluding the

remunerations to directors which have been disclosed in note 16.1

AL ERR A (ZF
A U4 fen R B SO AR 2
I BRI AS S 1] 65 2 38y > B
B 2 BERRAR A (% = 4R - ) o

A P AR B
o AR LT A B M (O 465 2
ESCHERE 16.1 $5F < HEM &) /-F

16.3

above) were within the following bands: AT #

2023 2022

TR —EF
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
N it A
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 ¥ 7T % 1,000,000 #5 7T 2 =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7T % 1,500,000 ¥ ¢ 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 % 7T % 2,000,000 5 ¢ - 2
3 3
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17. CASH AND DEPOSITS 17. Bl R A#wk
2023 2022
SR [ S
HK$’000 HKS$’000
T¥#L TUs I
Cash and bank balances (notes (a) and (b)) 4 JSRAT &5
(Bt 5E (a) S (b)) 61,625 75,452
Pledged bank deposits (note (c)) LR ERAT A7 K (B3 (0)) 5,000 =
Cash held on behalf of clients (note (d)) REF R 2 Bl (K5 (d) 6,957 =
Sight deposits with central banks (note (e)) H LR AT 2 1 A R
(Wt 3 () 3,687,849 4,239,186
3,761,431 4,314,638
Cash and deposits as per above b B A B A7 K 3,761,431 4,314,638
Less: Cash held on behalf of clients (note (c)) W REFRAZHE
(B 5E (c)) (6,957) -
Pledged bank deposits KA ERAT A7 3K (5,000) =
Cash and deposits for the purpose of ME R BB ER
consolidated statement of cash flows Fiig 2 Bl4 A7k 3,749,474 4,314,638

Notes:

(@

(b)

©

(d)

(®

Cash at bank earns interest at the floating rates based on the daily bank
deposits rates.

Included in cash and bank balances of the Group are the amount of
approximately HK$24,764,000 (2022: HK$29,961,000) denominated
in RMB which are placed with the banks in the PRC. RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies. Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB into
foreign currencies through the banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

As at 31 December 2023, the bank deposits of HK$5,000,000 are pledged to
secure the short term banking facilities granted to the Group (note 36).

In respect of the Group’s financial business of securities dealing, the Group
maintains segregated trusts accounts with authorised financial institutions
to hold client’s monies. The Group classifies clients’ monies under cash
and deposits in the consolidated statement of financial position and has
recognised the corresponding balances due to cash and margin clients
separately under trade payables (note 34) on the grounds that the Group is
liable for any loss or misappropriation of clients’ monies and does not have a
currently enforceable right to offset those payables with the deposits placed.

These balances with central banks represent sight deposits placed by the
Bendura Group and they can be withdrawn immediately without any
restrictions.

As at 31 December 2023, cash and deposits of HK$3,697,936,000 (2022:
HK$4,246,125,000) are attributable to banking and financial businesses.

fiat

(@)

(b)

©

(d)

AT BLE 184 H ST A M R 5 2 77
BFIHEFE -

A A H B 4 K SR AT A5 R B A A
24,764,000 %5 G (2 . 4F : 29,961,000
W I0) U RKEFHEARR P Bl Z 8817 2 5K
oo NRWEATE A i 2 H A &% -
R v [ R A A1 e A L T A e ~ B R I
At BEE /5 AL - A AR (B T A AR M A o
TTHMNEZETS 2 SRAT N B S 46 o A1 o

X 5,000,000 #5 7T C HE 4 DA 52 4= L 1] 2
S HASRATRVE (P 5E36) -

MAEMEFH T2 EMEBET S A%
VR A5 A < A A B 0 7 (R RE R
DAF5A % 5 R IH o A 52 B R 45 BB IR
UL R 2 5 TR o My B e B A
S AR B FL AR 5 K 2 AT AT HR 2R A
FRAT:A] 0 B T 2 SR T 8 2 B A M
FIHET & B BB & LR EEEF ZM
JE A5 B (B 5k 34) - ELAS 52 8] 55 e oz S8
8 T LAT < R A B8 ) HL BT A A 2 A A A
R AT R IR A R R

%S U ERAT A5 BR AR T MR I BT A7
B HAFER - AT B i T A el R A6

MWoE-=FE+"H=+—H &K
17 #K3,697,936,000 15 7 (& . 4E

4,246,125,000 #57C) J92K B $R1T K 4 il ZE
5]’% °
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18. MEWCERAT K% Pk

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$°000
R TUs I
Due from clients — mortgage loans JRE M2 5 K T — 4 8 K 2,265,389 2,026,215
Due from clients — other JRE W 75 5 K I — A 629,753 661,724
Valuation adjustments for default risk (note (b)) 7 % JE RS Al (B 7 % (K 5 (b)) (17,213) (9,167)
Total due from clients JRE Wi %5 )5k JE A8 2,877,929 2,678,772
Due from banks on a daily basis JE W ERAT H & #IA 1,908,088 1,594,134
Due from banks other claims JE Wi SR AT Hofth B 2R 185,560 127,947
Due from banks — precious metals JRE W BRAT R IE — 55 46 B 130,989 208,223
Valuation adjustments for default risk (note (b)) 75 % A B A (E R B (B 5% (b)) (1,669) (664)
Total due from banks JREE WAL I A 35K T 4 2,222,968 1,929,640
Notes: R RE -
(a)  Reconciliation of gross carrying amount for due from banks and clients are as (a)  MEUCERAT K& 5 BRIE MR I AR E 2 BRI
follow: T
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
BIR B 2R B SE3ME B dat
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
THIT THI0 TG TG
As at 1 January 2022 R-F__#H—H—H 4,989,549 — 1,917 4,991,466
New financial assets originated, NAER Rt <V
net of amount derecognised FOBR AL HERR 4R (523,320) 13,411 = (509,909)
Amounts written-off bE k] = = (447) (447)
Exchange realignment EE 5, 5 6 (71,442) 389 (37 (71,090)
As at 31 December 2022 and RoF 4
1 January 2023 +ZH=Z+—HR
=R —H—H 4,394,787 13,800 1,433 4,410,020
New financial assets originated, S MEE
net of amount derecognised BRAC 1L TR A 127,886 612 6,373 134,871
Exchange realignment fE 5, 77 441,945 1,401 553 443,899
As at 31 December 2023 KRB =4
+=H=+—H 4,964,618 15,813 8,359 4,988,790




225 CITYCHAMP WATCH & JEWELLERY GROUP LIMITED  Jefdffifék ok 8 4 Ml 47 PR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fo S B A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{%F — % — =4F+ = +—H IL4FE

. — .
18. DUE FROM BANKS AND CLIENTS (Continued) 18, MEWCERAT K % P sk I ()
(b)  Movements in the expected credit losses in respect of due from banks and (b)  MEMCERAT K% P RIE 2 TS ks R A
clients are as follows: B
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
BIRB 2R E SE3ME B Ht
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T THIT T 0 TG
Balance at 1 January 2022 /N S
—H—HZH& 7,754 = 1,917 9,671
Changes in valuation adjustments % %7 JBU Rt ff (i 4 %% 5 B
for default risks (note 8) (Pt 5E8) 521 190 = 711
Amounts written-off T8 & #H - - (447) (447)
Exchange realignment e 5, 4 (73) 6 (37 (104)
Balance at 31 December 2022 and # —%F 4
1 January 2023 TZAZF—HR
“R-=4#—-H—H
Z &R 8,202 196 1,433 9,831
Changes in valuation adjustments % 41 JE b5 A (B o % 5 )
for default risks (note 8) (5% 8) 1,238 (20) 6,373 7,591
Exchange realignment T 34, o 890 17 553 1,460
Balance at 31 December 2023 )/ Y
ToA=+—H 24k 10,330 193 8,359 18,882
(c) Non-performing loans (c) KRR
No interest income impact from non-performing loans was recognised for the BWE_F =K _F__4F T+ A
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. =t — A L4 SRR B A

L2 R B B
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19. TRADING PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS

19. RGHAGHE

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$°000
R TUs I
Equity instruments Jie A T,
Listed equity instruments in Hong Kong at FETTE A A s BT 2 A
market value TH 629 451
Listed equity instruments outside Hong Kong at 4% i (B A & #s3% 4h L 1T 2
market value A T H - 586
Total equity instrument A T H 484 629 1,037
Debt instruments fE5H T H
Unlisted debt instruments of financial SRR 2 I bR TR
institutions 189 190
Total debt instruments f&# T HAAH 189 190
Investment fund units B AL 4 AL
Unlisted investment fund units IE b R A 19,890 20,186
Total investment fund units 1 Bk 4 ¥ A B 19,890 20,186
Investment in other financial products H i 4> 2 B 6,850 6,680
Total trading portfolio investments Ry AL RE A 27,558 28,093

The investments under trade portfolio investments are held for trading
purposes.

Fair value of the listed equity instruments have been determined by
reference to their quoted market prices at the reporting date in an active
market. Fair value of the listed trading portfolio investments is Level 1
recurring fair value measurement.

Fair value of unlisted debt instruments have been determined using
significant inputs, which are market observable, directly or indirectly. The
fair value of the unlisted debt investments is Level 2 recurring fair value
measurement.

The fair value of certain unlisted investment funds is Level 2 recurring
fair value measurement while the fair value of remaining unlisted
investment funds is Level 3 recurring fair value measurement. The details
of assessment are set out in note 53.10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Eo A REIA T 2 BB TR AFEE M

B R

AT R 2 AT 8 S S
LA 5 L 51 T 0 6 A I
AL B L AT AT — BNt
AT -

S TS TR/ LT R T 5
B 1 53 L 0 A A M B - 9
LTSS TSI DR T U
T -

TR LSO R e A T E RS A
WA TEFE - MR T F Ei g s
FA A T (B 2 = AR AL TR T B R B © R
il 19 LA P R R B T 53.10



227

CITYCHAMP WATCH & JEWELLERY GROUP LIMITED

e I S S R T A I A B )

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fo S B A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — &~ =4F+ = H = +—H ILFE

19.

20.

TRADING PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS (Continued) 19. REHAGHE @)
Other financial products are referring to the insurance policy entered by the A 465 S e AR AR B (R o (R
Group. The fair value of investments in insurance policies are determined BB IR B 2 B 88 i B AR AR
based on the account value as stated in cash surrender value statements B YRR TE (B R o HLAth 4 B EE T 9 A FHE
issued by insurers. Fair value of other financial products is Level 2 FH R R WA TE & o
recurring fair value measurement.
There is no transfer under the fair value hierarchy classification for the BE X =FRF_F TN
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. = — HRAEE A (E SR I T NI A
1% o
The fair value gain during the year was amounted to HK$136,000 (2022: AN 2208 E AR £ 136,000 45 T8 (%
HKS$61,000), which has been recognised in the consolidated statement of TTAE 1 61,000500) c R EEZF =
comprehensive income as “other income and other net gains or losses” T H=1—HIEFEZEAEmIRA
(note 8) for the year ended 31 December 2023. FINHERR (ﬁfﬂl WA R HCAth i 4 55 18
A (MF5E8)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH ~ 20. #%2 PN A M Ab 2B A Z
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME < il ¥ 2
2023 2022
Notes HKS$°000 HK$°000
Fh &1 T#T THETT
Listed equity instruments in Hong Kong AW Lz A T (a) 254,754 258,280
Listed equity instruments outside R USEEA b 2 A
Hong Kong TH (b) 25,342 32,124
Unlisted equity investments FE LT A E 5,531 5,676
285,627 296,080

The Group designated its listed equity instruments in or outside Hong
Kong and unlisted equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) as below, as those investments are held
for strategic purposes.

AL %N 57 ORI s S A O A
L L TEA TH R I b T BEAS B G E
LN EFEA AU (T FER
AT L) B 5 a% 55 5 Tt
HWE IR FFA o
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20. %A FAFFA KM 2w A2
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

(2)

(b)

As at 31 December 2023, the listed equity investments in Hong
Kong represented 14.76% (2022: 14.76%) equity interest in Min
Xin Holdings Limited (“Min Xin Shares”). As at 31 December
2023, the Group held 88,150,000 (2022: 88,150,000) Min Xin
Shares. A dividend income totalling HK$10,578,000 (2022:
HK$10,578,000) was recognised by the Group in profit or loss in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2023.

Particulars of the Group’s investments in Min Xin Shares are as

4 VB B ()

(a)

AEC=ZEF A= —H R
T b T 2 A 18 45 i [ £ 4
HRAHEZ1476% (—F ——

14.76% ) BEHE ([R5 1) o A —
T A= —H s RER
F5 4 88,150,000 1 (& — —

88,150,000 [ ) {5 Ie A o A= 4 3] b
HEF- =LA =t+—HIE
AR 2 SR A T SO 3R 1) U6 A B
e 8 B B i A A 310,578,000
jﬂ:izz 10,578,000 #7T) °

AL FA B AR B BOERE BT

follows:

Percentage
of ownership
Number of interest
Country of Particulars of issued shares held attributable
Name incorporation shares held by the Group to the Group
7 45 [ JE A
LM R AR
£ MBI R Prde AT IR ety 8 H AL
Min Xin Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary Share 88,150,000 14.76%

1) £ 4 1 A KR 2 W His giiliie

The listed equity investment at fair value of HK$25,342,000
(2022: HK$32,124,000) represented the investment in Citychamp
Dartong Company Limited (referred to “Dartong” and its shares
referred to as the “Dartong Shares”). No dividend income (2022:
Nil) is recognised by the Group in profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Ms. Sit Lai Hei and Mr. Hon Hau Wong, the executive directors of
the Company are also the executive directors of Dartong. Dartong
is owned as to approximately 36.4% (2022: 33.95%) by Fujian
Fengrong Investment Company Limited (“Fengrong”). Ms. Sit Lai
Hei and Ms. Lu Xiaojun are the daughters-in-law of Mr. Hon Kwok
Lung and the beneficial owners of Fengrong. Mr. Hon Hau Wong,
an executive Director of the Company, is the spouse of Ms. Lu
Xiaojun.

(b)

WATHEINEZ ETTEARE
25,342,000 g6 (& = T4F
32,124,000 #5 7T #8 A 5 355 K 4 A 1y
B BRAT (TR FRAFEA TR
Y] 2 BE o AL EE
FE o=+ A=+ —HIEEEM
I8 A Ao B 2 T Wi A 2 1) T R B 18
FERR B BT A (U 4F ¢ ) o

AN T AT R A R 4 b
FIES TR KB 2 ATHE S - jc
RS EARAA (

W) F5 A #)36.4% (& 4
33.95%) o BEALME L 1 M e ERE 4+
4 0 v I E S A 2 G IR SR A
HalA N o AN AT HEE
Y& S A 7y e R I L - 2 A o
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  20.
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

(b)  (Continued)

Particulars of the Group’s investment in Dartong Shares are as

A G A R A 2w B A 2
4 VB B (1)

(%)

SRR B AR R BEERE TR

follows:
Percentage
of ownership
Number of interest
Country of Particulars of issued shares held attributable
Name incorporation shares held by the Group to the Group
7 52 1 e A
7 55 B P 1 HE BE 2
£ ik I 1% 37 [ 5% Jie i © 88 4T IR 0 A JBe 4 B H [iFL:1
Citychamp Dartong Company PRC Ordinary A Share 9,154,370 0.66%
Limited
TR IR 288 TR A A7 BR A ) il A B

During the year, the decrease in fair value of financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income of HK$HK 10,308,000
(2022: HK$118,001,000) has been dealt with in other
comprehensive income and FVOCI reserve. No cumulative gain
(2022: HK$6,870,000) has been transferred to retained profits
within equity as the Group has not disposed any Dartong shares

during the year.

21. FINANCIAL ASSET AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR

SRR > F T REA oA 2 i A
2 & iE N T (E T 2 10,308,000
HE T (& 7 T4F 1 118,001,000
JG) B A 4 TE Ui A B A% 48P E
T A LA 2 T Y AR AR o P
A A A A A2 [E] 7 4 1 B A A R i
By > WO A Rl s (R
6,870,000 ¥ JT) 7% 2 HE 75 N 2 IR
4 i A1) o

21, FEAPALEH A i A s 18 1Y < il

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS o K R

2023
TR
HK$°000
Tt

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss Fie oy AR G N i P 55 e 48 1 4 b A AR

— 2023 Profit Compensation (as defined in note 49(a)) T T A N A A

(note a) (72 38 RH5E49(a)) (Fff5ta) 32,410

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss ?E S ?ﬁ A i P 55 s 48 1 4 b £ 4R
— 2024 Profit Compensation (note b) — & Y AR i A A A (B RED) 26,592
— 2025 Profit Compensation (note c) — A A A A (BT ) 18,313
44,905
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21. FINANCIAL ASSET AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

These derivative instruments are principally related to the remaining
outstanding consideration subject to the adjustment of profit compensation
in respect of an acquisition, in which the details are as set out in note
49(a) to the consolidated financial statement. The fair value of derivative
financial assets/liabilities is Level 3 recurring fair value measurement. The
details of assessment are set out in note 53.10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the amount of the Group’s financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss expected to be due after more than one year
is HK$44,905,000.

Notes:

(a) The directors of the Company estimated that the audited profit after tax
of Gold Vantage Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2023
would be less than HK$30,000,000. The balance represented the fair value
of the 2023 Profit Compensation, which is estimated by the directors of the
Company with the assistance of an independent professional valuer. The fair
value gain of HK$44,000,000. has been recognised in the other income and
other net gains or losses for the year ended 31 December 2023.

(b) For the year ending 31 December 2024, the directors of the Company
estimated that Gold Vantage Group cannot achieve the profit target based
on a profit forecast. The balance represented the fair value of the financial
liabilities in relation to 2024 Profit Compensation, which is estimated by the
directors of the Company with the assistance of an independent professional
valuer. The fair value gain of HK$8,871,000 has been recognised in the other

income and other net gains or losses for the year ended 31 December 2023.

(c) For the year ending 31 December 2025, the directors of the Company
estimated that Gold Vantage Group cannot achieve the profit target based
on a profit forecast. The balance represented the fair value of the financial
liabilities in relation to 2025 Profit Compensation, which is estimated by the
directors of the Company with the assistance of an independent professional
valuer, The fair value gain of HK$12,321,000 has been recognised in the
other income and other net gains or losses for the year ended 31 December
2023.

Subsequent to the reporting date, regarding the settlement of 2023 Profit
Compensation, the Group has agreed with Fair Future that the balance shall
be set off by the followings:

(a) HK$5,270,000 advance from Fair Future during the year ended 31
December 2023 and included as other liabilities as at 31 December
2023;

(b) HKS$10,000,000 advance from Fair Future in January 2024;

(¢) the outstanding cash consideration of the first instalment of

HK$13,333,333.3 in relation to the acquisition as set out in note
49(a); and

(d)

the current account with the Group.

21.

N AW L B i
& KA s

W% 55 AT A 4 T T EL = B I S R A AR
) S 38 R i v R RS B > REI
T B A WS 3 B R 49(a) o AT A AL E
e B A A B o = T S TN
(HFHR o SEAGREIE RN 454 B HS R T
53.10 °

MRoF =+ _H=+—H AL
Fh—4F DAL B 00 4 2 TAE A 6 A 25 s
R0 4 £ 5 42 B £ 44,905,000 5 G »

b -

(@) AAFAEHRMGFEELANEE %
CEAEF T H = B M EUEE R A
AL BRFL AR U AR 30,000,000 #5TC ©
P4 ERAE 2 T AR MR R A TE
T H AR 4 ) S A A 7 A (LRl B Bl
TGRS o AP E R A 44,000,000 ¥ 7T
EREE_F - =F+_HA=1+—HIt
AR 2 At A B A i 2% Bk B 1 4
HERR o

BECZWEZH =+ —H I4ERE
AR ) 2 AR R v A A 4 4R
ML BB A A - AR IR A B
D A i ) A R TE s T
P AR ) T 7 8 7 S A {8 h B R
fwHF o A -F(E Y E 8,871,000 % It E
MEEZZ =4+ H=1+—HI4
JE 2 oAt A B H A iz 25 5% s 48 I R
TR

(b)

() ®WEE-ARFET_A=1T—HILFE,
%7 ) AR v A A R 4 A
MEREHEBAEE ZAREAR
A R Al 1 TR N ST(E - T
H A ] 2 5 A 8 S B 2L Ak (BRI B R
Rt o A P(EIk S 12,321,000 ¥ G E
NEE-_F =+ H=+—HI4E
JE 2 Fo i A B At i 25 B HE R R R
B o

TR H AR A S 3 — = A i A A
ZERCREER B0 AR T
75 307 LU

(a BWE_F_=F+_H=+—HI
EERABEEFIAR -E =
T A=+ B HAM A BK
5,270,000 # T

(b)y MREFEWE—-H-HARBERLEZ
#3510,000,000 % T

(c)  BfhEE49(a) BT A BTG 2 55 — IR
B3R 3 41018 13,333,333.3 800 5 &

(d) BEARLEZHERIR -



231

CITYCHAMP WATCH & JEWELLERY GROUP LIMITED  Jefdffifék ok 8 4 Ml 47 PR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fo S B A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{%F — % — =4F+ = +—H IL4FE

22.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 22. fikE&mT R
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
Derivative financial assets i & mh & E
Forward and option contracts i W N IHE A A 5,136 2,888
Derivative financial liabilities i &k A
Forward and option contracts W A REA A 49,318 12,622
Notes: B 5

Forward and option contracts arising in banking business

The Group’s subsidiaries under the banking business segment act as an intermediary
to offer derivative products including interest rate and currency forwards and swap to
its customers. These derivative positions are managed through entering back-to-back
deals with external parties to ensure the remaining exposures are within acceptable

risk levels.

The following tables and notes provide an analysis of the nominal amounts of
derivatives and the corresponding fair values as at the year ended date. The nominal
amounts of the derivatives indicate the volume of transactions outstanding as at the

reporting date; they do not represent amounts at risk.

2 H SRAT B 2 W B RE S 4

AR [ SRAT B I UT 2 B 2 mIAE J vh A 16
HEF R A THE M » SRR ER
IR o RZAEATAE TR AR B R AR5
RTS8 5 oy HE AT A B DURE QR B L B
T T e 52 JE B K A

R L MR R R H LSRR 2 AT A TR (E
FAHRE P EAR BT o T4 TH 2 W EBUR
T e A i A 5 B 2 52 T Sl 0 22 B e
B -

31 December 2023
“EROEZHETSA=1T—H

Nominal
amount Assets Liabilities
i 973 Ffi
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T T#x T#
Non-hedging instruments FEEI TR
— Currency derivatives —BWMETR 3,082,781 5,136 (49,318)
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22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 22, fiAERE TR ()
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued) B eE : ()
Forward and option contracts arising in banking business (Continued) A& E RAT TS 2 1 A B ARE S 4 (A

31 December 2022
SRt ZA=1T—H

Nominal
amount Assets Liabilities
THI{EL HE £
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
THs T T T
Non-hedging instruments F ¥ uh TR
— Currency derivatives —EWAETR 2,465,564 2,888 (12,622)
— Option — e 195 5 3
2,465,759 2,888 (12,622)
& Represents the amount less than HK$1,000. * B EH DI 1,000 5 IC ©
Nominal amount analysed by remaining maturity R 2 H 4 2 T (E
2023 2022
HK$’000 HKS$’000
T ¥t T U T
Within 3 months RE (D] 3,082,781 2,421,488
Between 3 months and 1 year 3 A = 14 = 35,271
3,082,781 2,456,759
The remaining term to maturity of derivatives does not represent the Group’s i T EBIHA A RN 1 BRI AS A 3R A 48 B 2
intended holding period. Change in the fair value of forward and option contracts FA A o 2R HERATEF 2 m I RIE S K 2 A
arising in banking business has been recognised in the consolidated statement of PEEE O R 4R G 2T R A [RATER 2~

comprehensive income under “Trading income from banking business”. 2GRN NI HERR o
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES

23. JEWRX

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#T THETT
Trade receivables arising from watches and §i Bk I IRE RS i DA R B B T
timepieces and watches accessories business: PRSET 7 A 2 EACIR K
(note (a)) (B3 (2)
Trade receivables JE WM K 511,936 424,991
Less: Provision for impairment loss W e R A (82,202) (88,351)
429,734 336,640
Trade receivables arising from financial A Rl SE S AR 2 BR3¢
business: (note (b)) (Bt 3E (b))
— Cash clients —BEEF 13,207 -
13,207 -
Trade receivables, net JRE iz B N U A 442,941 336,640

Notes:

(@

The Group’s trading terms with its customers of watches and timepieces
and watches accessories business are mainly on credit, except for certain
customers, where payment in advance is required. The credit period is
generally for a period of 30 days to 360 days (2022: 30 days to 180 days)
for major customers. The credit term for customers is determined by the
management according to industry practice together with consideration of
their creditability. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a wide range of customers, there is no significant

concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables arising from watches and
timepieces and watches accessories business are recorded using an allowance
account unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote,
in which case the impairment loss is written off against trade receivables

directly.

ff it

(@)

W5 T 2 P ZE T e A 340 - A 48 ] B
ok e RS 5 DA K SR B S R P
WL BB E R ARl o F
KFE— B #30 K E360 K (&
HE30REIBOR) ZEEY - KF 25
5 1 e A L AR A T SE 1 81N e P
Z A o BN bl 2 IE S A 4 [
W oK AN 25 i 41 5 2
5 P R o REMCIR O R FHE.

S 6k N IR it DA B S Bk I S5 E AR
2 IENSCHR A AL e 4R (8 PR 18 AR RS 1R
W% 90 A 45 11 A0 0k ] A Rl < 2 T o

R AR U Bl iy > AECAE O T - (B s 4R
B B AR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. JEWCIRK ()
Notes: (Continued) B eE : ()
(@)  (Continued) (a) (#)

Movements in the expected credit losses of trade receivables arising from

S ¢ e IRl 5 A % i Bk T A 2E 5 i A
Z MW SR 2 MR Sl A B W F

watches and timepieces and watches accessories business are as follows:

2023 2022
S =t —E— 4
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt T
At 1 January w—H—H 88,351 80,641
Written off Jii g5 (10,421) -
Expected credit losses for the year (note 10) AN TR IS B4R (B EE 10) 10,810 11,770
Exchange realignment [FEE 52, i8] (6,538) (4,060)
At 31 December WtHZH=+—H 82,202 88,351

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Ageing analysis of trade receivables arising from watches and timepieces
and watches accessories business as at the reporting date, based on invoice

dates, and net of provisions, is as follows:

A B T N 0 2 S 4 B A AR AT A i o

S 6k N IRF T it DA B SR Bk WL S5 E AR
ZIRE SRR (e 488 ) 45 88 52 1 R
ot H 2 MRl AT an

2023 2022
Y =Y TR TR

HK$’000 HK$’000

T 0 T U T

1 to 3 months 1 &3 A 198,365 192,527
4 to 6 months 4Z 610 H 22,421 28,459
Over 6 months R 611 H 208,948 115,654
429,734 336,640

The directors of the Company consider that as trade receivables arising from
watches and timepieces and watches accessories business are expected to be
recovered within one year, their fair values are not materially different from
their carrying amounts because these balances have short maturity periods on

their inception at the reporting date.

AT HFT S o RS B i
B T R R it A B S B C A SE S E AR
JRE WS R R T A I — 4 PR [T - LA A

S5 ER H B 0 DA 2 21 4 H i A
Y BT SEL R A (ST  FEOK 5 B

B

o
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

The settlement term of trade receivables arising from the financial business of

securities dealing is two business days after trade date (“T+2”).

Trade receivable from cash clients related to a wide range of customers for
whom there was no recent history of default. Based on the past experience,
current assessment and the available forward-looking information, the
management believes that no additional impairment allowance is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit

quality and the balances are considered fully recoverable.

The Group has policy for impairment allowance which requires
management’s judgement and estimation as mentioned in note 4.10. The
directors are in opinion that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect
of trade receivables arising from the financial business of securities dealing
as at 31 December 2023.

24. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED

23. JEWURZK ()

BERE - (48

(b)

w7 B 4 i SE TS T A AR R R R
ZHAWR S AR MM EER
(F'T+21) -

SRR P A B 2 BB & & P AR
AT I A R T Bk o AR 1 KR B - B IR
Ak K FT T R PR EORL o A BRE AR
SEJE % 5 A R R RN LA - T9 el
TR A R kSl e K 5 ) L% B 4
] 2 B[] o

TNBE 4.10 BTt » A 45 [ st 5 B el (L 8 A
B BUR > SR A B 1 R A wE o
EEDE > R FE =+ H=1+—
H oo JHE a6 05 B B 2 4 Bl s T i A
IR VAT S T - Dol (48 A o

24. TR BB AR IR Z LAt 4 kT

COST
2023 2022
HKS$°000 HK$’000
T T
Listed debt instruments, at amortised cost EifER LA

TG A 51 HR 1,878,805 1,571,725

Issued by: = 1D NG %
Governments and public sector BT B8 8 5 Y 891,891 229,862
Financial institutions b Rl B A 430,835 901,527
Corporations >3 556,079 440,336
1,878,805 1,571,725

The listed debt investments represented the investments in listed debt

instruments mainly issued by financial institutions and corporations in

Europe.

AR £ T o R < A T
HERAITZ B TREE -
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24. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED 24, RS R A B M 2 At 4> ik

COST (Continued) (%)
(a)  Reconciliation of gross carrying amount for other financial assets at (a) TSN R AR B AR 2 oA 4 il 2
amortised cost are as follow: e T AR AR AN T
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
BR B Bk B IR B At
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
THE T T W T T T T T
As at 1 January 2022 R4 —H—H 1,849,936 - 32,199 1,882,135
New financial assets originated, Jf F 73 4 il & 7
net of amount derecognised R & 1L HERR 440 (254,692) = = (254,692)
Exchange realignment HE 3¢, 5 2 (28,248) - (363) (28,611)
As at 31 December 2022and R -E "4+ "H
1 January 2023 =t—HE
“® o=k —H—H 1,566,996 - 31,836 1,598,832
New financial assets originated, Vi H #7344 Rl & 7
net of amount derecognised MR IE RS 148,798 - - 148,798
Written off EE] = - (32,861) (32,861)
Exchange realignment FE e, 3 4 164,227 - 1,025 165,252
As at 31 December 2023 R-Z_=4#+2HA
=+—H 1,880,021 - - 1,880,021
(b)  Movements in the expected credit losses in respect of other financial (b)  HEHHEEH AR B B 2 Ho A 4 S E 2
assets at amortised cost are as follows: TG R R2E T -
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
BRE B 2R B IR B At
HK$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$’000
Tt T T T T T T
Balance at 1 January 2022 RoZZTE-H—H
Z &tk 1,642 - 27,559 29,201
Change in valuation adjustments 7 £ J& g {ik {E 3 %8 5 )
for default risks (note 8) (B 3E8) (966) - (771) (1,737)
Exchange realignment FE e, 3 4 (46) - 311) (357)
Balance at 31 December 2022 R —F - "4E A
and 1 January 2023 =Z=t—HE
“ET=4—-H—H
Z itk 630 - 26,477 27,107
Change in valuation adjustments % 4} Ja b5 fif {7 i %2 5 )
for default risks (note 8) (K5ES) 492 - 5,532 6,024
Written off T 85 = = (32,861) (32,861)
Exchange realignment FE e, 3 4 94 = 852 946
Balance at 31 December 2023 R _F =421
=+ —H2& 1,216 = = 1,216
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25. INVENTORIES 25. 8

2023 2022

Y =t e S
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T T
Raw materials JE A R 309,729 398,884
Work-in-progress TE 5 378,697 419,654
Finished goods and merchandises BB B P 1,117,473 1,117,385
1,805,899 1,935,923

BE=F AL
B A 2 it e 2R % A T e SR i B B 4y
FRAGRY EE ) TR AT A B PR E S > 2R
SH A B AS I B A A TR 3% Hh FE R HE A 13
[1] 22,705,000 5 JG

A reversal of provision of HK$22,705,000 had been recognised in cost of
sales and consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 December 2022, due to an increase in the estimated net realisable
value of certain models of watch products as a result of the increase in the
demand of products as well as the production needs.

26. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 26. P Al 8 A 36 HE 4
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$°000
Tt TUs I

At 1 January w—H—H 491 519
Share of total comprehensive income of joint JEAL &5 A2 2 A TH

ventures W A AR 5 (28)
At 31 December WA =+—H 496 491
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26. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 26.

Particulars of the joint ventures, which are accounted for using equity
method in the consolidated financial statements, are as follows:

Particulars of  Place of

Fidli & 8 RN AR (a0

AR BB R IR MR R AR B 2
FEREIE

Principal activities
Percentage of  and principal place

Name issued capital  incorporation interest held  of operation
C# 17 AR FEEBR
EA AN R oL FRAG A sr e HEEEME
2023 and 2022
ZEFEER
TR U
Corum Investment Management US$100  Cayman Islands 40%  Investment holding in
Limited (“Corum Investment”) 100 3= G HEiE Hong Kong
T 4%
Corum Capital Partners Limited US$10,000  Cayman Islands 40%  Investment holding in
(“Corum Capital”) 10,000 3% JC HEHE Hong Kong
A 4

Despite the Group’s holding of 40% equity interest in Corum Investment
and Corum Capital respectively, the directors have confirmed that neither
the Group nor other shareholders of the joint ventures has unilateral
control over the operating and financing decision of the joint ventures in
accordance with the joint venture agreement. These joint arrangements are
classified as joint ventures and have been accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements using equity method.

i & A< 4E [ 43 Fl F5 A7 Corum Investment &
Corum Capital Z 40% REAKE S » RIEA &
Wh ik > B MER M AL WA g
HC Al oA B T T A B AR SE KRB
MBS PR - S G E RSB R GE 4
FHEHR GG MBS R SRR R AR -
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27. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 27. oA BBk 2 v HE AR
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$°000
T#T THETT
At 1 January w—H—H 122,202 113,687
Share of total comprehensive income of JRE A T 55 ) 2 A TH A
associates AR 11,209 16,587
Dividend income from an associates KE—HBEEARZ
e B A (25,000) (10,000)
Acquisition through disposal of subsidiaries 75 ot L B B 4 W) A
(note 12(b)) (B3 12(b)) - 8,670
Disposal of partial interests in an associates HR S i A — TR B 4 A
73 M 1 = (1,604)
Transferred to non-current assets held for sales P BRI
(note 40) IE R E) E (K sE40) = (5,138)
At 31 December Wt —H=1+—H 108,411 122,202
Particulars of the principal associate, which is a limited liability company, WoEF ==+ —H o BERE
at 31 December 2023 are as follows: Nl (BARAR) ZFEEmT

Principal activities

Particulars of  Place of Percentage of  and place of
Name issued capital  incorporation interest held  operation
A  EEEBER
4 SR BRAGEN s R i asrte B
Fair Future HK$600,000 Hong Kong 25%  Manufacturing of
(6] 600,000 C Ak watches and related
accessories in the
PRC
A HH e SR 5 S ok

A B m A
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27. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The summarised financial information of the Group’s material associate

extracted from its management accounts for the years ended 31 December

2023 and 2022 is as follows:

27. Ak 2wl HE AR ()

UTABE_FE - R _FE - _F1+—
H=4—HIEFEAREEE RS AR Z
PAES BRI R (i sk B A AR E) ¢

2023 2022
HK$°000 HKS$°000
T#T THETT
Fair Future Group L
As at 31 December R+—_H=+—H
Current assets it B 570,965 707,396
Non-current assets IE B G 167,230 126,436
Current liabilities it B B (453,438) (489,321)
Non-current liabilities F it B 4 A (8,376) (12,175)
Net assets & e E 276,381 332,336
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in 7 48 [ R O A I 2 M i 2
Fair Future Group: R
Proportion of the Group’s ownership A 45 [ A RE 2 EL A5 25% 25%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate A [ E AL B s A Al 2
E R E 69,096 83,084
Goodwill on acquisition Wi i 2 T 37,987 37,987
Effect of unrealised profits arising from the A€ B B — [T A R 2 5 2
transactions with an associate % B 2 ik A g (319) (516)
Other reconciliation items HoAth AR TEH H 1,647 1,647
Carrying amount of the investment 8 i T (B 108,411 122,202
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27. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 27. B b 2 vl B AR (a0
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$°000
T L TUs I
For the year ended 31 December BET A= —HILEE
Revenue 1PN 912,204 1,242,549
Profit for the year AT B i | 54,579 74,904
Other comprehensive income A 2 T Y A (10,533) (612)
Total comprehensive income A TH A AR 44,046 74,292

Reconciliation to the Group’s share of results X5 B BE A (8 G 4L B 4 =

of Fair Future Group: HHE -
Proportion of the Group’s ownership A4 [ A HE 2 b 25% 25%
Group’s share of profits of the associate 7 A 8] R A\ W 8 W) 22 i 13,645 18,726
Effects of unrealised profits arising from the A B —HEE ARG Z

transactions with an associate o B B i A % 197 (59)
Share of profit of the associate for the year B 4 A0 B85 2 ) i A 13,842 18,667
Group’s share of other comprehensive income A A ) A T A T 2

of the associate S Ath A T U (2,633) (153)
Share of total comprehensive income of the JRE A B s\ 2 AT A

associate MR 11,209 18,514
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28. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

28 W3 ~ Wb Kk il

Furniture,
fixtures
Right-of-use Land and Leasehold Plant and and office Motor
assets buildings improvements ~ machinery  equipment vehicles CIP Total
- RER
fEMEEE  takEs  WEEE RERRE  RAZRH fE LR At
HK$°000 HKS000 HK$°000 HKS000 HK$°000 HKS°000 HK$°000 HKS'000
T T T T Tk Tk T Tk
At1 January 2022 REZZZE-A-A
Cost B 634998 779,360 145,717 22,345 671,411 43559 89,656 2,587,046
Accumulated depreciation it (156,724) (163,728) (108,791) (172,111) (602,258) (35,280) - (1,238892)
Net carrying amount TR (A 478,74 615,632 36,926 50,234 09,153 8279 89,656 1,348,154
Year ended 31 December 2022~ KE-F- A
St—-HIEEE
Opening net book amount AR A 478,74 615,632 36,926 50,234 09,153 8279 89,656 1,348,154
Additions WE - 1421 2350 2419 10,845 1,642 73,700 92377
Lease modification HEBY 1,093 - - - = - = 1,093
Transfer g = 38,934 - - - - (38,934) -
Transferted to assets of adisposal B RHF(E B
group held for sales (note 38) HERRIERE (H38) - - (57) - - - = (57)
Depreciation i (29,809) (10,501) (4,045) (10,856) (33,570) (2,521) - (91,302)
Disposal i - - (200) (313) (1) = - (514)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEREAT
(note 12(b)) (3 12(0)) (1,364) - (M) - (52) - - (1.487)
Exchange realignment [ st (26,055) (221 (2,081) (2813) (L,615) (349) (7,765) (62,950)
Closing carrying amount R 422,139 6023214 8 38,671 447760 7,051 116,657 1285314
At31 December 2022 and 3 Sy g |
1 January 2023 S+-AR-BZ=E
~H—H
Cost Bk 613,695 794,646 138,318 214,456 059,416 43940 116,657 2,581,128
Accumulated depreciation it (191,556) (171,432) (105,496) (175,785) (614,656) (36,889) - (1,295814)
Net carrying amount R T 422,139 623,214 nm 38,671 44,760 7,051 116,637 1,285,314
Year ended 31 December 2023~ RE_F =R
SR LEE
Opening net book amount AR A 13 623,214 380 38,671 44,760 7,051 16657 1285314
Additions WE 768 4,645 1,092 331 17,837 1,745 5020 34418
Acquisition of subsidiaries RN v
(note 49) (JizE49) 338 - - 293 1,553 - - 18U
Lease modification HEEYR 2,53 = = = - = = 053
Transfer L b - - - 27,080 - - (27,080) -
Depreciation it (32,062) (13,131) (2.815) (7,21) (28,672) (1479) - (85,380)
Disposal HE - - - (285) (1,485) (252) - 2,01)
Exchange realignment B (16,917) 35,356 (304) (1,558) 8,740 (287) (7,108) 17922
Closing carrying amount ERIR 396,798 050,084 30,795 82,931 42,733 6,778 87489 1,297,608
At31 December 2023 ﬁé:f:zrr:ﬂ
=t—H
Cost piA 566,342 830,113 136,021 255,040 610,904 38,852 87489 2,524,761
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (169544)  (180,029) (105220  (I7L109 (568,71 (32,074) - (1)
Net carrying amount T 396,798 050,084 30,95 82,931 42,733 6,778 87,489 1,297,608




243 CITYCHAMP WATCH & JEWELLERY GROUP LIMITED  Jefdffifék ok 8 4 Ml 47 PR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fo S B A PR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{%F — % — =4F+ = +—H IL4FE

28. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 28. M3~ Wi Bk e

At 31 December 2023, land and buildings in Switzerland with an MoFE=ZF+_A=+—H > KEH
aggregated carrying value of HK$81,875,000 (2022: HK$74,403,000) L 457 72 By - iR 1T 484 81,875,000 5 7T
have been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note (ZF 4R ¢ 74,403,000 % 70) 2 b K&
36). BT DUE SR AT A& (ffsk36) »

At 31 December 2023, right-of-use assets in PRC with an aggregated WoE =T ZAZT 0 AEED
carrying value of HK$170,653,000 (2022: HK$185,036,000) have been G 07 7 Fh B R T AR 170,653,000 7 TG
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note 36). (& 4 £ 185,036,000 5 7t) 2 fif A

B DU AT LA (K1 5E36) o

Right-of-use assets Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
58 1 e el R HE T HH At
HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$°000
T Tt T
At 1 January 2022 W_E __4—H—H 477,530 744 478,274
Lease modification B 1,266 (173) 1,093
Depreciation e (29,566) (243) (29,809)
Disposal of subsidiaries L T B 2 ) (1,364) - (1,364)
Exchange realignment [FEE 5, 5 (26,040) (15) (26,055)
As at 31 December 2022 and /A ST oy Y £
1 January 2023 =Z=F—HE
R -=4#—H—H 421,826 313 422,139
Additions WE 395 373 768
Acquisition of subsidiaries Wi H i J 2 ) 338 - 338
Lease modification GENER T 22,532 = 22,532
Depreciation e (31,770) (292) (32,062)
Exchange realignment [ifE b, i (16,850) (67) (16,917)
As at 31 December 2023 /g St
+=ZH=+—H 396,471 327 396,798
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29. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured using the fair
value model and are classified and accounted for as investment properties.

Changes to the carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position can be summarised as follows:

29.

L8 <E/E S

A A [0 BT AT ol TR L < B A 48 (T A AR
BHAFA <Y ehan - TR A PER
FHE S WAOBRAIRS EY)E -

ARR G WA B IR L2 52 91 - R T {8 ) A
LU

2023 2022
g StV o —ET
HKS$°000 HKS$°000
Tt THs T
Carrying amount at 1 January B —H—HZMRHHE 170,906 210,159
Net deficit on revaluation of investment WaEYEEMHZ
properties (note 8) i Al A (BN RER) 1,218) (9,564)
Transferred to assets of a disposal group held for — ##f 2 R fE & 2 &
sales (note 39) A AEEE (f5E39) (24,900)
Exchange realignment [FE 5, 5 (3,318) (4,789)
Carrying amount at 31 December RTHZHA=1—HZKHE 166,370 170,906

The carrying amounts of the Group’s investment properties situated in the
PRC held under medium-term leases.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has not obtained the relevant title
certificates for investment properties with an aggregate carrying value
of HK$45,360,000 (2022: HK$43,147,000). The Group’s legal advisors
have confirmed that the Group is the rightful and equitable owner of these
investment properties. The directors are now in process of obtaining the
title certificates from the relevant government authorities.

Investment properties were revalued at 31 December 2023 by Asset
Appraisal Limited (“Asset Appraisal”) and Chung, Chan & Associate,
independent professionally qualified valuers, at HK$166,370,000 (2022:
HKS$170,906,000) in aggregate. Asset Appraisal is a member of Hong
Kong Institutes of Surveyors and Chung, Chan & Associates is a member
of Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Both have appropriate
qualifications and relevant experiences in the location and category of
properties being valued.

ASSE B (7 77 P R DA AL A B 2 EE )
S IRTE °

MoEEAETF A S A% EN
R ol B AT 4 {8 45,360,000 5 70 (& =
T 1 43,147,000 ¥ 70) 2 18 & W) SE B AH B
EMERE I o A4 [ B I O > gk
B Gz EmE AR A N o &
SR IE 1) A B SRS A R B A S R Y o

WEYWER-FZ_=F+A=1—H
F 8 37 B 25 G S Al (L I R S
(E R A AR ([ aiEl) & hEfrE
i B 4 3£ 166,370,000 50 (—F =

170,906,000 %5 JC) o H il 22 2 75 s ) o Fii
B B > e AT R A 0 B KRR =
R Gl B o Wi B AGEY E2 f E
4345177 T LA 8 S TR B 4 B o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{%F — % — =4F+ = +—H IL4FE

29. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 29.

Fair value hierarchy
The fair value of investment properties is a Level 3 recurring fair value
measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and closing fair value

8 <E/E S
2 P 8% S

(%)

BB L AR I 56 = B RS AR T
at 8 o SR BAF AR AR R 2 SRS

balance is provided below. R e
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#T T
Opening balance (Level 3 recurring fair value) R (5 = A T
AFAH) 170,906 210,159
Deficit on revaluation of investment properties Vi A B R AT BR 2
charge to profit or loss G 2T A 2 A (1,218) (9,564)
Transferred to assets of a disposal group held for 2 e fE B 2
sales (note 39) B A RIE EE (FEE39) = (24,900)
Exchange realignment [FE 5, 5 (3,318) (4,789)
Closing balance (Level 3 recurring fair value) ARG B =g 8t
AN 166,370 170,906
Change in unrealised loss for the year included Mt _H=+—HFHA
in profit or loss for assets held at 31 December Gl A SR 2
A JBE O 5 B s R 5 ) 1,218) (9,564)

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

BE-F-=H#R-F -4+
St AR - B
S » 7 RS = B 50 =
it S SR B 2 s R
HER A5 A TR BT 2 ] 2 9608 -
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29. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

For the fair value measurement for investment properties in the PRC under
income approach, the fair value was determined by taking into account the
net rental incomes of the properties derived from the existing tenancies
with due allowance for the reversionary income potential of the tenancies,
which are then capitalised into the values at appropriate capitalisation

rates.
Significant unobservable inputs Range
1.75% to 5.90%
(2022: 1.16%
to 7.89%)
HK$10.12 to HK$105.6
(2022: HK$9.04
to HK$111.0)

Capitalisation rate

Market unit rent per square metre

A lower in the capitalisation rate and a higher in the market unit rent used
would result in an increase in the fair value measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

For the fair value measurement for certain investment properties in the
PRC under direct comparison method, it is assumed that each of the
properties is capable of being sold in its existing state with the benefit of
vacant possession and by making reference to comparable sales evidence
as available in the relevant markets.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in the prior
year. The fair value measurement is based on the above properties’ highest
and best use, which does not differ from their actual use.

29.

BEWE )

B FAE BB (48)

AR AR 5 # Al 2 B B B 6N T (E R
WM E > A TETIRARZSEY ERE B A
T A 2 WA B > 625 R8BI A AR

R BIATE S KRR EEAR R
WAEARTH L EM -

KN ] B A B i [

G R 1.75% % 5.90%

(CB 5 116%

%7.89%)

B T S 4 10.12 ¥ 76 % 105.6 ¥ 7T

(B-FI7K) (SR 904 T

£111.0¥#70)

7T A AR A Al b 2 % o iy B A2 T 3 A
EEEBEEY R NFERM - RZ TR

AR B SRR R T RS S
PNOFETTE - T9 B JH 3 F] #2 L BLUIR
2 M - 25 A BT R 2 T R
SHEIEE -

T b4 B 2 Al (B D7 00 A S o
FHETIARYE BRI e R R E A
FAEGTH > %A G S R R R A
7l -
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30. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 30. JEIE &
Supplier and
distribution Trading Computer Customer Technical
networks  Brand names Patents rights software  relationship knowhow Total
[kERR
AERE RRAR uhE RuE EREE RPEE HfR &t
HKS'000 HKS$000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T T T T T T T T
At 1 January 2022 e et i Rl
Cost 1S 014 290,173 34,351 746 - - - 35412
Accumulated amortisation and by et
impairment losses (22,059) (245,191) (34351) - - - - (301,801)
Net carrying amount i 183 498 - 746 - - - 52411
Year ended 31 December 2022~ BEZZZZEFA
Z-HIEEE
Opening carrying amount ERRm M 18 4498 - 46 - - - 52411
Amortisation it (174) - - - - - - (14
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 12(6) £ R A (B3 12(0) - - = (7.246) = = = (146)
Exchange realignment T} 9 (1,728) - - - - - (L737)
Closing carrying amount AN - 43254 - - - - - #5254
At 31 December 2022 and REBZZEFZAS TR
1 January 2023 ZRIEEA-H
Cost IS 21,82 76343 34092 - - = = 31497
Accumulated amortisation and LR st 2
impairment losses (21,062) (233,089) (34,092) - - - - (288,243)
Net carrying amount WGt - 3254 - - - - S 43254
Year ended 31 December 2023~ BEZFZ=E4CRH
IR
Opening carrying amount AR - 43,254 - - - - - 43,254
Amortsation B - - = - (66) (3,07) (5201) (8458)
Addition B - - - - 138 - - 138
Acquisition of subsidiaries LB A R (349
(note 49(a) - - - - 828 46,050 0333 09211
Exchange realignment Efimg - 3048 - - (20) (1074) (406) 1548
(Closing carrying amount R IR - 46,302 = - 880 41,805 16,706 105,693
At 31 December 2023 3 S 5 Y % ol
Cost S 0403 298,080 31457 - 966 44958 21,803 425,607
Accumulated amortisation and L et
impairment losses (22,403) (251,778) (37457) - (86) (3,153) (5,097) (319,974)
Net carrying amount Wi - 46302 - - 880 41805 16,706 105,693
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30. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, intangible assets of HK$105,693,000 (2022:
HK$43,254,000) are attributable to watches and timepieces and watches
accessories business.

Supplier and distribution networks have been fully amortised in the prior
years.

Brand name amounted to HK$46,302,000 (2022: HK$43,254,000) are
attributable to the CGU of Ernest Borel Group. Details of the impairment
assessment of the CGU of Ernest Borel Group are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The remaining balances of brand names and patents had been amortised or
fully impaired in previous years since the operating results of those CGUs
had not been performed as expected.

Computer software, customer relationship and technical knowhow are
attributable to the CGU of Gold Vantage Group. Details of the impairment
assessment of the CGU of Gold Vantage Group are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

30.

B & E (40

MR- AT H=Z—H BIEEE
105,693,000 %5 JC (2 —. " 4F : 43,254,000
V5 IT) 6 A S gk R IRR LR i DA % B B i
1 2EHS o

FOBFEAEIE - BRIET B 5 B4 £ 2

i i 42 F5 46,302,000 75 0 (% T A
43,254,000 #5 7T ) it o8 17 B 42 2 AR B AR D%
5 B2 1) o B 4 AR BT AR U6 s R T 2 Wi
REAL FE R 7 A S IR R M aE 31 -

R A 2% 5 B 45 7 A AL A AR SRR IE B
TEHA > R R EORIRE RO BR T A BRI E
AF O S B A O -

TG AT ~ 255 BAR T 5 00 560 sk 5 o 7 3
SE R AL AR o Bl LS
45 B 2 U (R 3 15 A o A P S R R A
FE31 0
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{%F — % — =4F+ = +—H IL4FE

31. GOODWILL 31. W&
The amount of goodwill capitalised as an asset recognised in the TS DR AR 2R S5 B IR D 3R A ERR
consolidated statement of financial position, arising from business BEEZEARLEEEEWT
combinations, is as follows:
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#T THETT
At 1 January #—H—H
Gross carrying amount e T A 1,231,933 1,302,404
Accumulated impairment losses 2tk s 1 (139,921) (150,616)
Net carrying amount W 1 B 1,092,012 1,151,788
Year ended 31 December BET A= —HIL4EE
Opening carrying amount 3D HR THT (B 1,092,012 1,151,788
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 49(a)) Wi B o Je 2 ) (B 5 49(a)) 42,178 -
Impairment loss during the year (note 8) ENBE TR (EES) (13,389) -
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 12(b)) B B A H] (BT 12(b)) - (3,080)
Exchange realignment [T 5, i 29,871 (56,696)
Closing carrying amount AR BRI (H 1,150,672 1,092,012
At 31 December R+_H=+—H
Gross carrying amount R T A8 (E 1,313,737 1,231,933
Accumulated impairment losses 2k (s 1 (163,065) (139,921)
Net carrying amount W AT 4 (E 1,150,672 1,092,012
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31. GOODWILL (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the CGUs
under watch and timepieces and watch accessories segment and banking
businesses segment. The CGUs were identified as follows:

31.

LESEE )

WUEAT IR B > 7R I A B R B R T
TEE il DA B S5 65k B A 0 ST S SR AT S A B2
B4 AR AL o B4 AR B E Ak A

2023 2022
Segment HK$°000 HKS$°000
g T#ou T
Jia Cheng Investment Limited and its Watches and timepieces and watches 603,646 619,546
subsidiaries accessories
(ER e gl RN SN )P S gk I IRF TS ity A R i Bk i
Corum Group Watches and timepieces and watches 57,534 52,366
accessories
B A 4R S Gk S T i DL M S 6K L 1
Dreyfuss Group Watches and timepieces and watches 92,142 87,555
accessories
GiglE S S gk I IRF TS ity A B Bk i
Bendura Group Banking business 284,703 259,131
A RAT ZEHS
Ernest Borel Watches and timepieces and watches 234,389 213,335
accessories
R U s A A Gk 2 T i L % S B L 1
Gold Vantage Group Watches and timepieces and watches 41,323 -
accessories
e L] Gk S T i DL B LA
Gross carrying amount 1,313,737 1,231,933
R TG AL

The Group’s management has engaged Asset Appraisal to perform
valuations for the purpose to assess the recoverable amount of the CGUs
to which goodwill is allocated. The keys assumptions as adopted in the
valuations, including the expected profit margins and the managements’
expectations for the future market performance.

AR B £ 208 P o AT A (E > DA
AT A 7 B L T e 2 B4 AR B 2 T
[E] < B o it (ELBRF BR AR 2 5 B (B L4 T 3
758 1 v ) R A P R B 4R T 3 R BN T
# o
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31.

GOODWILL (Continued)

Jia Cheng Investment Limited and its subsidiaries

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on a value-in-use
calculation which uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors covering a five-year period, followed by an
extrapolation of expected cash flow at zero growth rate (2022: zero) which
do not exceed the long-term growth rate for the business in which the
CGU operates, and a discount rate of 16.88% per annum (2022: 16.23%).
The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the
CGU. The directors believe that any reasonably possible changes in the key
assumptions on which recoverable amount is based would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable of the CGU
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. No impairment loss was recognised for
this CGU since the acquisition of Jia Cheng Investment Limited and its
subsidiaries.

Corum Group
The goodwill arising from the acquisition of Corum Group in the watch
and timepieces segment had been fully impaired in previous years.

Dreyfuss Group
The goodwill arising from the acquisition of Dreyfuss Group in the watch
and timepieces segment had been fully impaired in previous years.

Bendura Group

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on a value-in-use
calculation which uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the directors covering a five-year period, followed by an
extrapolation of expected cash flow at zero growth rate (2022: zero) which
do not exceed the long-term growth rate for the business in which the
CGU operates, and a discount rate of 14.05% (2022: 16.11%) per annum.
The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the
CGU. The directors believe that any reasonably possible changes in the key
assumptions on which recoverable amount is based would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable of the CGU
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. No impairment loss was recognised for
this CGU since the acquisition of Bendura Group.

31.

2 ()

5 3 A B ) B L 2 )
W% 3 4 A B 2 a4 A8 ) L R
i BB/ 0 > A B O 01 ) 28 = Por it o
T2 AR 2 IS TR 2 B U e TR
FHREHMER (CE 4 X)) (K8
WA R 4 AR B R 2 2 R
) A R 16.88% (ZF ——
16.23% ) #E B7 7 3 B < v o o T G 3L R
7y 2 W B 4 A B R JE g 2 R AT L
R WA R E B AT T4
I A5 B 45 22 T i (] 46 BEAS 2 Sl AR
MEBRE SRR R SRR T
E A H = 2 a] i EIE A
B o IO (R S A R ] B LR A
) DA SRS 4 e B 4 A B 2
i~

SR

AT i i o A B A B 6 T IRE T S 0 S
A B RN R E 2B E -

7 1 IRy 4 [

TR g 8 o 4 B A0 B A i 6 % RS 03
S LB Y T A 4F 2 BORE o
CEE ]

W% 3 4 A B 2 a4 A8 ) L R
i BB/ 0 > A B 0 0 ) 28 = Por it o
T AR 2 B TR 2 B U e TR
ﬁf?ﬁﬁzggi**ﬁ T) (EAE

AR 4 R A R 2 2 R
1 R) RAEM I % 14.05% (& — .
16.11%) #E B7 78030 B < 0 1 T R BG 3HL%
Fy 2 WL B 4 7 A B R JE g 2 R AT L
R WA R E B AT T4

I A 5 ) 45 22 T i ] 46 B AS 2 Sl AR T
MEBRE SRR R R SRR T
T AR T H = H 2z A [e] BROE A
BE o [ IO A T DA S S A AR A% B A
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GOODWILL (Continued)

Ernest Borel

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on a value-
in-use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the directors covering a five-year period, followed
by an extrapolation of expected cash flow at zero growth rate which do
not exceed the long-term growth rate for the business in which the CGU
operates, and a discount rate of 20.42% per annum. The discount rate
used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the CGU. The directors
believe that any reasonably possible changes in the key assumptions
on which recoverable amount is based would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable of the CGU as at 31
December 2023. No impairment loss was recognised for this CGU since
the acquisition of Ernest Borel.

Gold Vantage Group

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Ernest Borel has acquired
the business as mentioned in note 49(a) to the consolidated financial
statements. In this regard, Gold Vantage Group has been identified as
separate CGU for impairment assessment. The recoverable amount of this
CGU is determined based on a value-in-use calculation which uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the directors
covering a five-year period, followed by an extrapolation of expected cash
flow at zero growth rate which do not exceed the long-term growth rate for
the business in which the CGU operates, and a discount rate of 20.15% per
annum. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating
to the CGU. The performance of this CGU cannot achieve the expected
result. As the recoverable of Gold Vantage Group CGU is lower than its
carrying amount, impairment loss of HK$13,389,000 has been recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Goodwill arising from business combinations prior to 2001
Goodwill arising from business combinations prior to 2001 had been
eliminated against the consolidated reserves. As at 31 December 2023,
the carrying amount of goodwill in the consolidated reserves was
HK$15,300,000 (2022: HK$15,300,000).

31.

LESEE )

8 W %
5% B 4 AR B A 22 AT i [m] 4 B TS DAET SR
o P (A 7 0 - A BH RSO R R S T AL
HEERA T MEEEZHESREE
W) > PR3 3G S R (AN 1 28 0 B 4 o A
B RS T R R R E) KA
20.42% HEETTE A 4 U o P A 32
Ly S W B 46 7 AR LA R R 2 BRI EE
T HWARL > BIFEFEMEZATATH
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MEBERSEAEMR F - =F 1+
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EFEE
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32. OTHER ASSETS 32. H b g
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#T THETT
Other receivables HAth B iR 127,419 112,266
Amount due from an associate (note 48.1) JRE S — P 78 2 W KT
(B 5k 48.1) 40,017 38,356
Amounts due from related companies JAE A R 2 2 ) BRI
(note 48.1) (P 3k 48.1) 1,065 1,065
Prepayments TA A 3CE 119,405 134,091
Deposits iy 9,200 9,300
Other interest receivables At B iR S, 47,456 13,793
Settlement and clearing account L e s AR 471 865
345,033 309,736
Other receivables represented cash advance to staff, VAT receivable, other FoAth B UK B RS TEAS B L2 B4 - G (EBL
advances and deposits in the securities accounts. JRE SRR I ~ HAth 3R R B 55 R P A7 3K -
As at 31 December 2023, the amount of the Group’s other assets expected W_E =T A=+ AEEE
to be recovered or recognised as expense after one year is HK$9,368,000 A A — A A5 i Tl B RR A B S 2 Ho At
(2022: HK$6,209,000). The remaining other assets are expected to be HE B FE /59,368,000 570 (- F
recovered or recognised as expense within one year. 6,209,000 %5 7C) © iR T HoAth ¥ A wh R —
AF A Wi [e] S A R A B ST e
Movements in expected credit losses for the other assets are as follows: HoAth ¥ e 2 MG B IR ) AT
2023 2022
HK$°000 HKS$°000
T#oo THETT
At 1 January w—H—H 7,453 9,433
Expected credit losses/(reversal of expected N TE IR R (S
credit losses) for the year (note 10) B R ] (B 5E10) 4,105 (1,264)
Exchange realignment [FEE 5, 5 B (191) (716)
At 31 December wt=H=1+—H 11,367 7,453
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4

33. JEATEF A

2023 2022
HKS$°000 HK$°000
T#T THETT
Due to clients — precious metals JREAS % 5k IE — 5 4 JE 131,180 208,435
Other amounts due to clients, Hoph JE A % 5 #E
mainly bank deposits (B RBERATHH) 10,024,131 9,779,243
10,155,311 9,987,678
34. TRADE PAYABLES 34, FEAF IR
2023 2022
HKS$°000 HK$°000
T#oo THETT
Trade payables arising from watches and S 6% S IRF T EE i DA B o ik
timepiece and watches accessories business WL PR SEH EE Z
(note a) JEEAS B (B 5E ) 201,095 198,994
Trade payables arising from financial business BREREEZ
(note b): JEATHEFK (M kD)
— Cash clients —BexH 6,135 =
Trade payables JRE A} AR K 207,230 198,994
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34. TRADE PAYABLES (Continued)

35.

34. MEAHERZK (a0

(a)  The credit terms of trade payables arising watches and timepieces (a) SR JLIRF T i DA B S 6k T A SE S
and watches accessories business vary according to the terms agreed A 7 AT Rk 2 AR S AR 45 BUR
with different suppliers. Trade payables to watches and timepieces [F] A B T i o 2 AR AT 45 52 o BBk
business are non-interest bearing. R IRFR]EE i S B S ok LA 2 2

WEAT R A AER -
Ageing analysis of trade payables arising from watches and S 5% I IRF RS i SE TS B g Bk T A 2
timepieces business and accessories of watches business as at the 5 17 AR 22 EAST MR A 4 R B 22 L A
reporting dates, based on the invoice dates, is as follows: A B HRES S BT AT
2023 2022
HKS$°000 HK$°000
T#ou T
1 to 3 months 1% 318 J 116,744 128,811
4 to 6 months 4E 6 H 8,774 6,530
Over 6 months i 6 11 A 75,577 63,653
201,095 198,994

(b)  The settlement term of trade payables arising from securities dealing (b) T F B ST E A AT IR
of the financial business is “T+2”. Trade payables arising from ZHEEMRATT2] - AT+
securities dealing of financial business during the “T+2” period M > 38 5 T S AR 2 AT
are current whereas those which are outstanding after the“T+2” SR 8 BN T [ T2 ) A [ %
period are repayable on demand. i) A B AT R S R 2 4 B SR A

7% o

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 35. AMARE

The contract liabilities mainly represented the advance consideration

received from customers. The Group will recognise the expected revenue

in future when or as the work is completed, which is expected to occur in
the next 12 month.

FHEMERR AR W EAHUE -
ARAE - AR [ R BB 5 S A e RBFE
WA > RPFESIHE S R A 12 1 H AT -
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35. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 35. ARRE @
Movement of contract liabilities R AEE
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T¥#oo
Balance as at 1 January w—H—HZ &8 41,946 26,510
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of A TN R RRO SR A
recognising revenue during the year that &R B AR
was included in the contract liabilities at the R A EW D
beginning of the year (41,622) (25,168)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of TE R SR IE A 4 & A8
receipts in advance 11,885 42,349
Exchange realignment [FE 5, 5 363) (1,745)
Balance as at 31 December AT H =+ —H 2R 11,846 41,946

Information related to the aggregated amount of transaction price allocated

to the remaining performance obligations has not been disclosed as the

Group had applied the practical expedients under HKFRS 15.

PR A A 45 T 8 R ) 7 o 0 5 s Y U 5
15 5% T 2 BRSS9 U7 i - B M 6 A

DELEG TR ERBEZE

E

36. BORROWINGS 36. fHE
2023 2022
TR - Jant
HK$’000 HK$’000
T¥#IT TUs I
Bank overdrafts (note 36.1) 4745 3 (¥ 5E36.1) 41,576 51,910
Bank borrowings (note 36.1) SRATIE B (M 5E36.1) 575,645 864,725
Other loans (note 36.2) HoAth B3 (B 5E36.2) 64,033 41,500
681,254 958,135
36.1 Bank overdrafts and bank borrowings 36.1 HITEXRBITHE
As at 31 December 2023, the amount of the Group’s bank overdrafts WoF_=H+-HA=+—H:

and bank borrowings repayable within one year or on demand is

HK$612,816,000 (2022: HK$639,674,000).

A G B ZRUTA — AR (R B R
B8 2 SRAT 15 3 K R AT i B

£ 612,816,000 % 0 (—F

639,674,000 % 7C) ©
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36. BORROWINGS (Continued)

36.1 Bank overdrafts and bank borrowings (Continued)
Based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan

agreements and ignore the effect of any repayment on demand

clause. Borrowings are repayable as follows:

36.

36.1

i B ()

SRATIE X B AT 1 B (D)

R4 A B K B ke 2 w2 K H
1 BT R E SRR
B o fi SR T 507 A EAT

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$°000
T L TUs I

Borrowings payable: JREASH i £ -
Within one year R — 4R 443,445 339,289
In the second year A 117,792 376,557
In the third to fifth year WA = B R 4R 4,405 149,358
After fifth year HAEDE 51,579 51,431
173,776 577,346
617,221 916,635

The abovementioned borrowings are charged at floating rates
ranging from 0% to 8.15% (2022: 0% to 6.58%) per annum.

At the reporting dates, the Group’s borrowings were secured by:

(@)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

)

corporate guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries within
the Group as at 31 December 2023 and 2022;

entire equity interest of certain subsidiaries within the Group
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022;

subordination deeds signed by the Directors of the Group as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022;

guarantee provided by the government of certain country as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022;

personal guarantee provided by an non-controlling interests
of a subsidiary of the Group and certain independent third
parties as at 31 December 2023 and 2022;

4 R W 4R R AT 0% B

8.15% (Z&F ==

2 0% %£.6.58%)

FE .

TR H > AR 2 A5 B DL 5
HIAVEAEA

®

(ii

(iii)

(iv)

)

oS ER I E
A = — A A R
2 A R4 228 R

RoB o SER R
oAt HAEEET
B 2 71 22 2 T 5
MoBSER-FE
A=t HALEHEES
BB 2RI

MIEZ R ZF T
ToA=Zt—HETHREH
JRF BT 4 A3 2 A 4

T A =t AAEE ] — R
JE AR IR A R T
LA =5 BRI 2 AR SR 5
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36. BORROWINGS (Continued)

36.1 Bank overdrafts and bank borrowings (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

certain assets of the non-controlling interests of a subsidiary
of the Group and certain independent third parties as at 31
December 2023 and 2022;

a legal charge over the Group’s property, plant and equipment
with the carrying amount of HK$252,528,000 (2022:
HK$259,439,000) as at 31 December 2023;

a legal charge over the Group’s certain financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income of not less than
52,890,000 Min Xin Shares as at 31 December 2023 and
2022;

a standby letter of credit with the correspondent borrowings’
balances as at 31 December 2023 and 2022; and

the value of the deposits charged shall at all times be not less
than HK$5,000,000 or its equivalent in other currencies as at
31 December 2023;

an assignment of two insurance policies in the bank’s
standard form executed by subsidiaries as policy holder and
beneficiary to assign by way of security to the bank all the
rights title, interests and benefits in and to a policy in the
amount of USD5,571,116 in total as at 31 December 2023
and Teguh Halim, an executive director of the Company as
the insured party issued by an insurance company acceptable
to the bank, and the proceeds of such policy, free from all
encumbrances.

personal guarantee provided by a director of the Company.

Certain of bank overdrafts and bank borrowings contain clause
which give the banks the right at their sole discretion to demand
immediate repayment at any time irrespective of whether the Group
has complied with the covenants and met the scheduled repayment
obligations. Borrowings due for repayment after one year which
contain a repayment on demand clause and are expected to be settled
within one year. The carrying amounts of the bank overdrafts and
bank borrowings are approximate to their fair value.

The directors of the Company are not aware of any breach of
covenant during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the
date of this report.

36. fa 8 ()
36.1 4T IE X K RAT IS B ()

vi) MIFEZ=FR_F
ToA=T—HAREE M
R Ji A ) 22 I e R A K A
T = 2 BT EE

(vi) RoFE_=F+_H=1+—H
A 4 4] B T E £ 252,528,000
oo (= & = T4
259,439,000 7C) Z W1 2 ~ ik
55 Kt 2 ik i

(viil) A F =R N F
E+HA=1+—HAKDi
52,890,000 /i [ 15 i 13 2 7 4
[ T A FERE A A A T
WA 2 4 VA 7 2 vk RD

(ix) WMI-FZ=AFR R AR
A=t —HMERE R
ks 28 [vi) R B R 5 B 5 %

® REF-=H1TZH=1—H
8 &5 4 A D i 5,000,000 ¥
G B H At & W % (H 2 BV IR
5

(xi) HEAE (EHRERA
N K% g N) DGR AT 15 e T
B L 2 T R B 2 R
DL AR 7 % = F = =4
TH=FT—HE&BEALRE
5,571,116 3 7t K A s 6 $ AT
# 95 Teguh Halim £ # £ B A
Z PR BT A RER - HE g SR
SRS P
SRAT - BZ PR R ERAT RE AT Z R
Wi s R % - R PR A AT Ao E
Ao

(xii) ASA A FE SRR E AR

HTRTEILRRITEECE K
3C o T SRAT B IRF 22 HERY 1 2R
BER 2 HEF > R AL R RO
AT Lk R B AT B R AE o i
—ERBIHEAN 2 R EHER
AT > IR — R - )
A7 325 32 T BRAT 8 5 R T {0 L EL
EARA °

BE-Z-=F+ A=+ AL
G RARE AR B - AN A
S I T 3 2
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36. 158 @)

36.2 Other loans 36.2 H Bk
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, other loans is unsecured,
charged at 5% per annum and repayable within one year.

36. BORROWINGS (Continued)

/e Ly Gt Sty ey |
=t B HAEER AR - 4%

5% HY 4R Il e 5t 2 R ZHR — 4 N E

2 o

37. PROVISIONS 37. #h

2023 2022
HK$°000 HKS$°000
F#oc THs T
Provision for litigation and tax risks WE e B B 25 D ot 358
At 1 January w—H—H 387 379
Newly formed and charged to profit or loss BT B Vi ) B
Js 45 R 1R 4,149 32
Released and credited to profit or loss B bR S w1 3k 1R (28) (21)
Exchange realignment [FE 5, 5 B 304 3)
At 31 December W —H=+—H 4,812 387
Maturity of the provisions B F A
Within one year — 4R 4,812 387
During the year ended 31 December 2023, provision for litigation risks BE-Z=F+"A=+—HILFE

of HK$4,121,000 (2022: provision for litigation risks of HK$11,000) has
been recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

As part of the normal business activities of banking business, the Group
is exposed to a wide range of legal risks. These include in particular risks
relating to litigation. The Group recognises provisions for such litigation
risks if the Group’s management and its legal advisors are of the opinion
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The amount of the
provisions and their timing are by their nature subject to uncertainty.
However, these uncertainties are evaluated as being low since it was
possible to reliably estimate the individual amounts and the majority of the
recognised provisions will probably become due within one year.

R A JE e 45 5 4,121,000 #EoT (&
A R AR B AR A 11,0009 0) B R 4E S
AT YR A 3R R o

YRR SRAT RS 1 SEBS TG B — B 20 - AC4R
V) v 2 5T 1 S = % <6 e L 4% B
AT [ 2 A TR o i A 2 L L %
TR T D 2 R B A A i 2 TR AT RE A
t HL BB AE T SE AL R - AR B A
JER g it R AT o 458 < R 2 LR ] AR A
PRS2 ANHEAE TR AR o SR > i A RE W)
5 M Al 81 71 < B B K 22 Bl e s A4 T
REIR —4E MBI - SO AL R AL o% 5 AN E
P RN
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The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial position

38. MEfE

R ARG BRI R A B A B A

in respect of the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements HRTHT (B Y S BB DA S B T -
during the year is as follows:
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
el R b W At
HKS$’000 HKS$°000 HK$°000
Tl Tl Tl
As at 1 January 2022 R_-Z__H—H—H 76,468 760 77,228
Interest expenses LS B S 2,687 18 2,705
Lease modification THE B 1,242 - 1,242
Lease payments L A5 3K (28,818) (621) (29,439)
Disposal of subsidiaries L B 2 )

(note 12(b)) (B 5E 12(b)) (1,426) = (1,426)
Exchange realignment e 52, 57 % (1,415) ) (1,424)
As at 31 December 2022 and W_F__#+_H=+—H

1 January 2023 RoBoZHgE—A—H 48,738 148 48,886
Additions nE 395 373 768
Interest expenses B B S 2,473 21 2,494
Lease modification FHE B 22,532 = 22,532
Lease payments BT 3K (24,357) (339) (24,696)
Acquisition of subsidiaries W S48 o o 2 )

(note 49(a)) (W3 49(a)) 32 - 372
Exchange realignment RS (1,316) 14) (1,330)
As at 31 December 2023 W= -H=1+—H 48,837 189 49,026
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38. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

Future lease payments are due as follows:

38. M& A @

RAHH AR B BIR BT

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$°000
T L TUs I
Minimum lease payment due IR TR B A R B AR L
— Within one year —— N 25,067 24,555
— In the second to fifth years, inclusive — B BEAF
(H W AE IS TE ) 38,330 37,546
63,397 62,101
Less: future interest expenses W RAF B B 32 (14,371) (13,215)
Present value of lease liabilities HEAERE 49,026 48,886
2023 2022
TR 4 G S
HK$°000 HKS$’000
T¥#T T IT
Short term leases expenses S 41 FH B BH S 27,436 23,059
Aggregate undiscounted commitments for short %5 HFH & A< B Bl 2K 5 2040
term leases 23,781 12,435
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40.
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ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR
SALE

In December 2022, the Group was entered into provisional agreement
for the disposal of entire equity interest of Wisdom Power at a cash
consideration of HK$27,500,000. Wisdom Power is holding the
investment properties in Hong Kong.

At 31 December 2022, the following major class of assets relating to the
group classified as held for sale in the consolidated statement of financial
position were as follows:

39.

715 A 2 A AL

R TFE T AE T AL T S R
W o DAEE 41018 27,500,000 35 C HE R h
ZAREBIEAE o B FH TR EWE o

MR AR H = —H o AR
SGE MR RS BATHELEZ THE
EEBUINAT

2022

HK$°000

THs T

Cash and deposits B4 K AT R 17
Property, plant and equipment (note 28) W B Kt (B 5E28) 57
Investment properties (note 29) WG (HH5E29) 24,900
Other assets HoAth 2 14
Assets of a disposal group held for sale FREH & 2 M E 4R & = 24,988

The disposal has been completed for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The details of the disposal are set out in note 12(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

In November 2022, the Group entered into an agreement for the disposal
of 30% equity interest of Shun Heng Group, an associate of the Group, at
a cash consideration of HK$8,515,000 in total. As at 31 December 2022,
the Group had completed the disposal 7.14% of equity interest of Shun
Heng Group at a cash consideration of HK$2,028,000. The disposal for
the remaining equity interest has been fully completed in February 2023.
Gain on the disposals of interests in associates is HK$1,349,000 (2022:
HK$423,000), which has been recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as “other income and other net gains or losses”
(note 8) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

40.

BE_ZFZ =F+_H=+—HIFEEF
HE D TER o 8 2 sE s EUR 47 & I BT
FKMEEE 12(a) ©

F7AF 8 2 JE B & =

WEFE AT ALk
DL 4018 & 368,515,000 9 o0 H & A 4R
B o F M 2 30% BEHE - R =%
A= —H o AREEB R
B4 1048 2,028,000 5 oG H {5 = 4EH 2
T14% BHE - HERTRECKR -F =
A HZRBOTRL o HEBE S IR 2 I
fit £ 1,349,000 #5 70 (2 . 4F : 423,000
W) cERNEEF A=
HIEF 2 &G 2 mIA R PR & [ =
Aty e A B Ho At i %5 kR 4E VR AR | (BERES) o
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41. DEFERRED TAX 41. EAEBLIH
Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the 3008 U o R R P A A B S5 P 7 )
liability method using the applicable tax rates prevailing in the jurisdictions TR 2 BRAT 8RB Sl W IRe 22 B AR T s
in which the Group operates. Ho
Details of the Group’s deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised and AAEE 2 CERRIR L RLE G B (BfE) X
movements are as follows: HEHFEERINMT
Fair value
adjustment
Revaluation arising
Revaluation  of property, from Decelerated Other
of intangible plant and business tax  temporary
assets  equipment combination  Taxlosses depreciation differences Total
ki
B EMWE- AbEL2 iR Hiy

BEEE RREKEE ATEME  RHER ol WEER it
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000
T T T T T T T

At 1 January 2022 WoBoE—H—H 10907)  (34474) - 4153 L7 (594)  (46,001)
Credited/(charged) to profit or T AISER A/

loss (note 11) (41BR) (H3E11) - 152 - (10) (1830) 3,502 1814
Charge to other comprehensive  FH Al A H YA 1R

income (note 15.2) (MaE152) - - = - = (4,524) (4,524)
Disposal of subsidiaries i

(note 12(b)) (Mr2E 12(6)) 91 - - - - - 981
Exchange realignment W . o (113) 1,485 - (41 15 2,193 3,539
At 31 December 2022 and REBZDEFZA

1 January 2023 4‘[‘ H&

It =t 2 | 00039)  (3283) . 4102 (644) @m) @41
Credited/(charged) to profit or T A SR AT A/

loss (note 11) (410) (W3 11) - 161 2113 05 @0) 1297 1,468
Charge to other comprehensive ~ FSL A2 A H 41

income (note 15.2) (H&E152) - = = - = (4,549) (4,549)
Acquisition of subsidiaries RE B A )

(note 49(a) (W 3E 49(2)) - - (1709) 7,690 - - (9,406)
Exchange realignment HE 5 7 902 (841) 83 168 (315) 4,139 4,136
At31 December 2023 REZZ=412R

=t—H O17) @351 (14900 11865 2967) G886 (254
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41. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 41. EEEFLIAE (1)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial By NG IR UL R i > A T IR B
position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The T R AART THEE o DATF 2% F Ik BA 5
5 2 R B TE &5 B AT

following is the analysis of deferred tax balances for financial reporting

purposes:

2023 2022
e Y > S

HKS$’000 HKS$’000
TG T
Deferred tax assets LLFFJE THE 16,019 8,585
Deferred tax liabilities R S T £ i (68,561) (52,776)
(52,542) (44,191)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has estimated unused tax losses
arising in Hong Kong of HK$557,875,000 (2022: HK$589,062,000),
subject to the agreement of Inland Revenue Department, that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose.

In addition, the Group has estimated unused tax losses in United Kingdom
of HK$171,608,000 (2022: HK$171,825,000), subject to the agreement of
tax bureau in United Kingdom, that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
No deferred tax assets (2022: nil) have been recognised in respect of these
estimated unused tax losses as these were incurred by the companies that
have been loss-making for some time.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has estimated unused tax losses in
Switzerland of HK$1,446,990,000 (2022: HK$1,429,319,000), subject to
the agreement of tax bureau in Switzerland, that are available for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
Deferred tax assets of HK$11,865,000 (2022: HK$4,102,000) have been
recognised in respect of these estimated unused tax losses to the extent of
deferred tax liabilities recognised in respect of revaluation of identifiable
assets as a result of the acquisitions.

\R =T A= AR

A s A Al T AR ) B TE S 1H 557,875,000
HEIC (T 4F 1 589,062,000 T) > A
Top BB 55 o) i e » o] 40 3 R AV G & A
18 A 7 2 H AR FERR B i A o

WEAN o 7 45 A e [ 7 A A T R B A B
TE 5 $8171,608,000 9 70 (& — —
171,825,000 %5 70) > A {7 B 5% [ B 265 = 1h
ke o ] PR DT AR B E A R A R 2 H
5 E GBS F o N Mk 2 S5 Al s R B R B
JHE R MR LR EE E (ZF 2

) o ThE AT B G AR E AR A — B RR[H]
NERR R A o

WZE A= —H R
S I - N =i i SO [ =
51,446,990,000 #5 6 (= F = 4 ¢
1,429,319,000 #575) » £ 77 Bl E LB ES = i
ko N A AESEY A A R R W 2 H A% MERR
b taz A1) o DA B 5 Ak TT kA 2 B e R
WRAE B E B AE 5 PR - BERZ S5 Al s R A B
TE i 18 e 5 2 0% SiE Bl JEUE 7E A 11,865,000
W0 (ZF 4 £ 4,102,000 7C0) ©
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41.

42.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 41. JEFEBIE (50)
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of AN > AR ) 37 48 8] 1) EL P R S A R L T
dividends by the Company to its shareholders during the year. JE RS AT 0] B A5 Bl A% AR -
As at 31 December 2023, deferred taxation has not been provided in NE =T A ZT—H o A
the consolidated financial statements in respect of taxable temporary e 2 S A0 gh IR P 2 ) o S BB A TR A
differences attributable to the profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries 2 1 B 1 IRF 25 %8 1,835,259,000 ¥ T (-
amounted to HK$1,835,259,000 (2022: HK$1,821,650,000) as the Group F A 1,821,650,000 5 7T) 1 H R AE R
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences TETEA > Do ] 2 74 402 A /6 A0 2 ol 48 7 Ty
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the ZERA L IRF ] > T IR ZE AR T RE S € iR
foreseeable future. TG A 4 [l o
OTHER LIABILITIES 42, H At £ 18
2023 2022
HKS$°000 HK$°000
T L THs T
Accruals JEwHE 87,608 55,271
Warranty provision PR - 708
Net defined benefit obligations (note 15.2) FE AR A AT IR
(K5 15.2) 72,642 22,074
Accrued interests and commission JRE 51 B K A 4 12,765 3,786
Other tax payable L AthJE A B 2K 27,866 27,006
Interest payable JRE AR ) S - 953
Commission payable JREAST A 4 1,044 55,909
Other payables oAb JE AT 3K 571,529 379,759
773,454 545,466

Other payables represented accrued management and performance fees,
accrued services fee, accrued salaries and bonus, accrued audit fee and
accrued other operating expenses, amount due to a related company and
amount due to an associate.

As at 31 December 2023, the amount of the Group’s other liabilities
expected to be due after more than one year is HK$72,642,000 (2022:
HKS$22,074,000). The remaining other liabilities are expected to be due
within one year.

At REAT SR B 4 A8 B R A e - ERT
JeBs & - T 8 R AEAL - MGt wh e I
B T A 482 B 52 ~ RS — D 2 ) K
TE % B AR — T B 2 ] KO o

MBS A= R AR
TE A i — AR B 2 HAh & RS
72,642,000 %5 7C (% — 4R © 22,074,000
WIT) o iR T HAh S AR — R
ﬁq o
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43. SHARE CAPITAL 43. A
2023 2022
—E = - S
Number of Number of
shares shares
Jbe A 8 H i fr
’000 HK$°000 ’000 HK$’000
Tk T#7u Tk THETT
Authorised: RIE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 eachat A—H—H K& +=HA=+—H
1 January and 31 December A I THT (L 0,10 745 70 2 38 70 i 6,000,000 600,000 6,000,000 600,000
Issued and fully paid: 84T BB -
At 1 January and 31 December W—HA—HE+ZH=+—H 4,351,889 435,189 4,351,889 435,189
44. RESERVES 44. fikfh
Group A K
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein during the AR B2 T T A TR 2 (ot A R A TR S T 2
year are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. GHEmETRP RS -

The share premium account mainly includes shares issued at a premium.

The share options reserve represents the cumulative expenses recognised
on the granting of share options to the employees over the vesting period.

Other reserve represents (i) the cumulative expenses recognised on the
granting of share options to an independent third party and (ii) the effect
of transactions with non-controlling interests as disclosed in note 50 to the
consolidated financial statements and (iii) the effect of the redemption of
convertible bond.

Certain amounts of goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries in
prior years remain eliminated against the consolidated reserves.

In accordance with the PRC regulations, certain of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC are required to transfer part of their
profits after tax to the statutory reserve before profit distributions are made.
The amounts of the transfers are subject to the approval of the boards of
the directors of these subsidiaries, in accordance with their joint venture
agreements and/or articles of association. The statutory reserve is non-
distributable and has restricted use.

e A7y i AP PR = 4 2 i 5 B AT < BB o

R P B 14 i 1 e S T 1 B 4% o
i S TR R 2 B AT PR S -

HAh T () 1 — 4 M5 58 = 4% 3R
HﬁﬁJ\TEEPﬁﬁE Z,i%“rﬁﬁfi (i) B2 JF #¢ f
MEGR HEAT A 5 2 28 (N a‘a%%ﬁ%@[?ﬁ
FESOBE ) K (iid) BB 0] T 4 A o 2 2

TP A A I B 2 W) P A 2 A T P
BANIA KA kB 8 o

T B B AL A B TR R BGE 2
WEF 8 2 W1 JP A 3R R 2 R R > ZEUHE HL AR 23
WA A5 i ) 4B 2 U E A o BB R

HZF B~ A 2 EHGHS A Z a8
e S BN F R A AL UE o 58 RN
AR UR o EHUT @A By R o
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44.

RESERVES (Continued)

Group (Continued)
Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

Fair value through other comprehensive income reserve represents gains or
losses on remeasuring the financial assets classified as financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income.

Revaluation reserve for property, plant and equipment is the revaluation
gain arising from the transfer of property, plant and equipment to
investment properties.

44. Tk s

A B (7E)
G| ff 5 L 475 40 B0 ¥ £ S5 B s R 3 P
2 BT A T S22 % o

2O B FEA A 2 T SO fef i 4 TRt
BB R N ER A A 2T 2 &
Al < PR 2 i AR B AR o

WIS ~ R Ko O T Al A 20 ot 40 26 ~ i
[ B Bt = R Y e A 2 A

=

Company A2 7l
The reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as RANFIR ZEZZF R RN
follows: =t —HZfEHmE
Fair value
through
Share other
premium comprehensive Other Retained
account income reserve reserve profits Total
e FAE
Wl Al
A A
e o ik 6 it A HAbGEM  REIERA ik
HKS$’000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HK$’000
T THC T T TH#IT
At 1 January 2022 Ro-F__H—H—H 682,028 (26,925) 22,693 305,530 983,326
Loss and total comprehensive AT s tH A T
income for the year PN L = (80,039) - (90,874) (170,913)
At 31 December 2022 and /A 1 5 Y
1 January 2023 Z=t—HRZZEZ=4
—H—H 682,028 (106,964) 22,693 214,656 812,413
Profit and total comprehensive AR A i ) e 2T
income for the year oNE = (3,049) = 61,462 58,413
At 31 December 2023 T S Y|
== 682,028 (110,013) 22,693 276,118 870,826

Under the Companies Law Cap. 22, (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium account
of the Company are distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which a dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

RE SRS A FIEE 25 (— LN —4F
S 3RIEN] - KRG RAEHT) o AN A
i B AR BB AT IR T AR FIBR > HE
BRI IRBCR H AR > AN RIZHA BE
TR LR F W SRS AR B 2 AR -
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45. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS/

45. WEMBLH R

COMMITMENTS
45.1 At 31 December 2023 and 2022, total future minimum lease 451 W E - =F K _F - HF+H
receipts by the Group under non-cancellable operating leases are as =+—H  WMEBEAF S
follows: # o 7 AR ) B AR R 2k i IR A B R OE
MBI -
2023 2022
HKS$°000 HK$°000
R THETT
Within one year — R 3,697 4,407
In the first to second year B AR R AR 425 1,472
In the second to third year BAE R SR 467 434
In the third to forth years 5 =ZAE R PR 514 478
In the forth to fifth years 55 VU AF 2 55 AR - 526
5,103 7,317
The Group leases certain of its properties under operating lease AL BRI E ALY EL T
arrangements, with leases negotiated for initial terms ranging from W > REZ VLA B —FR
one to five years. None of the leases include contingent rentals. FAFEARG o % EFH A N5 SR
4 o
45.2 The Group is required to pay an annual fee in respect of the 452 AEHE LN FER RN 4

leasehold land in the PRC from 1992 up to 2042 with a 20%
increment for every five years. During the year ended 31 December
2023, an annual fee of HK$600,000 (2022: HK$680,000) was
charged as an expense in profit or loss of the Group.

1E > ZE AR P B 2 — R AL S A
R R RAFERIN20% - HE
SE A=+ —H L4
JE > 4E4% 600,000 #5 0C (— & AR
680,000 #5 70) i A 4 9] i 1] =X s

R A5 B S22 8
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46. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 46. BE AR R E

At the reporting date, the Group had the following outstanding

R B AL EREAT ZRIEWT

commitments:
2023 2022
HKS$°000 HK$°000
T L TUs I
Contracted, but not provided for S EORER R 2
— Investment in an associate — Citychamp Allied ~— —Jji*— & ARl 2
International Limited (note) 5 — 5o 3 A 2

AR E (BE5E) 270,000 270,000

Note: On 28 September 2016, Union United Investment Limited (“Union

BEGE - R =F—AFEIHA ZHAH - AR R 2E

47.

United”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an

agreement with Citychamp Dartong (Hong Kong) Limited (“CD(HK)”)

and Fengrong Investment (Hong Kong) Company Limited (“FI(HK)”), in

relation to the formation of the joint venture company (“JV Company”)

in the British Virgin Island. JV Company shall be owned as to 40% by
FI(HK), 30% by CD(HK) and 30% by Union United. JV Company is

engaged in potential overseas equity investment. Pursuant to the agreement,

Union United agreed to contribute the maximum capital commitment of
HK$270,000,000 to JV Company. Details of the transaction are set out in the

Company’s announcement dated 28 September 2016.

OFF BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

i Je 2 ) B R 43 A B D (g ) B
TSR (s ) A BRAS ) ([ e ok (&
W) 1) B MR RUE (B us) A BRA H (i
B () 1) wTor ek - 24T B S 52
ARSI AEEAR ([FEAF]) °
WSS (B ) -~ ORI (B is) K
FHE53 R A A8 A 7 40% ~ 30% 12 30%
HERR o A8 A F VB AL B A A 8
ST o MRERRZ Wi ek > BRI [R] 1) A0 A A
VB H 5 18 AR 7R 35 270,000,000 57T © 38 5)
FERE R AR AT B A = Z—RNEILA
“HANBHZA -

47. BEAMEEKIIEH

2023 2022

HK$’000 HKS$’000

Fe ARV

Irrevocable commitments AN AT i [m] R 3 47,398 58,196
Contract volume GHE 3,082,781 2,456,757
Fiduciary transactions with third-party banks HLEE = Jr8R1T 2 B st 5 1,473,768 1,078,684
4,603,947 3,593,637




48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

48.1 Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
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48. BIEANLZR )
RS 5 A5 S 34 S A 30 43 T 40 6

statements, the Group had the following transactions carried out

(@

(i)

48.1

HON > AR R B A+

HEAT LA

with related parties: T2
Transactions with an associate, Fair Future and its (@) Bl — P W8 A WD~ 106 B FC R
subsidiaries BAFZRE
2023 2022
HK$°000 HKS$°000
T#T T
Sales of goods B 3,811 -
Purchases of goods I 9,380 17,157
Rental expenses paid E A5 AH 48 B 32 408 354
Inspection fee paid REORE-E=4;E! 51 51
Interest expenses ilisYiisa 1,876 2,018
Transactions between Shun Heng and the related parties (i) EFEAREHPEALZRY
of the Group
2023 2022
Name of related party Nature of transaction HK$°000 HK$°000
L YNS ey 25 HE T#ou T
Directors of the company and their Services fees and commission
close family members income - 5
EYAGE & 8NN N 5 2 B A < e A
Interest income = 1
FLE A
Related company Services fees and commission
72 ) income - 15
e 75 2 B AR 4 e A
Interest income = 1
FLE A

The related company is controlled by Mr. Hon Kwok Lung, a

director of the Company.

BN F AL W R

B RS A A
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48.1 (Continued)

48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 48. BN L5 ()
48.1 (&)

(iii) Outstanding related party balances included in trade i) wh A EWRS ~ 20l E -
receivables, other assets, trade payables and other A Bk B H At 1 i 2 oK B A
liabilities 5 3N L &5 R

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#T THETT
Due from an associate (note (a))* JHRE e — [ W 2 ) K I
(Bf$ 5% (a)) # 40,017 38,356
Trade receivables from associates JRE WS H 25 ) R K 23,163 3,921
Due from related companies JHRE Mg T 2 ] S T
(note (b))* (Bf¥ &% (b)) # 1,065 1,065
Due to a shareholder (note (d)) JEASE— 44 P& SRk T
(B 5E (d)) 9,025 12,000
Trade payables to associates JREAST T 25 A ﬂ HRAK 42,208 47,462
Due to directors (note (c)) JRE A4Sk = I (e (c) 66,772 81,515
Due to a related company (note (e))*  FEAT— [H] BH % $/ \ F IH
(B 3E (e)) * 148,000 148,000
Due to an associate (note (f))* JRE AT — R T 2 ) K
(B 5E () * 50,000 10,000

Included in other assets (note 32)

* Included in other liabilities (note 42)

Notes:

(a) The balance was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand. The maximum outstanding balance of amounts due
from associates during the year was HK$40,017,000 (2022:

HK$38,356,000).

(b) The amounts were due from companies of which Ms. Sit

Lai Hei and Mr. Hon Hau Wong, directors of the Company

are also the directors of the related companies. The balance

was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The maximum amount outstanding during the year was

HKS$1,065,000 (2022: HK$1,065,000).

(b)

A A EE (B 32)

n+}\;H\:’fLE'fE. n£42)

A TR A5 0 2 AR - R
Ko 7E I B OR R o A
TR B e A AT R WA
N A R IE &S B 25 40,017,000
oo (&
38,356,000 ¥ T

% 55 EKCIE Sy E A R
IE » T 75 2 ) o 2 B AL
2t F 2R S IR By %
GRAEAFZER - A
50 7 AR AN - G R % ZH
FEZESR AR < RAEN > B
o A8 A5 42 % 55 1,065,000 5
Jt (T4 1 1,065,000
WIT) o
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

48.1 (Continued)

(iii) Outstanding related party balances included in trade

receivables, other assets, trade payables and other
liabilities (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

©

(d)

©

®

As at 31 December 2023, amounts due to Mr Teguh Halim
and Siu Chun Wa, directors of the Company, were unsecured,
interest bearing 5% per annum and repayable within one year.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, interest expense
of HK$4,103,000 (2022: HK$2,798,000) was payable to the

directors.

As at 31 December 2023, amounts due to a shareholder
of aggregate principal amount of HK$9,025,000 (2022:
HK$12,000,000) was unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per

annum and repayable within one year.

As at 31 December 2023, amounts due to a related company
of aggregate principal amount of HK$148,000,000 (2022:
HK$148,000,000) was unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per
annum and repayable within one year. The related company
is controlled by Mr. Hon Kwok Lung, a director of the
Company.

As at 31 December 2023, amount due to an associate of
aggregate principal amount of HK$50,000,000 (2022:
HK$10,000,000) was unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per

annum and repayable within one year.

48. BE AN LG (40

48.1

e

(#8)

(iii)

aE A RO ~ LA BT S~
AoF MRk B 3L £ 0 2 R B F
B3N 465 R (40)

b -

©

@

©

(##)

e S o = N
H > JEAF 22 7] # % Teguh
Halim 5% 4= % i #E 32 56 2 3K
T SR~ 32 47 ] 2R 5%
FEE S IE A — AR N fE R -
EoRCEHFETA=—
H R4 B > ) 3 2 S A R
5 B 32 4,103,000% T (&
LA 12,798,000 9T) e

/I S Y S N b
H > 784 885 7% 9,025,000 5
JC (2 A £ 12,000,000
WI0) 1 EAS — 2 IR RIE
B A~ 2 4R I 3R 5% 5t
BRI — N R -

/I S Y S N b
H > 7 < B% /5 148,000,000
T i e
148,000,000 %5 7C) 1) JEAF —
TP PR AL ) I 2 A
FEAEFI R 5% wH L S ZE i —
ARIRER o SZBH A R B AR
/N T S R SRR o

/I S Y S N b
H > R4 4038 5 50,000,000 75
JC (Z % T 4F £ 10,000,000
HEIT) 1 RE A — B A 7
A R AR ~ A2 5%
FHE R — A N R
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48.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

48.1 (Continued)

(iv)

48.2 Key management personnel compensation

48.1
Financial guarantee provided to Fair Future

As 31 December 2023, the Group has provided a corporate

guarantee in respect of a banking facility of up to
HK$55,000,000 (2022: HK$55,000,000) granted to Fair

Future (note 52.1). The corporate guarantee is ending on the

expiry of the term of the revolving loan facility.

The above transactions were conducted in accordance with
the terms mutually agreed between the Group and the related
companies controlled by the directors.

Included in staff costs are key management personnel compensation

and comprises the following categories:

(iv)

B2

48. BHH AN LR 5 (@)

(#)

] 182 6 R 3t 2 B 5 3
MRE-F_=F+ A =+—
H> AEEBETERE—H
% 22 55,000,000 % 0 (—F
4F 1 55,000,000%5 76) 2 $RAT Rl
BN FMELR (B RES2.1) -
N A B AR TG BR BT K Rl A 1 PR
Ji Yo IR L

AR 5 T A S B
2 26 ) A 2 W
et o

482 FEFHAEBEZHE
EHABZMAEFIA B TEA

A L DA B

2023 2022

HKS$°000 HK$°000

T#T THETT

Short-term employee benefits 55 4R B AR A 11,533 14,192
Post-employment benefits e Mok 12 A 250 252
11,783 14,444

The key management represents all directors of the Company.

Further details of directors” emoluments are included in note 16.1

to the consolidated financial statements.

EEEMABBALNFATHES -
A B R < 2 — A R R AR

A B EMEE16.1 ©
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49. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

()

Acquisition of Gold Vantage Group

On 19 April 2023, the Group completed the acquisition of the
entire equity interest of Gold Vantage Group at the consideration of
HK$108,456,000 from Fair Future, an associate of the Company.
Gold Vantage Group are principally engaged in the business of
design, development and manufacturing of stainless-steel alloy
watches cases, smart watch cases on ODM or OEM basis.

Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement, the consideration
shall be settled by way of issuing 38,461,538 consideration shares
of Ernest Borel Holdings Limited (“Ernest Borel”, a subsidiary of
the Company and listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong) and HK$40,000,000 by cash in different timeslots.
The number of consideration shares and the amount of cash
consideration for the settlement shall be subject to the adjustment
pursuant to the profit guarantee, in which Fair Future guarantees to
the Group that the net profit after tax of Gold Vantage Group for
each of financial years ending 31 December 2023, 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2025 shall not be less than HK$30,000,000
(the “Profit Target”). If there is any shortfall of the Profit Target
in any such year, an amount equal to 1.5 times the amount by
which the actual net profit after tax is less than the Profit Target
(the “Profit Compensation”) shall be payable by Fair Future to the
Group. In the event that Gold Vantage Group recorded loss in its
consolidated financial statements, Fair Future shall compensate the
Group 1.5 times of the difference between the net loss after tax and
HK$30,000,000.

The consideration shall be reduced by the amount of the Profit
Compensation firstly by the reduction of the outstanding
consideration shares for the instalment and then the balance of
the Profit Compensation shall be reduced by the outstanding cash
consideration for the instalment. If the unpaid instalment is not
sufficient to set off the Profit Compensation, the difference between
the Profit Compensation and the unpaid instalment shall be paid in
cash by Fair Future to the Group within 30 business days after the
issuance of the annual financial statements of Gold Vantage Group
for the respective financial year.

49, W B R 2 Wl

(a)

e B 4x 7 AR

R EZAENA T UE > AL
DL AE 108,456,000 5 T [ 28 2 7 [
T 8 m ROl i 4 T AR B 2 A
JRERE o 4x 4 B E AR o DR R AT
3 1 o R A Y P T kT
Be 5% I B3 T 8 8 4 4 8 9% 0 S RE
SRR ETS

MR B 1k - ARAEDIE DA EEAT A D%
B A PR J (TR ] > AR
A R A ) A A s T 38 i A
T7) 2 38,461,538 AV AE I 1y S B 4
40,000,000 #5702 J7 250 B A - 32
A5 2 AR R 13 8 B e B 4 A 1 4
AR v A R w8 A R . o R
AL EEES HEEEEE X
=+ H=+—H > —_F—

FrHZA=t—HRERZFHAR
A =+ — H 1k B BUE 2 B
B4R T A #E S 15 2D R 30,000,000
oo ([ A AR o il A B4R
JE 2 3 A E AR B R 2 - AR
S 1) A 4R [ S AV — RS i B IR R
i A% Yk ) ¥ A B R AT 2 2R
15 ([ A D) o 4 gk
[ HoAr A I k3= P 8k 15 4R -
IR Sl 28 1o A A1 ) 4l 15 o o 42 s 488
1 %A 51 30,000,000 75 I 2 [H] 2 B 1)
1.54% -

AR 80 25 i Il AR 2 3 Sl
£ WA A R g AT 2 AUE
1 2 4% v M) 4 1 < A B B O 2 %
IR 2 A BLE AU o iR
ASE 53 SIS SRS A AR 8 v 1 A 5
FUJ i )t BEL AR AT 20 0 5 2 T 9
22 REE v 122 DI IS < 3 2 0 A ) A B
A PE 2 AR T A R TR AR 30 1
3 H A DA 4 1) A 4R S A
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49. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a) Acquisition of Gold Vantage Group (Continued)

49. Wl

(a)

The first instalment of 12,820,512 consideration shares has been

issued to Fair Future at the completion date on 19 April 2023.
The first instalment of cash consideration of HK$13,333,000 shall
be paid to Fair Future (i) on 1 April 2024 if the annual financial

statements of Gold Vantage Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 has been issued on or before 31 March 2024 or (ii) within 30
business days after the issuance of annual financial statements of
Gold Vantage Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 if the
annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 is

issued after 31 March 2024.

The second instalment of 12,820,513 consideration shares shall

be issued to Fair Future (i) on 1 April 2025 if the annual financial

statements of Gold Vantage Group for the year ending 31 December
2024 has been issued on or before 31 March 2025 or (ii) within 30
business days after the issuance of annual financial statements of

Gold Vantage Group for the year ending 31 December 2024 if the

annual financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2024

is issued after 31 March 2025. Payment for the second instalment
of cash consideration of HK$13,333,000 is subject to the net profit
after tax for the six months ending 30 June 2024 attained by Gold

Vantage Group (“2024 H1 Profit”):

(@)

If the 2024 H1 Profit is not less than HK$14,000,000, an

amount up to HK$13,333,000 shall be paid to Fair Future on

1 September 2024.

P} 1 2> W] ()

W b 4 2 A ()

o5 —1112,820,512 B A% 18 % 4y 2

RER AW =M A+
HEE4T TR 6 - 5 — Bl & A0
13,333,000 5 70 % (i) 1A = F = IU4F
WH—H (MasemEBgz % =
SE+ T H=+—HILEE 2 EE R
BHMECR - F WE=H =+—
H B2 /i T8 5 8R(i) 4 5 4R 1
BRSSP A = —HIE4E
JE 2 AF BE W5 i 3R T EE 4R 3018 &
EHN (MEE_FT_=4F 124
= H RS 2 AF B RS R R
CERCPEZH = — H 2 &)
AT TR -

55 19 12,820,513 A% AL A= B 1051 (i)
ATERAENH —H (44
HwEZFDNE+ A=+ —HIE
EEZAEEMEREC R F A
E=ZA =t —HE ) ;5
()& FZEBERE —F UE+ =
H =+ — B 14 BE 2 4 B B R
FIEEZ 30 H N (s %
“WEF A=+ HIEEE
EEMBHRER -FE _HE=A
=T —HZBPE) BT Rb
55 W B4 A1E 13,333,000 5 o0 78
ﬁéﬂ%@%ﬂﬁigégmﬁA
H =1 H k75l A 2 BB A% i A i
B ([ U4 EAAERF ) %
i}

il = 2% P04 | 2 A S AR
LI 14,000,000 #5 7T > Bl & 2
13,333,000 # e A% 4 =& 4
LA — B ARk -

®
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49. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(2)
(i)

(iii)

Acquisition of Gold Vantage Group (Continued)

If the 2024 H1 Profit is HK$12,000,000 or more but less
than HK$14,000,000, an amount of HK$12,000,000.00
shall be paid to Fair Future on 1 September 2024. If the
2024 H1 Profit is HK$10,000,000 or more but less than
HK$12,000,000, an amount of HK$10,000,000.00 shall be
paid to Fair Future on 1 September 2024. The respective
shortfall between HK$13,333,000 of the second instalment
cash consideration and the amount of cash paid under the
aforesaid scenarios shall be paid to Fair Future (i) on 1 April
2025 if the annual financial statements of Gold Vantage
Group for the year ending 31 December 2024 has been issued
on or before 31 March 2025; or (ii) within 30 business days
after the issuance of the annual financial statements of Gold
Vantage Group for the year ending 31 December 2024 if the
annual financial statements for the year ending 31 December
2024 is issued after 31 March 2025.

If the 2024 H1 Profit is less than HK$10,000,000, an amount
up to HK$13,333,000 shall be paid to Fair Future (i) on 1
April 2025 if the annual financial statements of Gold Vantage
Group for the year ending 31 December 2024 has been issued
on or before 31 March 2025; or (ii) within 30 business days
after the issuance of the annual financial statements of Gold
Vantage Group for the year ending 31 December 2024 if the
annual financial statements for the year ending 31 December
2024 is issued after 31 March 2025.

49, W B R 2wl o)

(a)
(ii)

(iii)

W B < R 45 0 (70)

i = 2 2 Y A B2 AR A
512,000,000 # Jo 5% DL &
B 7% 14,000,000 # 7T > HI
12,000,000.00 ¥ JG % 1 — %
ZWMESH—H XA TFR
I o il & IO AR B AR
F 510,000,000 #5 7 5 LA &
B 7% 12,000,000 # ¢ > HI
10,000,000.00 5 JG % it — &
ZAEAA — B ARG
55 W 4 8 13,333,000 95
JLHL TR R T At 2 B 4
Z MR B R R
THENMA—H (e EEE
BEZZDNEL A = —
H 14 B 2 4 B A R R
“ETHFE A=t —HEZ
AITIE) 5 B (i) & B EERE
—EF-E+ZH =+ —H
1EAF B 2 AF B A S R T 8
B30 A (s =%
TE+ T H=+—H IREE
MBS F
EZA=+—H2ZEAE) X
RS

il 2 DU AR | 2 AR s R D
10,000,000 #5 7T > HI = 3%
13,333,000 %5 70 ¥ (i) A = %
THAEMA—H (M4 EEE
WEERUEF A =1 —
IR B 2 47 3 B R
CECRHAEZA=S S
HIFIEE) 5 2 Gi) & EEEEE
ZERCNESZH=1+—H
1E 4 3 22 4 B B S i 2 ) 5%
BI0MAEFEAN (MEE—F
TPusES T H =+ —H IRAERE
MR ER F
EZH=+—H2ETIE) X
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49. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(@)

Acquisition of Gold Vantage Group (Continued)

The third instalment of 12,820,513 consideration shares of shall be
issued to Fair Future and the third instalment cash consideration
of HK$13,333,000 shall be paid to Fair Future (i) on 1 April 2026
if the Annual Financial Statements of Gold Vantage Group for the
year ending 31 December 2025 has been issued on or before 31
March 2026 or (ii) within 30 business days after the issuance of
annual financial statements of Gold Vantage Group for the year
ending 31 December 2025 if the annual financial statements for the
year ending 31 December 2025 is issued after 31 March 2026.

The consideration is determined as follows:

49. W B R 2wl ()

(@

eI 4x AR ) (48)

25 = 112,820,513 F A AZ B A K 58
= 11713,333,000 # 7T 3 4 101 4 (i)
R NAENH —H (e
HEF-AFETZA=t—HIE
EEEZAFEMHHREC R ZFE AR
EZA=Z+—HEZ A 5 =K
(EEEEEE T HFE T
A=+ —H IR 2 B HE
FIEEI0ME AR (WMEE =%
“HE+ A=+ —HIEEEZ
EEMBHERER FE NEZA
=+ —HZ BT 817 KA T
&t -

A EREEWT -

HK$°000
T
Issuance of first instalment consideration shares at A 58 B IRF BEAT 55 — U ACAE % 1y
the Completion 30,769
Derivative financial liabilities in relation to the 2023 7 B 2 — = 4= i Al i 1 2 £ A= 4 il
Profit Compensation =K 11,590
Derivative financial liabilities in relation to the 2024 43 B 2% U 4F Ji5 1) 4l 5 2 7 4= 4
Profit Compensation =N 35,463
Derivative financial liabilities in relation to the 2025 A3 B -2 — 71 4F It ) 4l 1 2 A7 4= 4
Profit Compensation AR 30,634
Total consideration AR 108,456
The respective fair value of derivative financial liabilities in FB-FE _Z4F ZF - JUER

relation to the 2023, 2024 and 2025 Profit Compensation as at the
Completion is determined by the directors of the Company with the
assistance of an independent professional valuer.

Details of the net assets acquired as at the acquisition date are as

follows:

A A Al A A A s
T 52 B IRE Z AH B 23 (B ) B A 24
B R S A E R B S R

P WA S A i 2 R (LAY A
T

HKS$’000

T

Total consideration HAAE 108,456
Less: Fair value of net assets acquired B D EE A TE (66,278)
Goodwill GRS 42,178
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49. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(2)

49, W B R 2wl o)

Acquisition of Gold Vantage Group (Continued) (a) WHEESZELM ()
The goodwill of HK$42,178,000 arising from the acquisition is i 1% 7 A 2 T 2 42,178,000 #E T B
attributable to the growth and profit potential in the expansion BRI A 0 B 8 e TR ES 2 VB e 1 =
of smart watches business. None of the goodwill recognised is i F o AR A6 BT e R 2 7 R TE R AT
expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. I FT AL o
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities arising from A B < e 4 (B T I A 2 T skl
the acquisition of Gold Vantage Group as at the date of acquisition: R R U B2 A
Fair value
AT
HK$°000
T
Property, plant and equipment W2 - W Im Mk A 24,806
Intangible assets HETY B 69,211
Deferred tax assets T JE R TEE 7,690
Inventories & 7,679
Trade receivables JRE AT B K 11,067
Other assets Hoph & 2 2,755
Cash and deposits B K AT 12,186
Deferred tax liabilities AR A ol TEL 2 £ (17,096)
Trade payables JRE A5} B R (10,5006)
Bank borrowings RITIH R (5,336)
Lease liabilities HE A K (373)
Other liabilities oAt £ £ (35,805)
Fair value of net assets acquired O TR E 2 A E 66,278
HK$’000
T
Net cash inflow from acquisition of subsidiaries: W5 B Jog A R 2 B 4 U A U AR
Cash and deposits in subsidiaries acquired W5 e JB A ) 2 B 4 A R 12,186
Gold Vantage Group contributed revenue of approximately HiEH RS —F =4+ H

HK$53,011,000 and net profit of approximately HK$8,014,000 to
the Group from the date of acquisition to 31 December 2023.

Had the business combination taken place on 1 January 2023,
revenue of the Group for the six months ended 31 December 2023
would have been increase by approximately HK$18,435,000 and
net profit would have decreased by HK$8,454,000. The pro-forma
information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily
an indication of revenue and results of the operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition of Gold
Vantage Group been completed on 1 January 2023 nor are they
intended to be a projection of future results.

=t+—Hik > &BEEMALEERE
Tk se A %753,011,000 #5 5T & % F 5
#H# 8,014,000 7 T ©

HEEAHCH T =F—H
—HET > AEEERE =

+ = H=+—H 175 A Z W A KE
HE A 18,435,000 #5 T - i s A 5 48
JE 7V 8,454,000 7 T © i % G RHE
PR A—ERRR T =

— A — H 58 il i 4 2 AR B 1R AR 4
BB PR IS 2 e A B SR S
FEAT  IRAHEE R AR 45 2 T -
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49. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b)

Acquisition of Bendura Wealth

In November 2023, the Group acquired the entire interest of
Bendura Wealth at the fair value of net assets acquired at the
acquisition date, a company licensed to conduct Type 1 (dealing in
securities), Type 2 (dealing in futures contracts), Type 4 (advising
on securities), Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) and Type
9 (asset management) regulated activity under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”). Following the acquisition,
the Group obtained the control over Bendura Wealth through
the Company’s right to nominate majority members of Bendura
Wealth’s board of directors, and Challenge Capital became a
subsidiary of the Company.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities arising from
the acquisition of Bendura Wealth as at the date of acquisition are as
follow:

49. W B R 2wl ()

(b)

e B b A B

AR =F A —H o AREE DR
B A 2 A TR (E 2 A T (R
B M E 2 2R > AR
— AR 5 58 55 T A & e o] (38 55 I
W& et ) BT 18 (B S5
385) ~ B2 M (B EKS) 8
AW GRFBAR AL R ~ 55 60 (i
TR Tl 4 AL L) TR 9 L (R
RS ZHEIEEINA R o ik
W% > ARSEBBE AN AR 4 b
W& K 2 Ol B 2 R S
MR 2 eI 5 T B A
B AN ) 2 WA T o

WSS ot B T AR 2 R
B GO O 2 A FEINE

Fair value

N FE

HK$°000

THETT

Cash and deposits B K AT 19,375

Property, plant and equipment W2 - R m Mk A 18

Trade receivables JRE AT B K 1,257

Other assets HoAh ¥ 279
Trade payables JRE A5} Bk (16,847)
Other liabilities HAb £ 1R (149)

Fair value of net assets acquired O A TR E 2 A E 3,933




TR T TARAEW 2023 ANNUAL REPORT 280

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A B R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4

49. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b)

Acquisition of Bendura Wealth (Continued)

49, W B R 2wl o)

W B b S R (4D

HK$°000
TUs I
Net cash inflow from acquisition of a subsidiary: Wi B — ] B JBG > 7] 2 B U A R
Cash and deposits acquired in a subsidiary acquired 45 it — [ B J8§ /A =] 2 © ke i B < 2%
N 19,375
Less: Purchase consideration settled in cash W DBl A 2 T A (3,933)
15,442

Bendura Wealth contributed revenue of approximately HK$45,000
and net loss of approximately HK$474,000 to the Group from the
date of acquisition to 31 December 2023.

Had the business combination taken place on 1 January 2023,
revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
would have been increased by approximately HK$53,000 and net
profit would have decreased by HK$3,145,000. The pro-forma
information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of the operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition of Bendura
Wealth been completed on 1 January 2023 nor are they intended to
be a projection of future results.

B EERE - FE =4+ H
=+—Hik > EhitEmALERE
JEK WA £ 45,000 5 7T B G 4875 FE 4
474,000 %5 JC ©

MWEBEAHENRF_=4F—H
—HELT > REFAEE T 4
+ = A =+ —H IR 4R 2 A e
TIN5 53,000 7 7T > 11 Vi A1) 15 %48 1 ok
3,145,000 #5 7C ° i % & RHE L E
o> R—ERER T =4F—H
— H 52 A 5 B AR AR AR
SN PNE T
1 INAHEE R AR R Z T
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50. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

(a) Deemed acquisition of additional equity interests in Bendura
Group in 2023

(@)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

In January 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 22 equity
shares of Bendura Bank AG (“Bendura Bank™) at cost
CHF19,174 (equivalent to HK$163,000). Following the
repurchase, the Company’s effective equity interest in
Bendura Group increased by 0.01%. The Group recognised
a decrease in non-controlling interests of HK$102,000 and a
decrease in equity attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$61,000.

In February 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 11 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF9,587 (equivalent to
HK$80,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased. The
Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of
HK$51,000 and a decrease in equity attributable to owners of
the Company of HK$29,000.

In March 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 8 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF6,972 (equivalent to
HK$60,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased. The
Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling interest of
HK$38,000 and a decrease in equity attributable to owners of
the Company of HK$22,000.

In April 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 3,700 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF3,370,000 (equivalent to
HK$29,578,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
1.97%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$17,753,000 and a decrease in equity
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$11,825,000.

50.

LI 2 B B 4 2 32 %)

(a) BABR R SRR e
Z B B R

®

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

MREZ=F—H > BHIEE
DA AR 19,174 B 1 25 BE (FR &
A 163,000 %5 7T) i [9] 22 i &
HSRAT I An A FRA A ([ i
SRAT D) MERR I o B4R - AR
A A b S T B I R M
J10.01% o 7= 42 [ fife 2 I £
HE 5 382 102,000 7 70 K AR 24
AHEA N REALRESR ) 61,000
WL o

NEE =T B HAEE
DL A 9,587 Fif - 35 BB (KA &
J7 80,000 75T ) B [H] 11 /I & Hh
SRATHE SR B o BE[EIA% > A8 7]
A AR B 2 B R RORE R o o
A 42 (B il R I 5 8 HE 25 ok D
51,000 #5 70 S AN ml HEA A
Aok #E 25 380 2 29,000 #5 T o

MEEC == AR
DA B A 6,972 Hi = 12 B (FA &
I 60,000 75 T) B 1] 8 fI & Hh
SRATHRE RS B - W[4 > AN
A AR [ B R RE RS N o
7 £E 8 e R IF I HE 23 k2D
38,000 #5 70 S AN ml HEA A
Aok HE 25 380 2 22,000 #5 T o

WZE = - E A
] A A% A4S 3,370,000 Ffy = 3% BB
(FHE TR 29,578,000 #5 7T [ [#]
3,700 it & 1 SR AT HE 25 i o B
[ £ > AN A AR 2
P JREARE 8 11 1.97% o 7S 5 [ ffe
i I I £ 3920 17,753,000
W0 S AR A R HEAA N TR A HE
fit 38 11,825,000 ¥ G °
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50. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Continued)

()

Deemed acquisition of additional interest in Bendura Group

in 2023 (Continued)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

In May 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 100 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF91,000 (equivalent to
HK$784,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.05%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$492,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$292,000.

In June 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 17 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF15,000 (equivalent to
HK$135,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.01%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$85,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$50,000.

In June 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 10 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF9,000 (equivalent to
HK$76,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.01%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$50,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$26,000.

In August 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 38 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF35,000 (equivalent to
HK$308,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.02%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$198,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$110,000.

50.

(a)

S I 2 B B 4 2 52 B (#0)

B2 % AR WO R 5

Z BN HE (75)

™)

(v)

(vii)

(viii)

MOF AR A
Ph AR 91,000 Fi 1 25 BE (FR &
A 784,000 %5 70) 1 11 100 A &
HERATHE 45 B o BRI AR > AR
A A 4t 4L [ 2 BT SR HE S
0.05% ° A= 45 [B] ffE 58 JF 442 e i
%5 I8 2 492,000 i 0 K AN
AN 5 HE 22 382 292,000
WL o

RE AR 5 E AR
DA AR 15,000 F -1 25 BE (FH &
A 135,000 %5 70) i 117 i &
HERATHE 45 B o BE R AR > AR
A A b A T B R b
T10.01% ° 7= £ [ e 58 FF £ 1
HE2S 3570 85,000 15 TC L AR 7]
BEA N EAGHE RS W20 50,000 7

I °

WFE AR wi A
] A A% A% 9,000 Ffy -1 725 B (40
& 76,000 45 7T) B[] 10 B
HERATHE 45 B o BE R 4R - AR
A A b S T 2 R b
J10.01% o 7= 42 [ e 52 I ¥ i
HELS 387D 50,000 15 TC AR 7]
WA N EAGHESS 182 26,000 15

JG ©

T EAE A > E
DL RS AR 35,000 H = 75 BB (FH 3
i~ 308,000 %5 1) 1 5] 38 ¥
HhERATHE 25 B o BE R AR 5 AR
AT F AR [ 2 B I AR RE R o
0.02% ° 7= 45 [ ffe 5% I 442 JC e
% I 2 198,000 5 76 K AN T
WA N {5 B 22 352 110,000
WL o
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50. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Continued)

(a) Deemed acquisition of additional equity interests in Bendura
Group in 2023 (continued)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

In September 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 52 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF47,000 (equivalent to
HK$405,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.03%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$264,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$141,000.

In October 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 25 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF23,000 (equivalent to
HK$197,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.01%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$129,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$68,000.

In December 2023, Bendura Group repurchased 46 equity
shares of Bendura Bank at cost CHF41,000 (equivalent to
HK$389,000). Following the repurchase, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.03%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$237,000 and a decrease in equity attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$152,000.

50.

B I 2 B B 4 2 52 B (#0)

(a) BABR R SRR e
Z BB RE ()

(i)

()

(xi)

REZ=FILH  EHIEE
DL B AR 47,000 Fi 1 325 BE (FR &
A 405,000 #5 7T) i [9] 52 i &
HERATHE 45 B o BE R AR > AR
A A & 1t 42 1 2 BT SR HE S
0.03% ° A= 45 [ e 52 JF 422 e i
5 I 2 264,000 15 0 K AN
A N 5 HE 22 3802 141,000
WL o

AR E R
DA AR 23,000 Fi -1 25 BE (FH &
197,000 %5 7T) i [9] 25 A% &
HERATHE 25 B o WS 1A% > AR
A b S T R b
J10.01% o 7 42 [ e 2 I £
RE %5 3 129,000 5 70 B AR
A A N RELRESR 87D 68,000
WL o

WEE AT wiAE
9] DA A% A 41,000 H 175 BB (40
H A 389,000 75 TT) 1 [7] 46 1%
b R AT HE 2 B o B ) 1%
AN R 4R 1 2 B
HERE NN 0.03% o A% 4E H e 58 JF
2 JBAE 25 Tk 2V 237,000 #5 T K
AN FVHEA N A HE 25 D
152,000 #5 JG ©
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TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING 50. B JE 45 I HE A% 2 A2 5 ()
INTERESTS (Continued)
(a) Deemed acquisition of additional equity interest in Bendura (a) BAR T =ARN0E S AR
Group in 2023 (Continued) Z B B HE (4E)
The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Bendura Group on AEIN > F AR R RERE A 2 AR )
the equity attributable to owners of the Company during the year is BN A N AL HE 25 2 5 2R A
summarised as below: AN
03
“RCCE
6 @ @ m  ® o) o) ¢ @  ® ) Tol
i) (ii (i) (iv) ) o) (i) (vii) (ix) (¥) () M

HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T T T#x TEx TEx T TEx T TEx T TEx T

Camyingamountof U RESR
non-controlling ba i
interests acquired 102 51 ¥ 17783 492 85 50 198 264 129 237 1939
Consideration paid for YU H iR E
acquisition of IR
non-controlling
ineress a6 6 60 ) 08 (1 6 (8 @) () (8 G
Excess of consideration o WHEHERZ
paid recognised ez
within equiy B 6) @) @) (L8% ™) () ) 10 @) 6 (15 076
(b) Deemed acquisition of additional equity interest in Bendura b) WAER-FZ_HFRBEHEN
Group in 2022 Z A i
(i)  In June 2022, Bendura Group repurchased 5,650 equity (i) MoFZZFEANH FHE
shares of Bendura Bank at cash consideration CHF4,350,000 [ LA Bl 4 £ 18 4,350,000 i 1=
(equivalent to HK$36,077,000). Following the repurchase, AR (R iR 36,077,000 5 7T )
the Company’s effective equity interest in Bendura Group W [ 5,650 fi% & i R 47 HE 45
increased by 2.73%. The Group recognised a decrease Ji o B 1A% > AR R
in non-controlling interests of HK$24,561,000 and a AL 2 E BRI RESE N 2.73% o
decrease in equity attributable to owners of the Company of 7 A2 (9 il R I 2 IR HEE i ek D
HKS$11,516,000. 24,561,000 #5 76 S A 4wl HEA
N A5 R 2 7P 11,516,000 5
JG ©
(i)  In September 2022, Bendura Group repurchased 6 equity (i) MZFZZFIH > FiE

shares of Bendura Bank at cash consideration CHF5,000
(equivalent to HK$42,000). Following the repurchase, the
Company’s effective equity interest in Bendura Group
increased by 0.00%. The Group recognised a decrease in
non-controlling interests of HK$28,000 and a decrease in
equity attributable to owners of the Company of HK$14,000.

] DA B 4 AR AE 5,000 Fiy L 7% BB
(FH A 42,000 5 70) B 1] 6 %
BRI TARE 5 B o BRI AR > AR
2N E A b AR T R b
HETN0.00% o A< 4 [F A iR JE 44
A £ 20 28,000 5 70 A
AT N EAGHE 259870 14,000
WL o
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50.

e I S S R T A I A B )

TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING 50. B JE 45 i HE % 2 A2 5 ()
INTERESTS (Continued)
(b) Deemed acquisition of additional equity interest in Bendura (b) PR AR E AR

Group in 2022 (Continued) Z BB HE (1)

(iii) In November 2022, Bendura Group repurchased 16 equity (i) MZFZ T BmHE
shares of Bendura Bank at cash consideration CHF 14,000 [ ) B A0 E 14,000 Hi 7% BF
(equivalent to HK$115,000). Following the repurchase, the (FHE A 115,000 # 7T) B[ 16
Company’s effective equity interest in Bendura Group Ji & M SRATRE AR IR o A1
has been increased insignificantly. The Group recognised NN = S sl Y
a decrease in non-controlling interests of HK$74,000 and a RERS U I o 7442 [ e I 2
decrease in equity attributable to owners of the Company of e HE 25 1570 74,000 #s 70 AR A
HK$41,000. FHEA 4G HE 43 380 41,000

WL .

(iv) In December 2022, Bendura Group repurchased 243 equity (iv) MZFZ__F+ZH > #Hisg
shares of Bendura Bank at cash consideration CHF217,000 DL 4 1045 217,000 Hi L 75
(equivalent to HK$1,776,000). Following the repurchase, BB CRR 5 i 1,776,000 #5 7T) 1§
the Company’s effective equity interest in Bendura Group ] 243 i & Hh SR AT HE 7 Ak o
increased by 0.13%. The Group recognised a decrease in % - AR N B A & Hh e [ 2 B
non-controlling interests of HK$1,105,000 and a decrease % FREHE 18 111 0.13% o 7S 4E 3] il
in equity attributable to owners of the Company of w8 I e e HE 25 387D 1,105,000
HK$671,000. W oT B AR o m AN A HE

1t 382 671,000 5 70 ©

The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Bendura Group on AR o AR A RERE AR 2 B )

the equity attributable to owners of the Company during the year is EYA S FI A N AL HE 25 2 5 2R A

summarised as below: A

2022
R
Q) (i) (iii (iv) Total
i) (ii) (iii) (iv) Bt
HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HK$000
THTT THTT TH#T THT T
Carrying amount of non- O R P I e 4 2
controlling interests acquired e T 24,561 28 74 1,105 25,768
Consideration paid for Wi B M A S A
acquisition of non- Z RIE
controlling interests (36,077) (42) (115) (1,776) (38,010
Excess of consideration paid TR AR 2 B 3 A
recognised within equity RIEZ 85 (11,516) (14) (41) (671) (12242)
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50. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING 50. B JE 45 I HE A% 2 A2 5 ()
INTERESTS (Continued)
(¢) Deemed disposal of equity interest in Bendura Group (0 HAR_F =AM EE LN
without change of control in 2023 Z JBeHE (Sif 40 42 o) i 52 )y )
In April 2023, Bendura Group issued 630 equity shares of Bendura W ZFZ=FMA > F i
Bank at consideration CHF549,000 (equivalent to HK$5,037,000). DL AR B 549,000 i + 35 BE (A & 4
Following the issue, the Company’s effective equity interest 5,037,000 #570) #47 630 % & HL AT
in Bendura Group decreased by 0.33%. The Group recognised WERR I o BEATAR - AR A & Hh AR ]
an increase in non-controlling interests of HK$3,047,000 and Z B BRI 0.33% o A4 [ R
a decrease in equity attributable to owners of the Company of IE F JEHE 25 38111 3,047,000 5 7T B A
HK$1,990,000. 2N TR N AL HE 45 2 1,990,000
I
The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Bendura Group on AEIN > E AR R A RERE A 2 AR )
the equity attributable to owners of the Company during the year is BYA S A N AL HE 25 2 5 2R A
summarised as below: AR
2023
R =4
HK$°000
T¥#n
Carrying amount of equity interests disposed e 6 I HE 2 MR 3,047)
Consideration received for disposal of equity 8 R O Y i 2 AR
interests 5,037
Excess of consideration received recognised A TR HRE T e R 2 L S R AR A 2 e A 2
within equity 1,990

(d)

Deemed disposal of interest in Bendura Group in 2022

In May 2022, Bendura Bank AG (“Bendura Bank™) issued 918
equity shares of Bendura Bank at cash consideration CHF687,000
(equivalent to HK$5,728,000). Following the issue, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group decreased by 0.43%.
The Group recognised a increase in non-controlling interest of
HK$3,949,000 and an increase in equity attributable to owners of
the Company of HK$1,779,000.

(@)

B 2 AR R A
Z 2

MREFEZ AR E M ERAT A
A RRAF] (& R 17 ) B & RUE
687,000 i = 7 B (R & i~ 5,728,000
W IT) #7918 I = Hh R A7 4 45 i o
BATAR » AN AR & Hh A 1 2 B
JEMEIL 2 0.43% o A £E FHERR FE 5 i
HE 25 3111 3,949,000 #5 70 [ A% 4 F] e
AN JEAGHE 5 38 411 1,779,000 5 TC
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50. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING 50.
INTERESTS (Continued)

(d) Deemed disposal of interest in Bendura Group in 2022
(Continued)
The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Bendura Group on
the equity attributable to owners of the Company during the year is

B I 2 B B 4 2 52 B (#0)

(@ #HAR_FZ_HEHEEREN
Z Mg (%)
AETA > T ML T R A HE R A 2 AR
A T AT N AL 2 2 5 B

summarised as below: A
2022
HK$°000
TUs I
Carrying amount of equity interests disposed .t B IR HE 2 TR T (3,949)
Consideration received for disposal of equity 1B RRE 0 i 2 AR
interests 5,728
Excess of consideration received recognised A TR A R 2 LSRR 2 e L 2
within equity 1,779

(e) Partial acquisition of equity interests in Bendura Bank

without change of the control — 2022

(1)  In June 2022, the Group acquired 550 equity shares of
Bendura Bank at cash consideration CHF437,000 (equivalent
to HK$3,582,000). Upon the completion, the Company’s
effective equity interest in Bendura Group increased by
0.3%. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HK$2,527,000 and a decrease in equity
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$1,055,000.

(i) In August 2022, the Group acquired 8,450 equity shares
of Bendura Bank at cash consideration CHF6,475,000
(equivalent to HK$52,360,000). Upon the completion,
the Company’s effective equity interest in Bendura Group
increased by 4.58%. The Group recognised a decrease
in non-controlling interests of HK$37,926,000 and a
decrease in equity attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$14,434,000.

()  WB A WO B BRAT 2 JIOHE (S JE 4
TS — % A

®

(i)

W FE RN HA s AL
DA 4 04 437,000 Hi - 75 BB
(FH 785 7% 3,582,000 5 JT) Ui B
550 ¢ b SR AT HE 7 B o S8 B
1% > A0S A B A 18 2 T
JE HE 18011 0.3% o 7 4 [8] i 58
IF 2 B A 25 Wk 2 2,527,000 5
JC R AR F AN A A 4
1,055,000 #5 T ©

T AR A S AL E D
Bl 4 40 18 6,475,000 Fi -1 35 BB
(FH & 7 52,360,000 W5 J6) Ui
8,450 i & M ER AT HE 4 it - o8
JRAR AN E R A 2
% FSe HE 188 111 4.58% o A% 55 [H] e
8 IE £ 1 HE 27 39 2 37,926,000
5 0 B AR B e N A RE
% 38 14,434,000 # TC



TR T TARAEW 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

288

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B A B R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{% —%F — =Z4F+ = =+—H L4

50. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING

50. HLJEPERERESR 2 A 5 (4

INTERESTS (Continued)
(e) Partial acquisition of equity interests in Bendura Bank (e)  HB43 WO & Hh 84T Z JBEHE (oif: e
without change of the control — 2022 (Continued) WIREAEE)) — —F A ()
The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Bendura Group on AEIN > E A R A RERE AR 2 AR )
the equity attributable to owners of the Company during the year is BHAS S A N AL HE 25 2 5 2R A
summarised as below: AR
2022
1) (i1) Total
@) (ii) AEt
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
THs T TUs I TUs I
Carrying amount of non- O 5 T T 2 I M 4 2
controlling interests acquired W T 2,527 37,926 40,453
Consideration paid for Wi B I P A 7 O S A 2
acquisition of non-controlling FRAE
interests (3,582) (52,360) (55,942)
Excess of consideration paid A RE N AR 2 B S AT
recognised within equity A 2 8 2= 3 (1,055) (14,434) (15,489)
(f) Deemed disposal of equity interests in Ernest Borel without O BAR T =AERERERZ

losing of control in 2023

In April 2023, Ernest Borel issued 12,810,512 shares as the
consideration shares for the acquisition as set out in note 49 to
the consolidated financial statements. Following the issue, the
Group’s effective equity interest in Ernest Borel Group decreased
from 62.69% to 60.47%. The Group recognised an increase in non-
controlling interests of HK$15,137,000 and an increase in equity
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$15,632,000.

JE HE (i € Jei ol A 5 B )

AN % A B S K B RE 49 T A
TR AR A s R AT
12,810,512 B B 03 1 5 Wi s =5 1A >
fRAB  BEAT 15 - A8 A T\ i AK O
£ | 2 B R I HE H 62.69% 8 D &
60.47% o A4 B e 58 FF 452 1 RE 25 434
15,137,000 # 7 & AN w® HEA A
JHE ik HE %5 3% 0 15,632,000 #E T -

2023
o St
HK$’000
T

Carrying amount of equity interests disposed B B B HE 2 W Tw (i (15,137)

Issuance of consideration shares as set out in Wi 5 49 Jr B AT A M A

note 49 30,769
Excess amount recognised within equity i e HE TR ffE R 2 R = 15,632
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50. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING 50. Sk e AR 2 22 ()
INTERESTS (Continued)
(g) Partial disposal of equity interests in Ernest Borel without (g MIEF =40 BRI Z
losing of control in 2023 JBe HE (S S0 J2 i) i 522 ) )

(i)  In October 2023, the Group has completed the dispsoal (i) WMZFZ=AFTH o AEE
of 1.94% equity interest of Ernest Borel Group to the £ 58 B A 14,000,000 5 75 7] 4%
Group’s substantial shareholder at HK$14,000,000. Upon ECIET Y g Wk @ §i%
the completion, the Croup’s effective equity interest in Z 1.94% JRHE o 5% - A
Ernest Borel Group decreased from 60.47% to 58.52%. The 45 ) A K U I B ) BT T A
Group recognised an increase in non-controlling interests HE B 60.47% Bk D & 58.52% °
of HK$3,699,000 and an increase in equity attributable to 7 42 8 e R IF P IR HE 25 5 om
owners of the Company of HK$10,301,000. 3,699,000 #5 7T M A</ B B A

N RE A HE 45 34 111110,301,000 75
G ©

(i)  In December 2023, the Group has completed the dispsoal (i) MEFZ=4FETTH o AREE
of 1.39% equity interest of Ernest Borel Group to the B 52 hE LA 10,000,000 5 I [H] 4%
Group’s substantial shareholder at HK$10,000,000. Upon AR B B RO B AU s AR
the completion, the Croup’s effective equity interest in [ 2 1.39% B HE o SEif% > A
Ernest Borel Group decreased from 58.52% to 57.14%. The A [ A A D B 4 T 2 B IR AR
Group recognised an increase in non-controlling interests HE H 58.52% Bk > & 57.14% °
of HK$2,756,000 and an increase in equity attributable to 7 42 8 e R IF ¥ IR HE 25 B4
owners of the Company of HK$7,244,000. 2,756,000 ¥ G S ARy F ¥R

N JRE £ HE 45 4% 1 7,244,000
I o
2023
e Y
@) (i) Total
@) (i) At
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T#T T#T T#T
Carrying amount of equity B B e 2 IR T (E
interests disposed (3,699) (2,756) (6,455)
Consideration received from B TR O 2 A
disposal of equity interests 14,000 10,000 24,000
Excess of consideration received it I HE A1 il 58 2 B Yt HX
recognised within equity fRAB 2 8 2= 3 10,301 7,244 17,545
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50. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING 50. B JE 45 I HE A% 2 A2 5 ()
INTERESTS (Continued)
(h) Partial disposal of equity interests in Ernest Borel without (h)y R TR K
losing of control in 2022 Jie HE (i 406 J2 ) B 522 ) )
In July 2022, the Group has completed the disposal of 1.39% equity MWZFZ_FELH > AR TR
interest of Ernest Borel to the Group’s substantial shareholder at A 12,000,000 7 I [i] A% 45 8 = 252
HK$12,000,000. Upon the completion, the Group’s effective equity TR B K I B 2 1.39% B HE o 58 B
interest in Ernest Borel Group decreased from 64.08% to 62.69%. 1% A 45 B s AR Ik 8% 4 ) 2 B I
The Group recognised an increase in non-controlling interests of HE H1 64.08% Wl 2D & 62.69% o A 4R
HK$5,021,000 and an increase in equity attributable to owners of I it 0 I 44 G HE 25 151 5,021,000 #s
the Company of HK$6,979,000. Details of the transaction are set out J6 S AR N m A ON R A HE £ 3
in the Company’s announcement dated 12 July 2022. 6,979,000 # IT © 3 5 wf 4K HUR A
AHMA-F - —HF LA T HZ
N

2022

HK$°000

TUs I
Carrying amount of equity interests disposed Ot B AR 2 MR T (5,021)

Consideration received from disposal of LB B JRORE 0 i 2 AR
equity interests 12,000

Excess of consideration received recognised
within equity

B 22 7]

i IR TR it R 2 AR 2

6,979
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51.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  51. %% B4 i & % M ok
OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: Pl I o 7 AR 2 B R R
Borrowings
excluding Due to
bank- Duetoa Due to related Due to Lease
overdrafts shareholder directors company  associates liabilities
(note 36)  (mote48.1)  (note48.1)  (mote48.1)  (note 48.1) (note 38)
i 857 B4 FERY  EATEE AR
BRSO BRORSE  EHEE AFRE AWsE HEARK
(WraE3e) (Wraias.)  (WHakdsan)  (Hrai4s.)  (Wakdsn)  (Wik3s)
HK$000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000
Ti#T Ti#T T T#x T#T Ti#T
As at 1 January 2023 REZBZ=H—A—H 906,225 12,000 81,515 148,000 10,000 48,886
Proceeds from new loans R EE 77,378 - - - - -
Repayment of borrowings R (322,010) - - - - -
Advance to the Group [EENCEE T = = 10,223 = 40,000 =
Repayment from the Group AL RN = (2,975) (23,860) = = =
Repayment of principal portion ERAEABRAETS
of the lease liabilities - - - - - (22,202)
Interest paid B AL 62,812 - (2,404) - = (2,494)
Total changes from financing UGB 4T e B A%
cash flow (307,444) (2,975) (16,041) - 40,000 (24,696)
Other changes: HAth525) -
Interest expenses F B % 62,823 575 4,103 7,400 847 2,494
Transfer to accruals R E = (575) (2,699) (7,400) (847) =
Additions wE - - - - - 768
Lease modification HE B - - - - - 22,532
Acquisition of subsidiaries W i B 22 7,088 - - - - 3N
Exchange adjustments [ 56,78 % (29,014) - (106) - = (1,330)
As at 31 December 2023 A 3
+ZHA=Z+—H 639,678 9,025 66,772 148,000 50,000 49,026
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  51. #&Bl& W &R MaE @
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
Borrowings
excluding Due to
bank- Dueto a Due to related Due to Lease
overdrafts  shareholder directors company associates liabilities
(note 36)  (note48.1)  (note48.1)  (note 48.1)  (note 48.1) (note 38)
fig |7 A4 FERY  EATEE AR
BXERS  REFUE  EHFUE  ARFUE ARF0E HEAE
(MFEE36)  (Wizkas.l) (Ff5E4s.1)  (Fiat4s.1)  (MGE4s.1)  (HEE3S)
HK$°000 HK$’°000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$°000 HKS$’000
Tk Tk T T Tk Tk
As at 1 January 2022 R-FZ_HE—H—H 1,118,330 12,000 73,515 88,000 10,000 77,228
Proceeds from new loans BRI 5 B E 419,857 - - - - -
Repayment of borrowings R & (600,279) - - - - -
Advance to the Group I} A< £ B BAGR - 8,000 60,000 36,900 =
Repayment from the Group AR - - - (36,900) =
Repayment of principal portion HREAERERSTS
of the lease liabilities - - - - (26,734)
Interest paid BT (55.975) - = = (1,518) (2,705)
Total changes from financing MERE R 2EHHHE
cash flow (236,397) - 8,000 60,000 (1,518) (29,439)
Other changes: M 2 ) -
Interest expenses FEB X 55,975 600 2,798 6,436 2,018 2,705
Transfer to accruals WS E R (600) (2,798) (6,436) (500) =
Lease modification HHE BN = = - = 1,242
Disposal of subsidiaries 5 W 8 W = = = = (1,426)
Exchange adjustments [ 56,78 (31,683) - = = - (1,424)
As at 31 December 2022 BREF4
+ZA=Z+—H 906,225 12,000 81,515 148,000 10,000 48,886
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52. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CREDIT CARD

52. SABSIEIR KA Bl R R

COMMITMENTS
52.1 Financial guarantees 52.1 BABHEAR
2023 2022
HKS$°000 HK$°000
T#T THETT
Banking facilities granted to an associate 1% T — i & Al Z
SRAT A 55,000 55,000

52.2

At 31 December 2023, the Group had provided a corporate
guarantee in respect of a banking facility of up to HK$55,000,000
(2022: HK$55,000,000) granted to an associate. The corporate
guarantee is ending on the expiry of the term of the revolving loan
facility.

In the opinion of the directors, it is unlikely that a claim will be made
against the Group and no cash outflow under the financial guarantee
contract. The directors have assessed and considered the financial
impact arising from the above guarantee is insignificant.

Credit card commitments

As 31 December 2023, the Group had credit card commitments
of approximately HK$92,977,000 (2022: approximately
HK$100,137,000) given to third parties. Credit card commitments
represents the undrawn amount of credit card limits. In the opinion
of the directors, those credit commitments are given with collateral
and financial impact arising from the undrawn amount of credit card
limits is insignificant.

52.2

MREFZ=F+A=1+—H>
A% 22 E Ak — W A R R
£ 55,000,000% o6 (=& ——
55,000,000 5 7C) 2 $RAT fil & AR HEA
RIYER o 20 w5 AR G IR 0
H B JiE T PR AR AL o

EHRERR > REMBRERS A
EEEH R RZEE LM HIFE
Bl o #F Bk a8 & Lt
PR L 2 ISR B AR o

fr R AR
MEFZ=4EF A= —H A
EEBEA T H =T7 25 1 RRYE

#192,977,000 70 (=& 4 1 4
100,137,000 % 76) 5 i & 5 48
ERREEZ AR SR - EFR
By o w5 (G BRYE & DU 2 T
H ARt > RELIZ A5 R B
JEE LE 2 BA TS R BT LA
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group has various financial assets and financial liabilities such
as trading portfolio investments, derivative financial assets, cash and
deposits, due from banks and clients, trade receivables, financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, other financial assets at amortised cost,
other assets, derivative financial liabilities, due to banks and clients, trade
payables, borrowings, financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss, due to a shareholder, due to directors, lease liabilities and other
liabilities, which arise directly from its operations. The main risks arising
from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, fair value risk and equity price risk.

It is not the Group’s policy to actively engage in the trading of financial
instruments for speculative purposes. Its treasury department works
under the policies approved by the directors and identifies ways to access
financial markets and monitors the Group’s financial risk exposures.
Regular reports are provided to the directors. The board has reviewed and
agreed policies periodically for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

S3.

St 5 I B 4 B H B % R

AR HARR A XEE 2 2 HE M E
Tzl & i - I 5 e 8508 - ik &
T - Bl RAF K MEMCERAT BB K
TH ~ REWCRAK A A A 42 T i
AZ & REE - 7N PEFRA A 2k 8
AR e AR B R 2 A <
HE - HAWEE - AT SR A 6 HAF
(B AR P B 1R < =l B - MR ERAT
Fe %5 5 AR IR ~ MEATIRAR ~ fE 6 - AP
FE A F B 1R < Sl B - R — A
FURIH ~ REATEE F0H - R A A
B o AL B TR A R B
AR B~ SRR B~ BB - B &
SRR~ S B e A A L B o

ASAE M 2 BORA I e F R NG B
il L o SRS IS AR 42 A et v 1
RATH > W HEEW R 5 ik R B
SR A [ O T S B R I R A 1
PR o 3 g A K e R
Al TR i 2 BOR > A B BOR B IR -
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53. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  53. A% el ba 45 B H B R B3R ()

AND POLICIES (Continued)
53.1 Summary of financial assets and financial liabilities by 530 b A K AR A AR JE R

category
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and - 4@3&_;&# o |
#1‘ H e R 2 A B2 [ <5 il T T

financial liabilities as recognised at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are

categorised as follows: B 1A R R TE (B> BT R
2023 2022
HK$"0(E) HK$" 000
R THs I
Financial assets & B o
Financial assets at fair value: AT EIIMRZ &M E
— Due from banks (note 18) — REWSCERAT SR (K 3k 18) 130,989 208,223
— Trading portfolio investments — XA HE 27,558 28,093
— Derivative financial assets — iR o 5,136 2,888
— Financial assets at fair value through — PR R A T A B
profit or loss 2 & & E 32,410 =
196,093 239,204
Financial assets at amortised cost: FEHEEE ARG B 2 4 Rl
— Cash and deposits — W& T ik 3,761,431 4,314,638
— Due from clients — & F IR 2,877,929 2,678,772
— Due from banks —JE M&ﬁ KA 2,091,979 1,721,417
— Trade receivables — FE IR K 442,941 336,640
— Other financial assets at amortised cost - T’L’ﬁﬁﬁlﬁzlgﬂ I
2 Hoth 4 Fil 5 1,878,805 1,571,725
— Other assets — HoAth & 225,157 174,780
11,278,242 10,797,972
Financial assets at fair value through other T’f/&qziﬁ%]\/ LAt 42 TS A
comprehensive income 2 4 R 285,627 296,080
11,759,962 11,333,256
Financial liabilities 4 B0
Financial liabilities at fair value: *’H/\qzﬁﬁ i 2 4 ﬁ'ﬂlﬁ 15 :
— Due to clients (note 33) — AT %E FIE (B 5E33) 131,180 208,435
— Derivative financial liabilities — AR 4 